
1

NOTICE OF MEETING
LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY, 19 FEBRUARY 2018 AT 10.00 AM

THE EXECUTIVE MEETING ROOM - THIRD FLOOR, THE GUILDHALL

Telephone enquiries to Lisa Gallacher, Democratic Services
Email: Democratic@Portsmouthcc.gov.uk

If any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting has access requirements, please 
notify the contact named above.

Committee Members Councillors Lee Mason (Chair), Hannah Hockaday (Vice Chair), Dave 
Ashmore, David Fuller, Colin Galloway, Paul Godier, Scott Payter- Harris, Ian Lyon, Leo 
Madden, Stephen Morgan, Gemma New, Steve Pitt, David Tompkins and Gerald Vernon-
Jackson.

The panel today consists of : Lee Mason, David Fuller and Gemma New
The reserve member is David Tompkins

(NB This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Licensing Sub Committee meetings are digitally recorded.

A G E N D A

1  Appointment of Chair 

2  Declarations of Members' Interests 

3  Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 - Licensing of 
Sex Establishments - Sexual Entertainment Venue - Application for the 
grant of a licence – Dunglen Ltd - Wiggle 1-3 Surrey Street Portsmouth 
PO1 1JT (Pages 5 - 202)

Purpose of report 
The purpose of this report is for the Committee to determine an application for 
the grant of a sexual entertainment venue licence in respect of the premises 
situated at 1-3 Surrey Street Portsmouth PO1 1JT and known by the name of 
Wiggle. The application has been submitted by Dunglen Ltd. 

Public Document Pack



2

RECOMMENDED 
a) that the Committee determine the application for the grant of a sexual 
entertainment venue licence in respect of the premises situated at 1-3 
Surrey Street, Portsmouth, PO1 1JT and known by the name of Wiggle; 
and 

b) in determining this application, the Committee shall have regard to 
paragraph 7.10a of its statement of licensing policy as set out below: 

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7.10 (relating to the 
numerical control on the number of sex establishments in a particular 
locality), the presumption to refuse shall not apply to: 
• The renewal, transfer or variation of an existing sex establishment 
licence; or 
• The grant of a new sex establishment licence, whereby an application 
was made during the transitional period 1 November 2011 until 31 
October 2012 to those premises that can demonstrate to the satisfaction 
of the Licensing Authority that during the 12 months prior to the 
commencement of the transitional period they have been regularly 
providing sexual entertainment that previously was only regulated under 
the Licensing Act 2003. 

4  Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 - Licensing of 
Sex Establishments - Sexual Entertainment Venue - Application for the 
grant of a licence – Wellhot Ltd - Elegance 1 Granada Road Southsea 
PO4 0RD (Pages 203 - 502)

Purpose of report 
The purpose of this report is for the Committee to determine an application for 
the grant of a sexual entertainment venue licence in respect of the premises 
situated at 1 Granada Road, Southsea, Portsmouth, PO4 0RD and known by 
the name of Elegance. The application has been submitted by Wellhot Ltd. 

RECOMMENDED 
a) that the Committee determine the application for the grant of a sexual 
entertainment venue licence in respect of the premises situated at 1 
Granada Road, Southsea, Portsmouth, PO4 0RD and known by the name 
of Elegance; and 

b) in determining this application, the Committee shall have regard to 
paragraph 7.10a of its statement of licensing policy as set out below: 

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7.10 (relating to the 
numerical control on the number of sex establishments in a particular 
locality), the presumption to refuse shall not apply to: 
• The renewal, transfer or variation of an existing sex establishment 
licence; or 



3

• The grant of a new sex establishment licence, whereby an application 
was made during the transitional period 1 November 2011 until 31 
October 2012 to those premises that can demonstrate to the satisfaction 
of the Licensing Authority that during the 12 months prior to the 
commencement of the transitional period they have been regularly 
providing sexual entertainment that previously was only regulated under 
the Licensing Act 2003.

 
Members of the public are now permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social 
media during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting or records 
those stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at 
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the 
meeting's venue.



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE – 19 FEBRUARY 2018 
 
REPORT BY: LICENSING MANAGER 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: MRS NICKII HUMPHREYS 
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
Licensing of Sex Establishments - Sexual Entertainment Venue 
Application for the grant of a licence – Dunglen Ltd - Wiggle 1-3 Surrey 
Street  Portsmouth  PO1 1JT 
 

1.0 Purpose of report 
 

The purpose of this report is for the Committee to determine an application for 
the grant of a sexual entertainment venue licence in respect of the premises 
situated at 1-3 Surrey Street Portsmouth PO1 1JT and known by the name of 
Wiggle.  The application has been submitted by Dunglen Ltd. 
 

2.0 Recommendation 
 

RECOMMENDED  
 

a) that the Committee determine the application for the grant of a 
sexual entertainment venue licence in respect of the premises 
situated at 1-3 Surrey Street, Portsmouth, PO1 1JT and known by 
the name of Wiggle; and 
 

b) in determining this application, the Committee shall have regard to 
paragraph 7.10a of its statement of licensing policy as set out 
below: 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7.10 (relating to the 
numerical control on the number of sex establishments in a 
particular locality), the presumption to refuse shall not apply to: 
 

• The renewal, transfer or variation of an existing sex 
establishment licence; or 

• The grant of a new sex establishment licence, whereby an 
application was made during the transitional period 1 
November 2011 until 31 October 2012 to those premises that 
can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Licensing 
Authority that during the 12 months prior to the 
commencement of the transitional period they have been 
regularly providing sexual entertainment that previously 
was only regulated under the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 11 Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.0 Adoption of Policy  
 
3.1 Portsmouth City Council ("PCC") originally adopted the provisions relating to 

Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982 (the “1982 Act”) in December 1982.  These provisions provided for 
the control of sex shops and sex cinemas together with the licensing 
requirements. 
 

3.2 On 22 March 2011 PCC decided to adopt Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act (as 
amended by section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (“the 2009 Act”)) 
so that it can regulate sexual entertainment venues (“SEVs”) in the City. 

 
3.3 On 21 September 2011 the Licensing Committee further considered its 

preferred approach in the formulation of its sex establishment licence policy 
and determined that the then Head of Legal, Licensing & Registrars be 
authorised to draft a policy for consideration and approval by the Licensing 
Committee, prior to public consultation, which was formulated upon the basis 
of identification of pre-determined localities and the imposition of numerical 
controls (Licensing Committee Minute No. 10/11 refers). 

 
3.4 Consultation took place on this policy between 1st March 2012 and 12th April 

2012 and the final policy was approved by the Licensing Committee on 12th 
October 2012.  (Licensing Committee minute 12/12 refers).  A copy of the 
current policy is attached as Appendix A to this report. 

 
3.5 A further meeting of the Licensing Committee was held on 23 October 2013 

when the adoption of standard conditions was agreed. (Licensing Committee 
minute 09/13 refers).  These conditions are set out from page 25 onwards of 
the current policy document. 
 

4.0 Background Information 
 
4.1 The application for the grant of a sexual entertainment venue licence in 

respect of the premises known as Wiggle, situated at 1-3 Surrey Street 
Portsmouth has been submitted by Dunglen Ltd. 
 
The company directors listed for Dunglen Ltd are Mr Jaspal Singh Ojla 
(Managing Director) and Mrs Rashwinder Kaur Ojla (Director).  Dunglen Ltd is 
also the holder of the premises licence for these premises issued in 
accordance with the Licensing Act and Mr John-Cortin Fernandez is the 
designated premises supervisor who is in day-to-day charge of managing the 
premises.   

 
4.2 The applicant has confirmed that neither of its directors or the manager of the 

premises are not prone to any grounds for refusal set out in paragraph 12 of 
Schedule 3 to the Act (see sections 9 and 10 of this report as regards these 
grounds). 

 
4.3 The company wishes to operate the premises under the name of "Wiggle" and 

wishes to trade between the hours of 21:00 and 05:00 hours every day.  
 

4.4 A copy of the application and associated documents is attached as Appendix 
B. 

Page 2 of 11 Page 6



 
4.5 The premises also benefit from a premises licence issued under the Licensing 

Act 2003 for the provision of the sale by retail by alcohol, regulated 
entertainment and late night refreshment.  This licence relates to both the 
ground floor operation as a pub named "The Surrey Arms" and the first floor 
which operates as a lap dancing venue named "Wiggle".  The application for 
the lap dancing venue relates to the first floor only. 
 

4.6 The premises licence issued in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 was 
first granted to Dunglen Ltd in 2005 and was previously licensed for the same 
purpose under the Licensing Act 1964.  A copy of the current premises licence 
is attached as Appendix C. 

 
5.0 Statutory Advertising Requirements 

 
5.1 Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act requires that the applicant give formal notice of an 

application for the grant of a sex establishment licence.  Satisfactory notice 
was given both to the Council and Chief Officer of Police.  Equally, appropriate 
public notice was displayed on the premises and given in the Portsmouth 
News. 

 
6.0 Consultation with the Police and Council  
 
6.1 Details of the application were notified to the Chief Officer of Police, Chief Fire 

Officer, Planning Services, Director of Children, Families and Learning, City 
Centre Manager and Ward Councillors should they have wished to submit any 
representations. 

 
7.0 Objections Received 
 
7.1 As mentioned in paragraph 5.0 above, the Act requires the applicant to give 

formal notice of his application for the grant of a sex establishment licence. 
 
7.2 Paragraph 15 of the Act states that any person who wishes to object to an 

application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence shall give notice in 
writing of his objection to the licensing authority, stating in general terms the 
grounds of the objection, not later than 28 days after the date of the 
application.  Any person may object to an application.  However, objections 
must be relevant to the grounds set out in the 1982 Act (See sections 6 and 7 
of the statement of licensing policy.  Objections based solely on moral 
grounds/values must not be considered. 

 
7.3 Objections have been received in respect of the application for the grant of a 

licence and are attached as Appendix D.  The 1982 Act protects the rights of 
objectors to remain anonymous. The Licensing Authority will not reveal names 
or addresses of any objector without their consent.  However, general 
information such as if the objector lives within a certain distance of the 
premises in question will be released in order to given the applicant an 
opportunity to rebut any concerns so far as geographical vicinity or locality is 
concerned. 

 
 

 
Page 3 of 11 Page 7



8.0 The Legislation – Summary and interpretation 
 
8.1 In considering this application, the Committee is asked to note various 

statutory definitions concerning the licensing of sex establishments which may 
assist their consideration of this application. 

 
8.2 The Committee is reminded that they are sitting in a quasi-judicial capacity 

and thus are obliged to consider the application in accordance with the rules of 
natural justice and have regard to the established procedure order that has 
been used by the Committee in considering applications.  The Committee 
must determine the application on merit.  No decision, opinions or factual 
findings must be based on “moral” grounds and all the facts must be 
considered before reaching a decision. 

 
8.3 A sex establishment is either a sex shop, a sex cinema or sexual 

entertainment venue.  In this case the application is for the grant of a sexual 
entertainment venue in respect of 1-3 Surrey Street. 
 

8.4 A sexual entertainment venue is legally defined as follows:- 
 
"Any premises at which relevant entertainment is provided before a live 
audience for the financial gain of the organiser or entertainer." Relevant 
entertainment is defined as:  
 
"Any live performance or live display of nudity which is of such a nature that, 
ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or 
principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of an audience 
(whether by verbal or other means)".  
 
In terms of considering what constitutes “relevant entertainment” each case 
shall be judged on its merits but the informal guidance produced by the Home 
Office suggests that the definition of relevant entertainment would apply to the 
following forms of entertainment as they are most commonly understood:  
 

• Lap dancing  
• Pole dancing  
• Table dancing  
• Strip shows  
• Peep shows  
• Live sex shows.  

 
However, the above list is not exhaustive and, as the understanding of the 
exact nature of these descriptions may vary, should merely be used as an 
indicator for certain types of entertainment as ultimately decisions to licence 
premises as sexual entertainment venues shall depend on the content of the 
entertainment provided and not the name it is given. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4 of 11 Page 8



8.5 The following are not sexual entertainment venues: 
 

• Sex cinemas and sex shops; 
 

• Premises which provide entertainment on an infrequent basis. 
These are defined as premises where:- 

 
a) No relevant entertainment has been provided on more than 

11 occasions within a 12 month period; 
 
 

b) No such occasion has begun within a period of one month 
beginning with the end of the previous occasions; and 
 

c) No such occasion has lasted longer than 24 hours. 
 

• Other premises or types of performances or displays exempted by an 
order of the Secretary of State; 

 
• Private dwellings with no public admittance. 

 
8.6 General guidance has been produced by the Home Office in relation to SEVs 

and this is attached as Appendix E. 
 
8.7 A licence can be granted and/or renewed for a period of 1 year or such shorter 

period as considered necessary.  Licences can be granted subject to terms, 
conditions or restrictions and can be cancelled, revoked and transferred. 
 

8.8 The Committee has a duty to have regard to the comments of the Chief Officer 
of Police.  

 
9.0 Statutory Refusal of Licences 
 
9.1 The Act sets out a number of statutory grounds where licences cannot be 

granted.  These grounds are: 
 

a) A licence cannot be granted to a person under 18, 
 

b) A licence cannot be granted to a person disqualified under the 
Act, 

 
c) A licence cannot be granted to a person not resident in the UK, 

 
d) A licence cannot be granted to a body corporate which is not 

incorporated in the UK, 
 

e) A licence cannot be granted to a person who has, within 12 
months immediately before the date of an application, been 
refused the grant of a licence for the same premises. 

 
The above provisions do not apply to this applicant. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5 of 11 Page 9



10.0 Discretionary Refusal of Licences 
 
10.1 The Act allows for licences to be refused using discretion, for which careful 

and balanced reasons should be given in the following manner: 
 

> That the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of having 
been convicted of an offence or for any other reason.   

 
> If the licence were to be granted, the business to which it relates would be 

managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the 
applicant who would be refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a 
licence if he made the application himself. 

 
> That the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time 

the application is made is equal to or exceeds the number which the 
Authority consider is appropriate for that locality 

 
> That the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate having 

regard 
  

i to the character of the relevant locality 
ii to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put or 
iii to the layout character or condition of the premises in respect to 

which the application is made 
 
11.0 Sex Establishment Policy Guidelines 

 
11.1 The current policy in relation to the consideration of applications in respect of 

discretionary grounds for refusal of licences are set out in section 7 of the sex 
establishment licensing policy adopted by the Licensing Committee.  Members 
may wish to refer to the following policy guidelines when determining this 
application: 

 
11.2 Unsuitability of applicant  

 
When considering the suitability or otherwise of an applicant, the Licensing 
Authority will have due regard to not only whether or not an applicant has been 
convicted of an offence but any other grounds which would call into question 
his/her suitability.  
 
Para 7.3 - The Licensing Authority will wish to be satisfied that:  
 

• The applicant is sufficiently trustworthy to run the sex establishment in 
accordance with the terms and conditions imposed on any licence 
granted, as well as the law;  

 
• The welfare of the performers at the licensed premises will be 

protected;  
 

• That the safety of the public attending the premises will be provided 
for; and  

 

Page 6 of 11 Page 10



• The needs and rights of persons/businesses living or working in the 
area, and indeed the area itself, are recognised and respected.  

 
Para 7.6 - In considering the overall suitability of an applicant to hold a licence, 
the following factors will be taken into account by the Licensing Authority: 
  

• Honesty and integrity of the applicant;  
• Relevant experience of running similar sex establishments;  
• Understanding of the terms and conditions relating to sex 

establishments;  
• Reliability to run the premises in accordance with the licence;  
• Track record of compliance in relation to other premises and/or 

licensing regimes;  
• Intention to manage the premises himself or to employ others in that 

role;  
• Existence or otherwise of a management structure to demonstrate 

compliance with operating conditions incorporating such matters as:  
 

 Managerial competence  
 Presence  
 Credible management structure, which will include 

employment of individuals who have sufficient experience in 
running such premises  

 Internal enforcement of rules (including training, monitoring, 
publication of rates for performers and customers)  

 Viable business plan  
 Demonstrate ability to act in the best interests of performers  
 Preparation and enforcement of a written welfare policy for   

performers  
 Procedures in place to ensure performers are adults and 

entitled to live and work in UK  
 Demonstrate measures to protect the public (such as 

transparent rate of charges and prevention of solicitation)  
 
In all cases, the Licensing Authority will give serious consideration to the 
observations of the Chief Officer of Police in relation to concerns expressed 
about the suitability of an individual applicant, body corporate or an individual 
officer of a company. 
 

11.3 Unsuitable manager of the business or other beneficiary 
 
Para 7.7 - The Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that the proposed 
premises and activities are not a device to facilitate illegal activity and that 
those persons in ultimate control of the sex establishment can demonstrate 
that they will operate the premises in such a manner so as to promote the 
objectives of the legislation. 
 
 
 

 

Page 7 of 11 Page 11



11.4 Number of sex establishments 
 
Para 7.8 - PCC recognises that the Act allows discretion by the Licensing 
Authority to impose a numerical control on the number of sex establishments 
in a particular locality (including the provision that nil may be an appropriate 
number) and that this control can apply to both the overall number of sex 
establishments and also the number of each kind. 
 

11.5 Para - 7.10 ………..  the Licensing Authority has reached the preliminary 
conclusion that there is no place within the City of Portsmouth of which it could 
be said that it was situated in a locality in which it would be appropriate to 
licence a sex establishment.  
 
Para - 7.10a  Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7.10 above 
(relating to the numerical control on the number of sex establishments in 
a particular locality), the presumption to refuse shall not apply to:  
 

• The renewal, transfer or variation of an existing sex 
establishment licence; or  

 
• The grant of a new sex establishment licence, whereby an 

application was made during the transitional period 1 November 
2011 until 31 October 2012 to those premises that can 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority that 
during the 12 months prior to the commencement of the 
transitional period they have been regularly providing sexual 
entertainment that previously was only regulated under the 
Licensing Act 2003.  

 
11.6 Character of the relevant locality 

 
Para 7.11 - Applicants should be aware that the Licensing Authority may 
refuse a licence on this ground regardless of what may or may not be an 
appropriate number of sex establishment licences within the locality.  
In considering whether it is appropriate to grant a licence having regard to the 
character of the relevant locality, the Licensing Authority will take account of 
the following factors, together with such other factors as may be considered 
relevant in the individual circumstances of the case:  
 

• The general character of the area (e.g. family residential, family 
leisure or educational area);  

• The impact of the premises on the character of the area;  
• The current use for night-time leisure activities including existing 

sufficient representation of sex-orientated uses;  
• Gender equality issues, including whether the proposed use, 

particularly at night, would deter women from using the area 
comfortably or at all);  

• Raising the fear of crime in the locality should further sex-orientated 
uses be authorised;  

• Effects upon regeneration and tourism in the area;  

Page 8 of 11 Page 12



• Level of genuine demand (including the risk that excess supply would 
drive down standards and lead to problems associated with 
compliance with conditions.  

 
11.7 Use of premises in the vicinity  
 

Para 7.12 - Applications for sex establishment licences may be refused where 
the Licensing Authority considers that the grant of a licence would be 
inappropriate having regard to the use of other premises in the vicinity. Whilst 
the term “vicinity” is not defined in the 1982 Act, the Licensing Authority 
considers that “vicinity” will be a smaller area than “locality” as referred to in 
paragraph 7.8 above.  
 
Para 7.13 - Applicants should be aware that the Licensing Authority may 
refuse a licence on this ground regardless of the character of a locality or 
indeed what may or may not be an appropriate number of sex establishment 
licences within it.  
 
Para 7.14 - When considering the type of uses which may be deemed to be 
inappropriate, due regard will be given to the suitability of the proposed 
location of the premises and will take into account relevant factors including, 
but not limited to, the presence of what may be regarded as sensitive issues 
(e.g. dwellings, places of worship, schools, youth clubs, community centres, 
women’s refuges, libraries, parks or swimming pools)  
 
Para 7.15  - Without prejudice to the above, applicants should also be aware 
that applications for sex establishment licences will normally be refused if they 
are proposed to be located in the vicinity of:  
 

• Places of worship;  
• Swimming pools;  
• Leisure centres;  
• Parks;  
• Youth centres;  
• Historic buildings;  
• Tourist attractions;  
• Educational premises;  
• Schools;  
• Play areas;  
• Nurseries;  
• Children’s centres;  

 
Or any other similar premises.  

 
11.8 Layout, character or condition  
 

Para 7.17 - When considering the issue of a licence in terms of its layout, 
character or condition, the Licensing Authority will give consideration to 
general factors such as:  
 

• Provision of proper access for disabled people;  

Page 9 of 11 Page 13



• Safe in terms of its structure and overall standards of maintenance for 
the building;  

• Sufficient provision for surveillance and overall supervision;  
• Standard of fit out of the premises;  

 
While the Licensing Authority will not refuse a licence merely because the 
premises do not have planning permission for use as a sex establishment, the 
authority will take into account the absence of planning permission to the 
extent relevant to the statutory grounds for renewal. 
 

11.9 Plans and photographs of the immediate area are attached for consideration 
as Appendix E. 

 
12.0 Consideration of the Application 
 
12.1 The Committee must consider the application having regard to the factors 

outlined in this report. 
 
12.2 If the Committee is mindful to grant the licence, the Committee should 

consider whether or not it is appropriate to impose conditions.  Conditions may 
be “standard” and/or contain special conditions to reflect on individual 
premises. 
 

12.3 A copy of the Council’s current standard conditions and those specific to 
sexual entertainment venues are attached as appendices to the sex 
establishment policy in Appendix A. 
 

12.4 If the Committee is mindful of refusing the application then valid, proportionate 
and relevant reasons must be given in writing and within 7 days to the 
applicant.  There are no grounds to statutorily refuse the application and 
therefore the Committee’s deliberations must be concentrated on the following 
discretionary options to refuse: 
 

• Are the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time 
the application is made equal to or exceed the number which the 
Committee consider is appropriate for that authority? 

 
• Is the grant of the licence inappropriate having regard to; 

 
the character of the relevant locality; 
the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or 
the layout, character or condition of the premises. 

 
13.0 Human Rights 

 
13.1 The Human Rights Act 1998 applies to this matter.  The Committee must act 

proportionately and consider the rights of all parties affected by the 
application. 

 
 
 
 

Page 10 of 11 Page 14



14.0 Appeals 
 

If the Committee refuse the grant of the licence, there is a right of appeal to 
the Magistrates’ Court. 
 

15.0 Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Copy of the current sex establishment licence policy; 
 
Appendix B – Copy of the application together with associated documents; 
 
Appendix C - Copy of the current premises licence issued under the Licensing    

Act 2003 
 
Appendix D - Copies of objections received;  
 
Appendix E - Home Office Guidance relating to SEVs; and 
 
Appendix F – Plan of the immediate area; 
 
Appendix G - Geographical Analysis of Representations; 
 
Appendix H - Photographs of premises. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

………………………………………….. 
               Licensing Manager  
                                                                      For Head of Service      

 

Page 11 of 11 Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Sex Establishment Licensing Policy 
October 2012 
 

 

Page 1 of 37 
 Page 17



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final 
  
1.0 Background to Consultation on Policy 

 
 
1.1 On 22 March 2011 Portsmouth City Council (“PCC”) decided to adopt Schedule 3 of the 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the 1982 Act”) (as amended by 
section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (“the 2009 Act”)) so that it can regulate 
sexual entertainment venues (“SEVs”)  in the City.   

 
1.2 For ease of reference, the full resolution of PCC is set out below (Council Minute No. 

31/11 refers):  
 

• Council note that at its meeting on 23 February 2011, the Licensing Committee 
considered the recent amendments to the 1982 Act and recommended that 
Council adopt the new licensing arrangements for SEVs; 

 
• Council resolve to adopt Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982, as amended by section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 
2009, and the following recommendations shall apply: 
 

• That the new statutory provisions shall apply to the Portsmouth UA area with 
effect from 1 November 2011; 

 
• That Council arranges for its Licensing Committee to discharge its statutory 

functions (including the setting of fees) under Schedule 3 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended; 
 

• That the Licensing Manager be given authority to arrange formal publication of the 
statutory notices in a local newspaper; 
 

• In such cases where no objections are made to the grant, renewal, transfer or 
variation of such licences, the City Solicitor be given delegated authority to 
approve such applications; 
 

• That the Licensing Manager prepares a draft policy together with standard 
conditions applicable to sexual entertainment venues for consideration and 
adoption by the Licensing Committee and that the Licensing Manager should 
include in that draft policy his/her consideration of whether applications should be 
refused if they are within three miles of any place of worship, swimming pool, 
leisure centre, park, youth centre, historic building, tourist attraction, educational 
premises, school, play area, nursery, children’s centre or similar premises. 

 
1.3 Those parts of Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act relating to sex shops and sex cinemas have 

previously been adopted by resolution of the Council on 27 October 1982 and continue to 
have effect. 

 
1.4 On 21 September 2011 the Licensing Committee further considered its preferred 

approach in the formulation of its draft sex establishment licence policy and determined 
that the then Head of Legal, Licensing & Registrars be authorised to draft a policy for 
consideration and approval by the Licensing Committee, prior to public consultation, 
which was formulated upon the basis of identification of pre-determined localities and the 
imposition of numerical controls (Licensing Committee Minute No. 10/11 refers). 

Page 2 of 37 
 

Page 18



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 
1.5 In preparing this policy, PCC recognised the important role that the regulatory agencies, 

licensed trade and local communities undertake and considers that their contribution of 
views was necessary in the formulation of this policy.  Therefore, prior to final approval 
and publication of the policy, PCC consulted widely on the draft proposals. 

 
1.6 Consultation on this policy took place with: 
 

• The Chief Officer of Police for Hampshire Constabulary; 
• Persons/bodies representative of existing operators of sex establishments in the 

licensing authority area; 
• Persons/bodies representative of those likely to be affected by or have an interest 

in the Policy which may include but is not limited to: 
• Regulatory bodies such as the Fire and Planning Authorities; 
• Community Safety and Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding; 
• Interested parties such as local residents associations, trade associations and 

interest groups. 
 
1.7 PCC had due regard to the views of those consulted on this policy and those responses 

were given appropriate weight when the policy was determined. 
 
1.8 Consultation took place on this policy between 1st March 2012 and 12th April 2012 and 

the final policy was approved by the Licensing Committee on 12th October 2012.  This 
policy will be subject to regular review and amendments may be made from time to time 
based upon any relevant government guidance, changes to legislation or local 
circumstances.   

 
1.9 Comments on this policy should be sent via email, post or fax to the following address: 
 
 The Licensing Manager 
 Licensing Service 
 Portsmouth City Council 
 Civic Offices 
 Guildhall Square 
 Portsmouth 
 PO1 2AL 
 
 Email:  licensing@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 
 Fax:  023 9283 4811 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 3 of 37 
 

Page 19

mailto:licensing@portsmouthcc.gov.uk


Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

2.0 Aim of the Policy 
 

 
2.1 The aim of this policy is to provide guidance for prospective applicants, persons who may 

wish to object to or support an application and members of the Council’s Licensing 
Committee when making a decision in respect of an application. 

 
2.2 Whilst each application will be considered on its individual merits, this policy is intended 

to give prospective applicants an early indication of whether their specific application is 
likely to be successful and the material facts that will be taken into consideration when 
determining an application.  This document also sets out the expectations of the 
Licensing Authority on the applicant when receiving an application.  

 
2.3 No policy will ever be considered absolute and there may be occasions where the 

Licensing Committee may depart from policy having regard to the unique characteristics 
of any one particular application. 

 
3.0 Introduction 

 
 

3.1 In this policy we refer to these categories of uses as “sex establishments” unless we say 
otherwise. 

 
3.2 The role of PCC when undertaking its statutory function as the Licensing Authority is to 

administer the licensing regime in accordance with the law and will not exercise its duties 
in accordance with any moral standing and will not take into account any unrelated or 
non-germane considerations that would call into question the validity or vires of any 
subsequent decision(s) made.  All decisions will be based on the facts of an individual 
case and having regard to any policy in force.  PCC recognises that Parliament has 
made it a lawful activity to operate a licensed sex establishment and such businesses are 
a legitimate part of the retail and leisure industries. 

 
3.3 This policy document relates to the administration of applications for licences for sex 

establishments.  Sex establishments will fall into one of the following categories: 
 

• Sex shops 
• Sex cinemas 
• Sexual entertainment venues 

 
4.0 Background Information 

 
 

4.1 The City of Portsmouth is situated in the ceremonial County of Hampshire which contains 
11 District Councils in total. It is at the heart of Britain’s southern coastline, with long 
established direct rail and road links to London, 
the Midlands and Wales and close to three international airports. 
 
Portsmouth is undergoing rapid change, growing in confidence and developing a 
renewed sense of itself. As the UK’s only island city, this waterfront city combines 
centuries of maritime history with an attractive contemporary lifestyle. 

Page 4 of 37 
 

Page 20



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 
A significant naval port for centuries, it is home to the world’s oldest dry dock, which is 
still in use today, and to world-famous historic ships, including Admiral Lord Nelson’s 
flagship, HMS Victory, HMS Warrior 1860 and King Henry VIII’s Mary Rose. Now new 
investment around the harbour has transformed the waterfront and attracts generations 
of new visitors to the city. 
 
In recent years the city has hosted major international events including the International 
Fleet Review and in 2005 the events to mark 200 years after the Battle of Trafalgar. 
Portsmouth is also fast becoming the home of ocean racing, hosting the Global 
Challenge yacht race in 2004/5 and in 2006 the city is the only UK port chosen to host 
the Volvo Ocean Race. 
 
The Spinnaker Tower at Gunwharf Quays opened in 2005 and is a new icon for the city 
and the south coast. At 170 metres high, it has already changed the skyline forever and 
provides an unparalleled view of Portsmouth and the 
surrounding area from its three observation decks. 
 
This dynamic waterfront city still has an important role as a major dockyard and home 
base for the Royal Navy. BAE Systems has brought shipbuilding back to the city and in 
2006 HMS Clyde was the first ship launched 
here for 40 years. The council-owned commercial port also continues to thrive and 
serves more destinations on the continent with freight and passenger traffic than any 
other UK port. 
 
Portsmouth has a population of 200,000 in an area of only 4,196 hectares, which makes 
it one of the most densely occupied cities in the country outside London. 
 
Portsmouth offers a vibrant mix of entertainment facilities for residents and visitors alike. 
This ranges from theatres, restaurants, cinemas and concert venues to club premises, 
bars, nightclubs and pubs in various locations 
around the city. The provision of such facilities contributes much to the growth of the local 
economy for Portsmouth and offers an important role for employment within the city. 
 

4.2 At the time of drafting this policy, one licensed sex shop is operating in the City but for 
many years there were two sex shops operating in different parts of the City. 

 
5.0 Definitions 

 
  
5.1 For the purposes of this policy, the following definitions will apply, provided that any 

subsequent amendments to the 1982 Act will also be taken into account: 
 
5.2 Sex Shop1 
 
 Any premises, vessel, vehicle or stall used for a business which consists to a significant 

degree of selling, hiring, exchanging, lending, displaying or demonstrating: 
 

a) Sex articles; or 
 

1  Paras 4(1) & (2), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 

Page 5 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 21



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 
b) Other things intended for use in connection with, or for the purpose of stimulating or 

encouraging: 
 

• Sexual activity; or 
• Acts of force or restraint which are associated with sexual activity. 

 
No premises shall be treated as a sex shop by reason only of their use for the exhibition 
of moving pictures by whatever means produced. 
 

5.3 Sex Article2 
 
 Anything made for use in connection with, or for the purpose of stimulating or 

encouraging: 
 

i. Sexual activity; or 
ii. Acts of force or restraint which are associated with sexual activity; and 

anything to which the sub-paragraph below applies. 
 
This sub-paragraph applies: 
 

a) To any article containing or embodying matter to be read or looked at or anything 
intended to be used, either alone or as one of a set, for the reproduction or 
manufacture of any such article; and 
 

b) To any recording of vision or sound, which 
 
i. Is concerned primarily with the portrayal of, or primarily deals with or relates 

to, or is intended to stimulate or encourage, sexual activity or acts of force 
or restraint which are associated with sexual activity; or 

ii. Is concerned primarily with the portrayal of, or primarily deals with or relates 
to, genital organs, or urinary or excretory functions. 
 

5.4 Sex Cinema3 
 
 Any premises, vehicle, vessel or stall used to a significant degree for the exhibition of 

moving pictures, by whatever means produced, which: 
 

a) Are concerned primarily with the portrayal of, or primarily deal with or relate to, or are 
intended to stimulate or encourage – 
 
i. Sexual activity; or 
ii. Acts of force or restraint which are associated with sexual activity; or 

 
b) Are concerned primarily with the portrayal of, or primarily deal with or relate to, genital 

organs or urinary or excretory functions, 
 
But does not include a dwelling-house to which the public is not admitted. 
 

2  Paras 4(3) & (4), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 
3  Paras 3(1) & (2), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 

Page 6 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 22



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 
No premises shall be treated as a sex cinema by reason only – 
 
a) If they may be used for an exhibition of film (within the meaning of paragraph 15 of 

Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003) by virtue of an authorisation (within the 
meaning of section 136 of that Act), of their use in accordance with that authorisation. 
 

b) By their use for an exhibition to which section 6 of the Act (certain non-commercial 
exhibitions) applies given by an exempted organisation within the meaning of section 
6(6) of the former Cinemas Act 1985. 

 
5.5 Sexual Entertainment Venue4 
 
 Any premises at which relevant entertainment is provided before a live audience for the 

financial gain of the organiser or entertainer. 
 
 Relevant entertainment is defined as: 
 
 Any live performance or live display of nudity which is of such a nature that, ignoring 

financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or principally for the 
purpose of sexually stimulating any member of an audience (whether by verbal or other 
means). 

 
 In terms of considering what constitutes “relevant entertainment” each case shall be 

judged on its merits but the informal guidance produced by the Home Office suggests 
that the definition of relevant entertainment would apply to the following forms of 
entertainment as they are most commonly understood: 

 
• Lap dancing 
• Pole dancing 
• Table dancing 
• Strip shows 
• Peep shows 
• Live sex shows. 

 
However, the above list is not exhaustive and, as the understanding of the exact nature 
of these descriptions may vary, should merely be used as an indicator for certain types of 
entertainment as ultimately decisions to licence premises as sexual entertainment 
venues shall depend on the content of the entertainment provided and not the name it is 
given. 
 

5.6 The following are not sexual entertainment venues for the purposes of this policy: 
 

• Sex cinemas and sex shops; 
 

• Premises which provide entertainment on an infrequent basis.  These are defined 
as premises where:- 
 
a) No relevant entertainment has been provided on more than 11 occasions 

within a 12 month period; 

4  Paras 2A(1) &(2), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act as amended by section 27 of the 2009 Act 

Page 7 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 23



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

b) No such occasion has begun within a period of one month beginning with the 
end of the previous occasions; and 

c) No such occasion has lasted longer than 24 hours. 
 

• Other premises or types of performances or displays exempted by an order of the 
Secretary of State; 
 

• Private dwellings with no public admittance. 
  

6.0 Mandatory Grounds for Refusal of an Application5 
 

 
6.1 The 1982 Act sets out 5 mandatory grounds for refusing a sex establishment licence 

which are set out below: 
 
 That the applicant: 
 

a) Is under the age of 18; 
 

b) Is for the time being disqualified from holding a sex establishment licence; 
 

c) Is not a body corporate, and is not resident or has not been resident in an EEA state 
for six months preceding the date of the application; 

 
d) Is a body corporate which is not incorporated in an EEA state; 

 
e) Has, in the period of 12 months preceding the date of the application, been refused 

the grant or renewal of a licence for the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of 
which the application is made, unless the refusal has been reversed on appeal. 
 

7.0 Discretionary Grounds for Refusal of an Application6 
 

 
7.1 The 1982 Act also sets out 4 discretionary grounds for refusing a sex establishment 

licence.  The grounds are set out below and further expanded upon within this section of 
the policy: 

 
a) The applicant is unsuitable to hold a licence by reason of having been convicted of an 

offence or for any other reason; 
 

b) If the licence were to be granted, the business to which it relates would be managed 
by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the applicant, who would be 
refused the grant of such a licence if he made the application himself; 

 
c) The number of sex establishments, or sex establishments of a particular kind, in the 

relevant locality at the time the application is made is equal to or exceeds the number 
which the authority consider is appropriate for that locality; 

 

5  Para 12(1), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 
6  Para 12(3), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 

Page 8 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 24



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 
d) The grant would be inappropriate, having regard – 

 
i. To the character of the relevant locality; 
ii. To the use to which ay premises in the vicinity are put; 
iii. To the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall 

in respect of which the application is made. 
 
7.2 a)  Unsuitability of applicant 
 
 When considering the suitability or otherwise of an applicant, the Licensing Authority will 

have due regard to not only whether or not an applicant has been convicted of an offence 
but any other grounds which would call into question his/her suitability.  

 
7.3 The Licensing Authority will wish to be satisfied that: 
 

• The applicant is sufficiently trustworthy to run the sex establishment in accordance 
with the terms and conditions imposed on any licence granted, as well as the law; 
 

• The welfare of the performers at the licensed premises will be protected; 
 

• That the safety of the public attending the premises will be provided for; and 
 

• The needs and rights of persons/businesses living or working in the area, and 
indeed the area itself, are recognised and respected. 

 
7.4 In those cases where an applicant has been convicted of an offence, the Licensing 

Authority will consider, on individual merit, the nature and seriousness of the offence and 
the time which has elapsed since the date of conviction.   

 
7.5 Applicants should be aware that certain offences will give rise to particular concerns and 

in particular will include: 
 

• Sexual offences; 
• Offences involving prostitution, drugs, dishonesty or violence; and 
• Licensing offences. 

 
7.6 In considering the overall suitability of an applicant to hold a licence, the following factors 

will be taken into account by the Licensing Authority: 
 

• Honesty and integrity of the applicant; 
• Relevant experience of running similar sex establishments; 
• Understanding of the terms and conditions relating to sex establishments; 
• Reliability to run the premises in accordance with the licence; 
• Track record of compliance in relation to other premises and/or licensing regimes; 
• Intention to manage the premises himself or to employ others in that role; 
• Existence or otherwise of a management structure to demonstrate compliance 

with operating conditions incorporating such matters as: 
 
 Managerial competence 
 Presence 

Page 9 of 37 
 

Page 25



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 Credible management structure, which will include employment of 
individuals who have sufficient experience in running such premises 

 Internal enforcement of rules (including training, monitoring, publication of 
rates for performers and customers) 

 Viable business plan 
 Demonstrate ability to act in the best interests of performers 
 Preparation and enforcement of a written welfare policy for performers 
 Procedures in place to ensure performers are adults and entitled to live and 

work in UK 
 Demonstrate measures to protect the public (such as transparent rate of 

charges and prevention of solicitation) 
 
In all cases, the Licensing Authority will give serious consideration to the observations of 
the Chief Officer of Police in relation to concerns expressed about the suitability of an 
individual applicant, body corporate or an individual officer of a company. 
 

7.7 b)  Unsuitable manager of the business or other beneficiary 
 
 The Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that the proposed premises and activities 

are not a device to facilitate illegal activity and that those persons in ultimate control of 
the sex establishment can demonstrate that they will operate the premises in such a 
manner so as to promote the objectives of the legislation. 

 
7.8 c)  Number of sex establishments  
 
 PCC recognises that the Act allows discretion by the Licensing Authority to impose a 

numerical control on the number of sex establishments in a particular locality (including 
the provision that nil may be an appropriate number) and that this control can apply to 
both the overall number of sex establishments and also the number of each kind.   

 
7.9 In formulating this policy in relation to the number of sex establishments, the Licensing 

Authority has taken the following factors into account: 
 

• Portsmouth’s Local Strategic Partnership vision for the city where, in particular, we 
want to: 
 

- Develop Portsmouth as a city of innovation and enterprise, with a strong 
economy and employment opportunities for all; 
 

- Make Portsmouth a city where everyone feels and is safe; 
 

- Make Portsmouth an attractive and sustainable city; 
 

- Deliver affordable, quality housing where people want to live; 
 

- Encourage and enable healthy choices for all and provide appropriate 
access to health care and support; 

 
- Enhance Portsmouth’s reputation as a city of culture, energy and passion, 

offering access for all to arts, sports and leisure; 
 

Page 10 of 37 
 

Page 26



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

- Celebrate the many diverse and different communities within Portsmouth 
and work together to create an inclusive city for everyone; 

 
- Protect and support our more vulnerable residents by shaping public 

services to meet their needs. 
 

• Location and residential density of housing in Portsmouth as shown on Map 
SELP1 (Page 19); 
 

• Location of facilities for children including schools, playgroups and children’s 
centres throughout the city as shown on Map SELP2 (Page 20); 
 

• Location of places of worship throughout the city as shown on Map SELP3 (Page 
21); 
 

• Location of premises attracting vulnerable people such as GP surgeries, health 
centres, hospitals, dentists as shown on Map SELP4 (Page 22); 
 

• Areas and premises attracting families such as leisure and sport facilities, play 
spaces, parks and open spaces including tourist attractions as shown on Map 
SELP5 (Page 23); 
 

• Location of areas associated with commerce, retail and commercial use as shown 
on Map SELP6 (Page 24); 
 

• Promotion of gender equality, particularly in relation to reducing the fear of crime 
among women and community attitudes to sex establishments; 
 

• The Portsmouth Regeneration Strategy; 
 

• Community Safety Strategy; 
 

• The Portsmouth Plan (Portsmouth’s Core Strategy); 
 

• Southsea Seafront Strategy. 
 

7.10 Given the various factors set out above, the Licensing Authority has reached the 
preliminary conclusion that there is no place within the City of Portsmouth of 
which it could be said that it was situated in a locality in which it would be 
appropriate to licence a sex establishment. 
 

7.10a Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7.10 above (relating to the numerical 
control on the number of sex establishments in a particular locality), the presumption to 
refuse shall not apply to: 

 
• The renewal, transfer or variation of an existing sex establishment licence; or  

 
• The grant of a new sex establishment licence, whereby an application was made 

during the transitional period 1 November 2011 until 31 October 2012 to those 
premises that can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority that 

Page 11 of 37 
 

Page 27



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

during the 12 months prior to the commencement of the transitional period they 
have been regularly providing sexual entertainment that previously was only 
regulated under the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
7.11 d)  Character of the relevant locality 
 
 Applicants should be aware that the Licensing Authority may refuse a licence on this 

ground regardless of what may or may not be an appropriate number of sex 
establishment licences within the locality. 

 
 In considering whether it is appropriate to grant a licence having regard to the character 

of the relevant locality, the Licensing Authority will take account of the following factors, 
together with such other factors as may be considered relevant in the individual 
circumstances of the case: 

 
• The general character of the area (e.g. family residential, family leisure or 

educational area); 
• The impact of the premises on the character of the area; 
• The current use for night-time leisure activities including existing sufficient 

representation of sex-orientated uses; 
• Gender equality issues, including whether the proposed use, particularly at night, 

would deter women from using the area comfortably or at all); 
• Raising the fear of crime in the locality should further sex-orientated uses be 

authorised; 
• Effects upon regeneration and tourism in the area; 
• Level of genuine demand (including the risk that excess supply would drive down 

standards and lead to problems associated with compliance with conditions. 
 
7.12 e)  Use of premises in the vicinity 
 
 Applications for sex establishment licences may be refused where the Licensing 

Authority considers that the grant of a licence would be inappropriate having regard to 
the use of other premises in the vicinity.  Whilst the term “vicinity” is not defined in the 
1982 Act, the Licensing Authority considers that “vicinity” will be a smaller area than 
“locality” as referred to in paragraph 7.8 above. 

 
7.13 Applicants should be aware that the Licensing Authority may refuse a licence on this 

ground regardless of the character of a locality or indeed what may or may not be an 
appropriate number of sex establishment licences within it. 

 
7.14 When considering the type of uses which may be deemed to be inappropriate,  

due regard will be given to the suitability of the proposed location of the premises and will 
take into account relevant factors including, but not limited to, the presence of what may 
be regarded as sensitive issues (e.g. dwellings, places of worship, schools, youth clubs, 
community centres, women’s refuges, libraries, parks or swimming pools) 
 
 
 

 

Page 12 of 37 
 

Page 28



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

7.15 Without prejudice to the above, applicants should also be aware that applications for sex 
establishment licences will normally be refused if they are proposed to be located in the 
vicinity of: 

 
• Places of worship; 
• Swimming pools; 
• Leisure centres; 
• Parks; 
• Youth centres; 
• Historic buildings; 
• Tourist attractions; 
• Educational premises; 
• Schools; 
• Play areas; 
• Nurseries; 
• Children’s centres; 

 
Or any other similar premises. 
 

7.16 Applicants are advised to consider the impact of their proposed application prior to 
considering whether or not they wish to operate a sex establishment business in an area 
and state in their application how they believe any potential impacts could be mitigated.  
The Licensing Authority reserves the right to take into account other issues or 
considerations that may arise at the application and consultation stage as well as during 
the licence period.  

 
7.17 Layout, character or condition 
 
 When considering the issue of a licence in terms of its layout, character or condition, the 

Licensing Authority will give consideration to general factors such as: 
 

• Provision of proper access for disabled people; 
• Safe in terms of its structure and overall standards of maintenance for the building; 
• Sufficient provision for surveillance and overall supervision; 
• Standard of fit out of the premises; 

 
 While the Licensing Authority will not refuse a licence merely because the premises do 

not have planning permission for use as a sex establishment, the authority will take into 
account the absence of planning permission to the extent relevant to the statutory 
grounds for renewal. 

  
8.0 Application Process 

 
 

8.1 Application forms are available from the Licensing Service and are also available for 
download on the Council’s website at: 

 
 http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/11752.html 
 

Page 13 of 37 
 

Page 29

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/11752.html


Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

8.2 Upon receipt of an application for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a licence, the 
Licensing Authority will consult with the following bodies/individuals and will have regard 
to any observations received as a result: 

 
• Hampshire Constabulary 
• Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service 
• Head of Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding 
• Head of Planning Services 
• Ward Councillors 

 
8.3 An application for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a licence must be formally 

advertised in two specific ways: 
 

a) Within 7 days after the date of application, the applicant must arrange for a public 
notice to be published in a local newspaper (The News – www.portsmouth.co.uk)  
 

b) Where the application is in respect of premises, the applicant must also display a 
notice of the application on or near the premises in question.  The notice must be 
placed in such a position so that it can be conveniently  
read by the public.  The notice must be displayed for 21 days starting with the date of 
the application. 
 

8.4 The notice must include information relating to: 
 

• Details of the premises to which the application relates; 
• Details of the applicant;  
• Type of sex establishment licence being applied for; 
• Whether the application is for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a licence; 
• Details of how persons may object; and 
• Closing date for representations. 

 
Templates for public notices are available from the Licensing Service or are available to 
download from PCC’s website at http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/11752.html. 
 

8.5 The applicant must also send a copy of the application to the Chief Officer of Police no 
later than 7 days after the date of application, unless the application is submitted 
electronically and in which case the Licensing Authority will serve notice on the Police. 

 
8.6 The address details for the Police are as follows: 
 

The Chief Officer of Police 
 Hampshire Constabulary 

Portsmouth Licensing and Violent Reduction Unit  
Community Safety Unit  
Civic Offices  
Guildhall Square  
Portsmouth  
PO1 2BY 

 
Tel: 0845 045 4545  
Direct Dial: 023 9268 8754  
Fax: 023 9268 8513  
Email: portsmouth.licensing@hampshire.pnn.police.uk 

Page 14 of 37 
 

Page 30

http://www.portsmouth.co.uk/
http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/11752.html
mailto:portsmouth.licensing@hampshire.pnn.police.uk


Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

9.0 Consideration of an Application 
 

 
9.1 The Licensing Authority will have regard to all information provided by an applicant in 

support of an application. 
 
9.2 Any person wishing to object to an application must give notice of their objection in 

writing, stating the general terms of the objection no later than 28 days after the date of 
the application.  Any person may object to an application.  However objections must be 
relevant to the grounds send out in paragraph 12, Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act.  Those 
grounds are set out in sections 6 and 7 of this policy.  Objections based solely on moral 
grounds/values will not be considered. 

 
9.3 The Licensing Authority will notify the applicant, in writing, of the general terms of any 

objection received within the 28 day period allowed for objections. 
 
9.4 The 1982 Act protects the rights of objectors to remain anonymous.  The Licensing 

Authority will not reveal names or addresses of any objector to the applicant without their 
consent.  However, general information such as the objector lives within a certain 
distance of the premises in question will be released in order to give the applicant an 
opportunity to rebut any concerns so far as geographical vicinity or locality is concerned. 

 
10.0 Determining an Application 

 
 
10.1 All applications where objections have been received or where consultees have raised 

concerns will be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee for determination at a hearing 
and all parties will be given the opportunity to put forward their case at the hearing. 

 
10.2 The Licensing Authority will consider each application on its individual merits.  Reasons 

for grant or refusal may vary depending upon whether the application relates to a sex 
shop, sex cinema or sexual entertainment venue. 

 
10.3 The Licensing Sub-Committee will retire at the end of the hearing to make its decision on 

the facts of the case in private. 
 
10.4 In most cases the Licensing Sub-Committee will deliver its decision and reasons at the 

end of the hearing.  However, where it is considered proportionate and necessary to do 
so, the Licensing Sub-Committee may delay making a decision so as to allow for 
consideration of the respective cases put before it and so as to permit further time for a 
reasoned decision to be formulated.  Any decision and reasons will be communicated, in 
writing, to the applicant and all other parties within 10 working days of the hearing. 

 
11.0 Hearings 

 
 
11.1 Hearings will be arranged as soon as reasonably practicable following the end of the 

consultation period.  Applicants and other interested parties will be given at least 10 days 
notice of the proposed date for hearing and more where possible to do so. 

 

Page 15 of 37 
 

Page 31



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

11.2 All applicants will be given the opportunity to appear before and be heard by the 
Licensing Sub-Committee responsible for determining the application.  Applicants will be 
entitled to be represented by a legal advisor or similar agent Witnesses may be called 
with permission from the Chair of the Sub-Committee. 

 
11.3 Persons objecting to applications will also be given the opportunity to appear at the 

hearing to discuss their objections.  
 
11.4 The hearing will take place in public except where the public interest requires otherwise, 

although members of the public being disruptive will be required to leave the meeting. 
 
11.5 All parties will be allowed an equal maximum period of time for the presentation of their 

case but it is expected that all parties keep points pertinent and the discussion moving in 
the interests of cost and efficiency.  

 
12.0 Appeals 

 
 
12.1 A right of appeal exists for applicants in respect of the refusal of applications for the 

grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a sex establishment licence.  A right of appeal is 
also available in relation to the imposition of conditions and revocation of licences. 

 
12.2 However, appeals against mandatory refusals (see section 6 of this policy document) can 

only be lodged on the basis that the mandatory ground does not apply to the appellant.   
 
12.3 Additionally, no appeal provisions exist in respect of refusals to grant or renew licences 

on the discretionary grounds of: 
 

• The number of sex establishments in the relevant locality; 
• The character of the relevant locality; 
• The use to which ay premises in the vicinity are put; 
• The layout, character or condition of the premises. 

 
12.4 The time limit for lodging an appeal to the Magistrates’ Court is 21 days beginning with 

the date of notification of the decision.  The commencement time for the purposes of this 
section will be from when the applicant receives formal written notification of the decision 
and reasons. 

 
12.5 The 1982 Act also provides for further appeal to the Crown Court. 
 
13.0 Duration of Licences 

 
 
13.1 Licences for sex establishments may be granted for a maximum period of one year but 

the Licensing Authority may grant a shorter period of time if it thinks fit. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 16 of 37 
 

Page 32



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

14.0 Licence Conditions 
 

 
14.1 The Licensing Authority will impose standard conditions that are relevant to all licensed 

sex establishments.  These may include, but are not limited to: 
 

• Opening and closing hours 
• Displays and advertisements on or in sex establishments 
• Visibility of the interior of a sex establishment to passers-by 
• Any change of use from one kind of sex establishment to another. 

 
The Licensing Authority has made Regulations as to standard conditions which are set 
out at Appendix A to this policy.  Such conditions will be imposed unless they are varied 
in an individual case.  Any applicant for such variation must set out the variation 
requested in the application, together with reasons why the variation is sought and how it 
intends to achieve the objectives of the standard conditions if a variation is permitted. 

 
14.2 The Licensing Authority may also specify other conditions specific to individual premises 

dependant on the type of activity undertaken and the type of premises.  These may 
include, but are not limited to: 

 
• Specifying minimum distances between the audience and performers 
• Control of access to changing room facilities 
• Control of private viewings 

  
Additional conditions may be imposed where appropriate and necessary. 
 

15.0 Waiving of the need for a Sex Establishment Licence7 
 

 
15.1 In certain circumstances the Licensing Authority may waive the need for a sex 

establishment licence.  However, applicants should be aware that it is considered that the 
waiver system is not a substitute for the licensing regime but may be useful in certain 
borderline cases or where events are minor or temporary.  Equally it may be an 
appropriate alternative solution where clarity or regularisation is considered necessary.  

 
15.2 An application for a waiver can either be made as part of an application for a licence or 

on a separate basis.  The Licensing Authority may grant a waiver if it considers that to 
require a licence would be unreasonable or inappropriate. 

 
15.3 In those cases where a waiver is granted the Licensing Authority will confirm, in writing, 

to the applicant that such a waiver has been approved.  The waiver can last for any such 
period that the Licensing Authority think fit but equally it can be terminated by the 
Authority at any time subject to a notice period of 28 days. 

 
15.4 The Licensing Authority will consider such applications on an individual basis.  However, 

the Licensing Authority considers that in normal cases, licences should be sought for 
licensable activities and waivers will be granted only in exceptional cases.   

7  Para 7, Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act. 

Page 17 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 33



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

16.0 Exchange of Information 
 

 
16.1 The Licensing Authority will process personal information in accordance with the Data 

Protection Act 1998.  Personal details will be held on a database and where the law 
allows, may be shared with other departments within the Council to update details they 
hold about you.  The Council may also be required to disclose personal information to 
third parties (such as Police, Department for Work and Pensions or Audit Commission for 
the National Fraud Initiative) for the purposes of preventing or detecting crime or 
apprehending or prosecuting offenders.  

 
16.2 The Authority may from time to time exercise its powers under section 115 of the Crime 

and Disorder Act 1988 to exchange data and information with the Police and other 
partners to fulfill its statutory objective of reducing crime in the area. 

 
17.0 Enforcement 

 
 
17.1 There are serious penalties for breaching the law relating to the control and supervision 

of sex establishment premises.  Historically, PCC has taken robust action to prosecute 
individuals and businesses operating outside of the law and will maintain this stance in 
order to ensure protection of the public and to enforce this policy. 

 
As a consequence, the Licensing Authority will establish protocols with other statutory 
agencies on enforcement issues.  This is to enable the more effective deployment of staff 
who are commonly engaged in enforcing licensing law and the inspection of licensed 
premises.  The aims of the protocol are to target agreed problem and high risk premises 
which require greater attention while providing a lighter touch in respect of low risk 
premises which are well run. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18 of 37 
 

Page 34



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19 of 37 
 

Page 35



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20 of 37 
 

Page 36



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21 of 37 
 

Page 37



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP4 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22 of 37 
 

Page 38



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23 of 37 
 

Page 39



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 
MAP SELP6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24 of 37 
 

Page 40



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Appendix A 
 

Standard Conditions applicable to Sex Establishments 
consisting of Sex Shops, Sex Cinemas or Sexual 
Entertainment Venues 

 
 
Portsmouth City Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by paragraph 13 of Schedule 3 to 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 hereby make the following 
Regulations8 prescribing standard conditions applicable to licences for sex establishments. 

 
Interpretation 

 
In these Regulations the following expressions that is to say “Sex Establishment”, “Sex Shop”, 
“Sex Cinema”, “Sexual Entertainment Venue”, “Sex Article”, and “Vessel” shall have the 
meanings respectively assigned by Schedule 3 of the Act (and where amended by Section 27 of 
the Policing and Crime Act 2009). 
  
In these Regulations the following expressions shall have the meanings hereby respectively 
assigned to them namely: 

 
“the Act”   means the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as 

amended. 
 

“the council”  means Portsmouth City Council and/or any authorised officer acting on 
behalf of the Council. 
 

“the premises” means any premises, vehicle, vessel or stall licensed under the Act. 
 

“licence holder” means a person who is the holder of a sex establishment licence.  
 

“permitted hours” means the hours during which the licensed premises are permitted to be 
open to the public. 

 
“licence”   means a licence granted pursuant to Schedule 3 of the Act. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

8 Adopted by Portsmouth City Council, as Licensing Authority, following a resolution of the Licensing 
Committee on 23 October 2013. 

Page 25 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 41



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Part One – General Conditions 
 

 
Management Of Premises  

 
1. The Licence holder, or some responsible person nominated by him and approved in 

writing by the council for the purpose of managing the sex establishment (“the manager”), 
shall have personal responsibility for and be present on the premises at all times when the 
premises are open to the public. 
 

2. In accordance with section 14 of the 1982 Act, the Licence holder shall display, on the 
licensed premises in a conspicuous position, a copy of the licence and/or any special 
conditions attached. 

 
3. The name of the person responsible for the management of the sex establishment, 

whether the licence holder or manager, shall be displayed in a conspicuous position within 
the premises throughout the period during which he is responsible for the conduct of the 
premises. 

 
4. The licence holder shall retain control over all parts of the licensed premises as set out on 

the approved premises plan and shall not let or part with possession of any part. 
 

5. No person under the age of 18 shall be admitted to the premises and rigorous identity 
checks SHALL be made on any person who appears to be under the age of 18. 

 
a) To ensure compliance of 5 above, the licence holder shall exhibit appropriate 

warning notices as to the minimum age requirements on both the exterior 
(frontage) door and also conspicuously on the appropriate inner lobby door. 
 

6. No person under the age of 18 shall be employed to work at the premises in any capacity 
or shall be allowed to work at the premises on a self-employed basis. 

 
7. Where the Licence holder is a body corporate or an unincorporated body, any change of 

director, or other person responsible for the management of the body is to be notified in 
writing to the council within 14 days of any such change.  In addition, the Licence holder 
shall provide any details as the council may require in respect of any new director, officer 
or manager upon request in writing from the council. 
 

Conduct of the Premises 
 

8. No change from one type of sex establishment to another shall be made without the 
written consent of the council. 
 

9. No part of the premises shall be used by prostitutes for the purpose of solicitation or 
otherwise exercising their calling. 
 

Premises Interior and Layout 
 

10. The premises layout shall comply with deposited plans unless otherwise approved in 
writing by the council. 

 

Page 26 of 37 
 

Page 42



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

11. No alterations, additions or modifications to either the internal or external parts of the 
licensed premises shall be made without the prior written consent of the council. 

 
12. External doors shall be closed at all times other than when persons are entering or leaving 

the premises.  The external doors shall be fitted with a device to provide for their automatic 
closure and such devices shall be maintained in good working order. 

 
13. The premises shall be fitted with an inner entrance lobby door or partition screen so that 

no part of the interior of the premises or any of the contents of the premises shall be visible 
when persons are entering or leaving the premises. 

 
14. No access shall be permitted through the premises to any other premises adjoining or 

adjacent except in the case of emergency. 
 

15. No part of the interior of the licensed premises shall be visible whatsoever to persons 
outside the premises. 

 
16. No external advertising, words, signs, displays or illuminations shall be permitted unless 

previously approved by the council. 
 

17. The external fabric, appearance and look of the licensed premises shall consist of 
materials and colours approved by the council in order to: 

 
(a) Ensure that the frontage is of a discreet nature 
 
(b) Ensure that it is appropriate to the character of the locality. 

 
CCTV 

 
18. A recording CCTV system shall be installed and fully operational whilst the venue is open 

to the public.  
 

19. The recording equipment will be stored and operated in a secure environment with limited 
access, to avoid damage, theft, unauthorised viewing and to maintain the integrity of the 
system.  

 
20. A record will be kept of any access made to information held on the system. 

 
21. The system will be serviced at twelve monthly intervals and maintained to a standard that 

is acceptable to the police licensing department responsible for the area.  A record of 
service and maintenance completed shall be held for a minimum of three years at the 
premises. 

 
22. The system clock will be checked regularly for accuracy taking account of GMT and BST. 

 
23. An additional recording CCTV camera shall be installed and fully operational whilst the 

venue is open to the public to cover the area outside the front of the premises. 
 

24. The CCTV system will have sufficient storage capacity for 31 days of good evidential 
quality images.  

 
 

Page 27 of 37 
 

Page 43



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

CCTV Access 
 
25. Police and authorised officers of the council shall have access to data from the systems 

quickly and easily and therefore provision will be made for the licensee or a member of 
staff to have access to the secure area and also be able to operate the equipment and to 
supply footage in a format which can be easily viewed by police or council officers.  
 

26. All operators will receive training from the installer when equipment is installed and this 
training will be cascaded down to new members of staff.  

 
27. An operator’s manual will be available to assist in replaying and exporting data.  

 
28. The premises shall not be operated pursuant to the grant of a licence until such time as 

the CCTV System has been approved by the Police. The CCTV must be maintained in a 
satisfactory working condition and subject to police approval in order to remain operating 
under the licence. 

 
General 

 
29. The Licence holder shall take all reasonable precautions to ensure public safety on the 

premises and shall comply with any reasonable request made by the council. 
 

30. The council may substitute, delete, vary or amend these conditions at any time. 
 

Part Two – Additional Conditions for Premises Operating as Sex 
Shops 

 
 

31. The Licensee shall notify the council of the name, address and date of birth of any 
manager or employee at the licensed premises at least 7 days prior to commencing 
employment.  The council, in consultation with the police, reserves the right to object to the 
employment of any person by reason of general unsuitability and/or because of any 
recorded conviction, reprimand, warning or caution considered relevant in which event the 
individual concerned shall not be employed at the premises. 
 

32. The names of any and every employee working on the premises shall be displayed in a 
conspicuous position on the premises. 

 
33. No public music or dancing shall be permitted on the premises. 

 
a) No alcohol shall be sold, offered or consumed by either staff or customers 

on the premises. 
 
b) No facilities to provide or consume food (hot or cold) by members of the 

public shall be permitted on the premises. 
 
Hours of Opening and Closing 
 
34. Licensed premises shall not, unless approved in writing by the council, be open for the 

purposes for which the licence is granted on any Sunday, bank or public holiday. 
 

Page 28 of 37 
 

Page 44



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

35. The general permitted hours (unless otherwise varied by the council) for the use of any 
premises, as a sex shop shall be: 

 
Monday to Saturday inclusive - 0930 until 2000 

 
Conduct of the Premises 
 
36. A sex shop shall be conducted primarily for the purpose of the sale of goods by retail. 

 
37. All sex articles and other things displayed for sale, hire, exchange or loan within a sex 

establishment shall be clearly marked to show the price being charged. 
 

38. All printed matter offered for sale, hire, exchange or loan within a sex establishment shall 
be available for inspection prior to purchase and a notice to this effect shall be displayed in 
a conspicuous position within the premises. 

 
39. No film or video recording shall be exhibited, sold or supplied unless it has been passed by 

the British Board of Film Classification and bears a certificate to that effect. 
 
Premises Interior and Layout 
  
40. Any facilities on the premises for previewing films, video recordings or other similar 

material shall be physically separated from the display area of the shop in such a manner 
that no material being displayed by way of preview shall be visible or audible outside the 
preview area.  The positioning of any playback or viewing equipment shall be approved by 
the council. 

 
Part Three – Additional Conditions for Premises Operating as 
Sexual Entertainment Venues 

 
 
External Appearance of the Premises and Public Displays of Information  

 
41. Any external displays or advertising may only be displayed with the prior approval of the 

Council. 
 

42. The prices for entrance and any compulsory purchases within the venue, shall be clearly 
displayed on the exterior of the premises.  

 
43. All charges for products and services shall be displayed in prominent areas within the 

premises, and at each customer table and in the bar area.  
 

44. Rules for customers shall be displayed in prominent areas within the premises, and at 
each customer table and in the bar area.  

 
45. No charge shall be applied unless the customer has been made aware of the tariff of 

charge by the performer in advance of the performance.  
 

46. The use of cruising cars by the premises to solicit for custom and/or transport people to or 
from the premises is prohibited.  
 

Page 29 of 37 
 

Page 45



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Control of Entry to the Premises 
 

47. The Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises whereby any 
person suspected of being under 25 years of age shall be required to produce 
identification proving they are over 18 years of age. The only acceptable forms of 
identification are recognised photographic identification cards, such as a driving licence or 
passport.  
 
OR at the discretion of the Licensing Authority in individual circumstances the 
following condition may be applied:  
 

48. All persons entering the premises must supply verifiable identification details that are 
passed through a digital scanning and recording system such as Club Scan, Idvista or 
similar computerised system. 
 

49. The premises shall maintain a Refusals log whereby any occasion a person is refused 
entry shall be recorded and available upon request by the Police or an authorised officer of 
the council.  

 
50. All individuals employed on the premises to conduct a security activity (within the meaning 

of paragraph 2(1) (a) of Schedule 2 to the Private Security Act 2001) must be licensed by 
the Security Industry Authority.  

 
51. Any person who appears to be drunk / intoxicated or under the influence of illegal drugs 

shall not be permitted entrance to the premises.  
 

52. A policy of random searches of persons entering the premises shall be operated.  
 

53. Any person found to be in possession of illegal drugs upon entry shall be prevented entry 
and, where possible, restrained until the Police can take such person into custody. Any 
persons found using illegal drugs on the premises shall be removed from the premises or, 
where possible, restrained until the Police can take such person into custody.  

 
54. The licensed premises shall be so arranged by screening or obscuring windows, doors 

and other openings so that the interior of the licensed premises shall not be visible to 
persons outside the building.  

 
55. The premises shall subscribe to an approved radio system and radios shall be operational 

at all times the premises is open to the public.  
 

Conduct of Performers and Rules relating to performances of sexual entertainment  
 

56. There shall be a written code of conduct for performers that has been agreed in writing by 
the Licence holder, the council and the Police.  
 

57. All performers shall be required to certify their agreement to comply with the code and a 
record shall be kept on the premises and be made available upon request by the Police or 
an authorised officer of the council. The code shall include the basic criteria as set out in 
Appendix B to this policy.  
 

58. No changes shall be made to the Dancer’s Code of Conduct without the prior written 
consent of the council and the Police. 

 

Page 30 of 37 
 

Page 46



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

59. The Dancer’s Code of Conduct must include a statement that any dancer who does not 
comply with the Code of Conduct will face disciplinary proceedings. 

 
60. All management and staff (including security staff) must be aware of and familiar with the 

content of the Dancer’s Code of Conduct and shall ensure it is complied with at all times. 
 

61. A copy of the Dancer’s Code of Conduct shall be prominently displayed in each area of the 
premises where the public have access, which shall include toilet areas as well as in any 
area used as a changing/dressing room for dancers. 

 
Code of Conduct for Customers 

 
62. There shall be a written Code of Conduct for Customers that has been agreed in writing by 

the Licence holder, the council and the Police.  
 

63. The code shall include the basic criteria as set out in Appendix C to this policy.  
 

64. The Code of Conduct for Customers shall be displayed in prominent positions throughout 
the licensed premises so that it is visible to all patrons. 

 
65. No changes shall be made to the Code of Conduct for Customers without the prior written 

consent of the council and the Police. 
 

66. The Code of Conduct shall include a statement that any customers who fail to comply with 
the Code of Conduct will be required to leave the premises. 

 
67. All management and staff (including security staff) must be aware of and familiar with the 

content of the Code of Conduct for Customers and shall ensure it is complied with at all 
times. 

 
68. On any occasion whereby a customer breaches the Code of Conduct, such details shall be 

recorded in the incident log. 
 

69. Any customer breaching the rules of the Code of Conduct shall be asked to leave the 
premises.  Any customer who has previously been asked to leave the premises and again 
breaches the Code of Conduct shall be banned from the premises. 

 
Disciplinary Procedure for Performers 
 
70. The Licence holder shall ensure that a written disciplinary procedure is in force so as to 

take appropriate action against performers who breach the Code of Conduct and that a 
copy of the procedure is provided to each performer who works at the premises. 
 

71. All performers shall sign an acknowledgement that they have received a written copy of 
the disciplinary procedure and have read and understood its contents. 

 
72. Any disciplinary procedure shall NOT make any provision for financial penalties against 

performers who breach the disciplinary procedure.  Any sanctions shall be limited to verbal 
or written warnings, suspension or revocation of the performer’s right to dance at the 
premises. 

 
 

 

Page 31 of 37 
 

Page 47



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

The Protection of Performers and the Prevention of Crime on the Premises  
 

73. Performers shall be provided with secure and private changing facilities.  
 

74. All entrances to private areas to which members of the public are not permitted access 
shall have clear signage stating that access is restricted.  

 
75. Any exterior smoking area for use by performers shall be kept secure and separate to any 

public smoking area.  
 

76. The Licence holder shall implement a written policy to ensure the safety of performers 
when leaving the premises following any period of work.  

 
77. Private booths must not be fully enclosed. There must be a clear sight-line from outside 

the booth so that any performance of sexual entertainment can be directly monitored.  
 

78. There must be a minimum of one member of security staff present on any floor where a 
performance of sexual entertainment is taking place.  

 
79. Any private booths shall be fitted with a panic button or security alarm.  

 
Record Keeping and Management  

 
80. All performers shall be required to provide valid identification prior to first employment at 

the premises. Acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic identification 
cards, such as a driving licence, passport or national ID card.  
 

81. All performers and staff shall be eligible to work in the UK and proof of eligibility records 
shall be kept on the premises. Management shall ensure that such records are regularly 
checked to ensure compliance.  

 
82. Employment records for performers and staff shall be kept for a minimum of 6 months 

following the cessation of their employment.  
 

83. Accurate payment and remuneration records shall be maintained and shall be made 
available upon request to the Police or an authorised officer of the Council. All fees and 
charges for performers shall be stated in writing and prominently displayed within the 
changing area.  

 
84. No films may be shown at the premises unless they have been passed by the British 

Board of Film Classification. No films classified as R18 shall be shown on the premises.  
 

Dress Code  
 

85. The premises shall operate a dress code for customers to the satisfaction of the Police.  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 32 of 37 
 

Page 48



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Part Four – Additional Conditions for Premises Operating as Sex 
Cinemas 

 
 
Film Exhibition 
 
86. No film shall be exhibited unless: 

 
a) It has been passed by the British Board of Film Classification (“BBFC”) as a U, 

PG, 12, 15, 18 or RESTRICTED (18) film and no notice of objection to its 
exhibition has been given by the council; or 

b) The film has been passed by the council as U, PG, 12, 15, 18 or RESTRICTED 
(18). 

 
87. If the Licence holder is notified by the council, in writing, that it objects to the exhibition of a 

film specifying the grounds of objection, such film shall not be exhibited. 
 

88. The Licence holder shall give at least 28 days notice in writing to the council of any 
proposal to exhibit any film which has not been classified as specified above.  Such a film 
shall only be exhibited if consent has been obtained from the council in writing and subject 
to any terms or restrictions contained within such written consent. 

 
89. When the programme includes a film in the 12, 15 or 18 category, no person appearing to 

be under the age of 12, 15 or 18 as appropriate shall be admitted to any part of the 
programme. 

 
90. If the council does not agree with the category of any film as passed by the BBFC, it may 

alter the category or prohibit the showing of the film. 
 

91. Where any notice is given by the council to the Licence holder that it has altered the 
category of any film, the film shall thereafter be treated as being in the altered category 
and the conditions application to the exhibition of films in the altered category shall be 
observed accordingly. 

 
92. Immediately before each exhibition at the premises of a film (other than a current news-

reel) passed by the BBFC, there shall be exhibited on the screen for at least ten seconds 
and in such a manner as to be easily read by all persons in the auditorium, a reproduction 
of the certificate of the BBFC or, as regards a trailer, of the statement approved by the 
BBFC indicating the category of the film. 

 
93. For a film passed by the council, notices shall be conspicuously displayed both inside and 

outside the premises so patrons entering can easily read them and which consist of the 
following wording: 

 
PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 
(Insert title of film here) 

Has been passed by Portsmouth City Council as 
(insert the definition of the category and the category assigned) 

 

Page 33 of 37 
 

Page 49



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

94. Where a trailer is to be exhibited advertising a film passed by the council, the notice shall 
state: 
 

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 

(Insert the category of trailer here) trailer advertising (insert the category of the film) film 
 

95. Every poster, advertisement, photograph, sketch, synopsis or programme relating to a film 
(other than a current news-reel) exhibited, or to be exhibited at the premises shall indicate 
clearly the category of the film. 
 
Refusals/Incident Log 
 

96. The Licence holder shall ensure that an incident/refusals log is maintained at the 
premises.  The log shall record the following information: 

 
• Any ejections from the premises 
• Any refused admissions 
• Any refused sales 
• Any inappropriate behaviour by patrons 
• Any failure in the CCTV system 
• Any incidents of crime or disorder 
• Any complaints made by patrons 

 
97. The record shall show the date and time of the incident; the name of the member of staff 

reporting the incident; a brief description of the customer involved where appropriate and 
brief details of the incident together with any action taken by the staff/management of the 
premises. 
 

98. The incident log shall be completed as soon as reasonably practicable after any incident 
has occurred. 

 
99. The incident log shall be kept in a place where it can be easily accessed by staff working 

at the premises and all staff shall be aware of the location of the incident log and the need 
to complete it in such cases as described above. 

 
100. The Licence holder shall ensure that the incident log is checked periodically and at least 

on a monthly basis to ensure that staff are completing the log as and when appropriate. 
 

101. The incident log shall be made available for inspection to the Police or authorised council 
officers upon request. 

 
General 

 
102. No sex articles or other things intended for use in connection with, or for the purpose of 

stimulating or encouraging sexual activity or acts of force or restraint which are associated 
with sexual activity shall be displayed, sold, hired, exchanged, loaned or demonstrated in a 
sex cinema. 
 

 

Page 34 of 37 
 

Page 50



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Appendix B 
 

Sexual Entertainment Venues – Code of Conduct for Dancers 
 

 
The Dancer’s Code of Conduct shall include the following conditions as a minimum 
standard: 
 

• There shall be no intentional physical contact between performers and customers at 
any time, before, during or after the performance, with the exception of leading a 
customer by the hand to, or from, an area permitted for performances of sexual 
entertainment in advance of, or following, a performance.  

 
• The performer may not simulate any sexual act during a performance.  

 
• Performers must not use any inappropriate, lewd, suggestive or sexually graphic 

language in any public or performance areas of the premises.  
 

• Performers must not touch the breasts or genitalia of another performer, at any time 
as part of a performance.  

 
• There shall be no use of sex articles (as defined by paragraph 4(3) of Schedule 3 of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982) at any time.  
 

• There shall be no nudity by performers in public areas of the premises, unless the 
Council has agreed in writing that area may be used for performances of sexual 
entertainment.  

 
• Performers must fully dress (i.e. no nudity) at the end of each performance.  

 
• Performances of sexual entertainment may only take place in designated areas of 

the premises as agreed in writing by the Council. 
 

• There shall be no photography permitted by customers on the premises.  
 

• Customers must remain seated for the duration of a performance.  
 

• Performers shall not arrange to meet, or have further contact with, customers 
outside of the premises. 

 
• Dancers shall not perform if under the influence of alcohol or drugs. 

 
• All dancers shall comply with this Code of Conduct.  Any failure to adhere to the 

rules set out in Code shall result in the dancer becoming subject to the 
consideration of disciplinary action as set out in the Disciplinary Procedure. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 35 of 37 
 

Page 51



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Appendix C 
 

Sexual Entertainment Venues – Code of Conduct for 
Customers 

 
 

 The Customer’s Code of Conduct shall include the following conditions as a 
minimum standard: 

 
• Customers may not touch dancers during a performance. 

 
• Customers may not make lewd or offensive comments to performers. 

 
• Customers must not harass or intimidate performers. 

 
• Customers must not ask dancers to perform any sexual favour. 

 
• Customers may not perform acts of masturbation or indulge in other sexual 

behaviour. 
 

• Any customer failing to comply with this Code of Conduct will be asked to leave 
the premises and may face a time-limited or permanent ban from attending the 
premises. 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36 of 37 
 

Page 52



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Telephone: 023 9283 4604 
 
Email: Licensing@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 
Address:  Licensing Service, Portsmouth City Council, Civic Offices, Guildhall 
Square, Portsmouth, Hants, PO1 2AL. 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Page 37 of 37 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



P
age 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Premises Licence Number
17|03836/LAPRMV

Portsmouth
CITY COUNCIL

PREMISES LICENCE
Licensing Act 2003

Part 1 - Premises Details

Address: Surrey Arms
1-7 Surrey Street
Portsmouth
PO1 1JT

E)
N)

464190
1 00391
001775077611

Map Ref
Map Ref
UPRN:

Postal address of reference or descri ionmremrses or if none ordnance s

Telephone

This licence is NOT time limited
Where the licence is time limited the dates

Þ Late night refreshment
Þ Performance of dance
Þ Performance of live music

ÞSale by retailof alcohol

of recorded music

Licensable activities authorised the licence

ÞSale by retail of alcohol
Monday to Sunday 11:00 until 01:00
Timings for the ground floor
Monday to Sunday 21:00 until 04:30
Timings for the first floor (paid admission only)

Þ Performance of dance
Monday to Sunday 11:00 until 01:00
Timings for the ground floor
Monday to Sunday 21:00 until 05:00
Timings for the first floor (paid admission only)

ÞPerformance of live music
Monday to Sunday 11:00 until 01:00
Timings for ground floor
Monday to Sunday 21:00 until 05:00
Timings for the first floor (paid admission

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities

Page 1 of 11

Page 97



g Portsmouth Premises Licence Number
17|03836/LAPRMV

CITY CCIUNCIL

Þ Playing of recorded music
Monday to Sunday 11:00 until 01:00
Timings for the ground floor
Monday to Sunday 21:00 until 05:00
Timings for first floor (paid admission only)

Þ Late night refreshment
Monday to Sunday 23:00 until 05:00
Timings for the ground floor
Monday to Sunday 23:00 until 01:30
Timings for first floor (paid admission only)

Þ Monday to Sunday
Þ Monday to Sunday

11:00 until 02:00 - Timings for ground floor

21:00 until 05:00 - Timings for the first floor (paid admission only)

iseshours of theThe i

Alcohol is s lied for consum both on and off the
liesWhere the licence authorises su es of alcohol whether these are on and / or off s

Parl2

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,
Civic Offices, Guildhall Square, Portsmouth PO1 2AL

Telephone (023 9283 4607/023 9268 8367) Fax 023 9283 4811 Email @
Page 2 of 11

Name:

Address:

Dunglen Limited

OJ's lndustrial Park Claybank Road

Portsmouth
PO3 sSX

Telephone

Email:

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of premises
licence

5236409

licablele comRe number, charity number whereistered number of holder for exa

Name:

Address

Mr John-Cortin Mario Fernandez

Telephone:

Email:

Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the premises
licence authorises the of alcohol

977
Portsmouth C Gouncillssuin Aut

Personal Licence No:

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated premises
supervisor where the prem ises licence authorises the s of alcohol

Page 98



Portsmouth Premises Licence Number
17I03836/LAPRMV

CITY COUNCIL

Granted by Portsmouth City Gouncil, as licensing authority pursuant to the Licensing Act
2003 as amended and regulations made thereunder

Date Licence granted: 20 May 2009
Date last amended: 3 October 2017
Type: Variation

Signed on behalf of the Head of Service
(Authorised Officer)

Portsmoufh City Council is committod to complylng wlth the Freedom of lnlormation Act 2000 (FOIA) which applles to all recorded lnformation that ¡t holds
or is held on its behalf. ¡nformation thât ls provlded to or held by the C¡ty Council will be processed and disclosed strlctly ln accordance wlth the FOIA, the
Data Protection Act 1998 or other approprlate.leglslation.

This authority is under a duty to protect the publlc funds it admin¡sters, and to th¡B end may use the informatlon you have provided on this lorm lor the
prevention and detectlon of fraud. lt may also share this informatlon wlth other bodies responslble for auditing or adm¡nisterlng publlc funds for these
purposes. For lurther inlormat¡on go to !44q.E4@!!.gry! and search lor 'Natlonal Fraud lnitiative.

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,
Civic Offices, Guildhall Square, Portsmouth PO1 2AL

Fax 023 9283 4811 Email Licensino@oortsmouthcc.qov.ukTelephone (023 9283 46071023 9268 8367)

Page 3 of 11

Page 99



Annex 1 - Mandatory Conditions

Premises Licence Number
17I03836/LAPRMV

CTTÏ COUNCIL

01 Where any condition of this licence requires that, at specified times, one or more individuals
must be at the premises to carry out a security activity, each such individual must:

(a) be authorised to carry out that activity by a licence granted under the Private Security Industry
Act 2001; or

(b) be entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 4 of that Act

For the purposes of this condition "security activity" means an activity to which paragraph 2(1)(a)
of that Schedule applies and which is licensable conduct for the purposes of that Act (see section
3(2) of that Act).

This condition is subject to any exemptions in accordance with the provisions of the Private
Security lndustry Act 2001.

02 No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence:

(a) at a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the premises licence,
or

(b) at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or his/her
personal licence is suspended.

03 Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a person
who holds a personal licence.

04 (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out,
arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.

(2) ln this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following
activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or
supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises:

(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or encourage,
individuals to:

(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or supplied on
the premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible person is authorised to
sell or supply alcohol), or

(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);

(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted fee
to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which carries a
significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,

rerephone (023 e283 o.ozorföi%3'ååi?i'ËiT[iåä"r.t;åìiotl,l"¡or1Ítln"¡noraoorr",nout 
"".oou.rr

g Portsrnouth

Page 4 of 11

Page 100



g Portsmouth Premises Licence Number
17I03836/LAPRMV

CITY COUNCIL

(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or reward the
purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a manner which carries
a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

(d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the
vicinity of , the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone; êrìcourâge or glamorise
anii-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner;

(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where that
other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of disability).

05 The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to
customers where it is reasonably available.

06 (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age
verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol.

(2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that the
supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy.

(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 years
of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being
served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either:

(a) a holographic mark, or
(b) an ultraviolet feature.

07 The responsible person must ensure that:

(a) Where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the
premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance ready for
sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the following
measures:

(i) beer or cider: l12pinl;
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25ml or 35 ml; and
(iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml;

(b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is available
to customers on the premises; and

(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol to be
sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,
Civic Offices, Guildhall Square, Portsmouth PO1 2AL

Telephone (023 9283 4607/023 9268 8367) Fax 023 9283 4811 Email @
Page 5 of 11

Page 101



g Portsmouth Premises Licence Number
17|03836/LAPRMV

CITY CCIUNCIL

08 (1) A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off
the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.

(2) For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 1

(a) "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;
(b) "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula -

P=D+(DxV)
where -

(i) P is the permitted price,
(ii) D is the rate of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged

on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
(iii)V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value

added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;

(c) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
premises licence -

(i) the holder of the premises licence,
(ii)the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
(iii)the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such

a licence;

(d) "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity
which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and

(e) "valued added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added
Tax Act 1 994.

(3) Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would (apart from this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be
taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.

(4) (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of
paragraph 2 on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price on the next day
("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax.

(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second day.

.. END..

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,
Civic Offices, Guildhall Square, Portsmouth PO1 2AL

Telephone(02392834607l02392688367)Fax02392834811Email@
Page 6 of 11

Page 102



Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the operating schedule

g Portsmouth Premises Licence Number
f 7/03836/LAPRMV

CIÏÏ COUNCIL

01 A recording CCTV system will be installed and fully operational at alitimes.
The recording equipment will be stored and operated in a secure environment with limited access,
to avoid damage;theft, unauthorised viewing and maintain the integrity of the system.
A record will be kept of any access made to information held on the system.
The system will be maintained and serviced at least once every 12 months
The system clock will be checked regularly for accuracy taking account of GMT and BST.
The CCTV system will have sufficient storage capacity for 31 days evidential quality pictures.
There will be coverage of the main entrance to the premises.

Access

Police and authorised Officers of Portsmouth City Council shall have access to data from the
systems quickly and easily and therefore provision will be made for someone to have access to
the secure area and also be able to operate the equipment and to supply footage in a format
which can be easily viewed by police.
The venue shall provide Police with a copy of CCTV within a reasonable time period of a verbal
request being made by Police Officers or PCSOS.
All operators will receive training from the installer when equipment is installed and this training will
be cascaded down to new members of staff.
An operator's manual will be available to assist in replaying and exporting data (particularly
important with digital systems).
The CCTV must remain satisfactory to police and subject to police approval in order to remain
operating under this premises licence.

02 The licence holder shall ensure that all members of staff are informed of the objectives of the
Licensing Act 2003 and the statutory requirements in order to ensure compliance with all relevant
provisions of the Act.

03 The licence holder must ensure that all staff selling alcohol have received adequate training,
which must incorporate a process of assessment and refresher training to an recognised national
standard on the law with regard to age restricted sales and that this has been properly
documented and training records kept.

04 Any person appearing to those engaged in selling or supplying alcohol to be under the age of
25 and who is attempting tq buy alcohol will be required to produce satisfactory photographic
identification as proof of age. Acceptable lD shall be a Valid UK Passport, Valid UK Photocard,
Driving Licence or PASS approved lD.

05 Any incidences of, refusals of service, brime or antisocial behaviour will be recorded in a log
book. The Police will have access to this logbook when requested.

06 Suitable beverages other than alcohol (including drinking water) shall be equally available for
consumption with or otheruvise as an ancillary to meals served in the licensed premises.

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,
Civic OJfices, Guildhall Square, Portsmouth PO1 2AL

Telephone(02392834607l02392688367)Fax02392834811Email@
Page 7 of 11

Page 103



Premises Licence Number
17I03836/LAPRMV

CITÏ CCIUNCIL

07 From one hour prior to the end of trading there will be no admissions or readmissions to the
venue. This applies even when due to a dynamic decision on the night the premises chooses to
close early.

08 The DPS will ensure that there is a system in place whereby at any one point staff employed at
the venue can establish how many people are on the premises.

09 When the first floor of the venue is being used, between 2100 hrs and the closing time of the
venue, a ratio of 2 door supervisors for the first 100 customers then 1 further door supervisor will
be employed for every 100 further customers

At least one female door supervisor will be available should female customers be the subject of
searches.

The DPS will ensure a record is kept with the details of all door supervisors who are employed in a
security capacity. This log will contain the start and finish times / dates, name, address, contact
number and SIA license number. This record will be kept for a minimum of 3 months.

At the terminal hour and for a minim of 15 minutes thereafter, door supervisors will be available to
ensure customers are leaving the area in an orderly fashion.

.- END -

ORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,
Civic Offices, Guildhall Square, Portsmouth PO1 2AL

Telephone (023 9283 4607/023 9268 8367) Fax 023 9283 4811 Email Licensinq@portsmo
Page I of 11

u Portsmouth

Page 104



g Portsmouth Premises Licence Number
I7I03836/LAPRMV

CITT COUNCIL

Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority

.. END..

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,
Civic Offices, Guildhall Squaie, Portsmouth PO1 2ALI Telephone (023 9283 4607/023 9268 8367) Fgx O2i 928.3 4811 Ema¡l@

Page 9 of 11

Page 105



g Portsmouth Premises Licence Number
17I03836/LAPRMV

CITT CCIUNCIL

Annex 4 - Premises and location plan

Premises Plan(s)

These will either be shown below or attached as a separate part of the premises licence
authorisation.

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNC¡L, Licensing Service,
Civic Offices, Guildhall Square, Portsmouth PO1 2AL

Tefephone (023 9283 46071023 9268 8367) Fax 023 9283 4811 Email Licensino@oortsmouthcc.oov.uk
Page 10 of 11

Page 106



g Portsmouth Premises Licence Number
17I03836/LAPRMV

CITY COUNCIL

Location Plan: 1-7 Surrey Street Portsmouth

Ét
lhod Poet Oñ€

Car Padr

REPRODUCED FROM THE ORDNANCE SURVEV MAPPING WITH PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF HER
MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE @ CROWN COPYRIGHT. UNAUTHORISED REPBODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN

COPYRIGHT AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS. LICENCE AGREEMENT NUMBER
LAl 00019671 - PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, Licensing Service,

rerephone(o23e2B3ouo'orrtää3'ååi';i'lill[iåËiå.';åìi"iå]in"i
2AL

Licensinq@podsmouthcc.qov.u k

Page 11 of 11

Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



        
 
Sexual Entertainment Venues  
 
Guidance for England and Wales 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 127



 

 2

 
Contents 
 
Ministerial Foreword       4 
 
1. Introduction        5 
Definitions         5 

Policing and Crime Act 2009       5 

The Guidance         5 

 
2. Policing and Crime Act 2009      7 
Meaning of Sexual Entertainment Venue     7 

Nudity          8 

The Organiser         8 

Spontaneous Entertainment       9 

Premises that are not Sexual Entertainment Venues   9 

Amendments to the Licensing Act 2003     10 

Consultation with Local People      11 

 

3. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act) 1982  13 
The Appropriate Authority       13 

Committee or Sub-Committee      13 

Adopting the Provisions       14 

Requirement for a Sex Establishment Licence     15 

Premises that are Deemed to be Sexual Entertainment Venues 15 

Notices          16 

Application Forms        16 

Single Point of Contact       17 

Fees          17 

Objections          18 

Hearings          18 

Refusal of a Licence         19 

Relevant Locality        20 

Licence Conditions        22 

Duration of Licences        23  

Page 128



 

 3

Appeals          23 

Licensing Policies        23 

Offences         24 

Provisions Relating to Existing Premises     25 

The Services Directive       25 

 

4. Transitional Arrangements       27 
Transitional Period         27 

Existing Operators         27 

New Applicants        28 

Determining Application Received Before the 2nd Appointed Day 28 

Determining Application Received After the 2nd Appointed Day 29 

Outstanding Application        29 

Existing Licence Conditions        30 

ECHR Considerations       31 

Changes to licensing policies       32 

London           32 

Sex Encounter Establishments      32 

Hostess Bars         33 

Soliciting for Custom       33 

   

Annex A: Guide to Transitional Period and Existing Operators 35 
 

Annex B: Guide to Transitional Period and New Applicants 36 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 129



 

 4

MINISTERIAL FOREWORD  
 

In September 2008, the previous Home Secretary 

announced the Government’s intention to give local people 

greater say over the number and location of lap dancing 

clubs in their area. This followed a consultation with local 

authorities which highlighted concerns that existing  

legislation did not give communities sufficient powers to control where lap 

dancing clubs were established.  

 

In order to address these concerns, section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 

2009 reclassifies lap dancing clubs as sexual entertainment venues and gives 

local authorities in England and Wales the power to regulate such venues as 

sex establishments under Schedule 3 to the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.  

 

These new measures, which take effect on 6th April 2010 in England and on 

8th May in Wales, will, if adopted by local authorities, give local people a 

greater say over where and how many lap dancing clubs open and operate in 

their neighbourhoods.   

 

These are important reforms to further empower local communities and the 

purpose of this guidance is to provide advice to local authorities, operators, 

local people and other interested parties on the new measures introduced by 

section 27 and the associated secondary legislation.  

   

Alan Campbell  

 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Crime Reduction 
 

March 2010  
 

 

Page 130



 

 5

INTRODUCTION 
 
Definitions 
 
1.1 In this guidance –  

The “2009 Act” means the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

The “1982 Act” means the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 

The “2003 Act” means the Licensing Act 2003 

“Section 27” means section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

“Schedule 3” means Schedule 3 to the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

 

Policing and Crime Act 2009 
 

1.2 Section 27 introduces a new category of sex establishment called 

‘sexual entertainment venue’, which will allow local authorities to 

regulate lap dancing clubs and similar venues under Schedule 3.  

 

1.3 Section 27 gives local authorities more powers to control the number 

and location of lap dancing clubs and similar venues in their area. 

These powers are not mandatory and will only apply where they are 

adopted by local authorities. Where adopted, these provisions will allow 

local authorities to refuse an application on potentially wider grounds 

than is permitted under the 2003 Act and will give local people a 

greater say over the regulation of lap dancing clubs and similar venues 

in their area. 

 
The Guidance  
 

1.4 The guidance is provided for local authorities carrying out their 

functions under Schedule 3, as amended by section 27. It will also be 

of use to operators, the police and the general public.  

 

 

 
Page 131



 

 6

1.5 Interpretation of the relevant primary and secondary legislation is 

ultimately a matter for the courts.  However, local authorities are 

encouraged to have regard to the guidance when exercising their 

functions (although there is no statutory requirement to do so) in order 

to promote best practice and consistency across England and Wales.  

 

1.6 The guidance is composed of 3 sections. Section 2 focuses on the 

2009 Act and the definition of ‘sexual entertainment venue’. Section 3 

provides an explanation of the meaning and effect of Schedule 3 to the 

1982 Act and section 4 provides guidance on the transitional provisions 

as set out in the transitional orders: The Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(Commencement No.1 and Transitional and Saving 

Provisions)(England) Order 2010 and the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(Consequential Provisions )(England) Order 2010 and any equivalent 

orders made by Welsh Ministers in respect to Wales.  

 

1.7 Apart from extending the scope of the 1982 Act to cover the licensing 

of sexual entertainment venues and removing the sex encounter 

establishment category in those local authority areas that adopt the 

new provisions, the 2009 Act and the associated secondary legislation 

makes only minor changes to the operation of Schedule 3.  

 

1.8 Section 27 of, and Schedule 3 to, the 2009 Act come into force in 

England on 6th April as does the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(Consequential Provisions) (England) Order 2010.   In Wales, the 

equivalent provisions come into force on 8th May 2010. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 132



 

 7

POLICING AND CRIME ACT 2009 
 
Meaning of Sexual Entertainment Venue 
 

2.1 Paragraph 2A of Schedule 3 as inserted by section 27 sets out the 

meaning of a ‘sexual entertainment venue’ and ‘relevant entertainment’ 

for the purposes of these provisions. A sexual entertainment venue is 

defined as “any premises at which relevant entertainment is provided 

before a live audience for the financial gain of the organiser or the 

entertainer.”   

 

2.2 The meaning of ‘relevant entertainment’ is “any live performance or live 

display of nudity which is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, 

it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or principally for 

the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of an audience 

(whether by verbal or other means).”  An audience can consist of just 

one person (e.g. where the entertainment takes place in private 

booths). 

 

2.3 While local authorities should judge each case on its merits, we would 

expect that the definition of relevant entertainment would apply to the 

following forms of entertainment as they are commonly understood: 

 

• Lap dancing  

• Pole dancing  

• Table dancing  

• Strip shows  

• Peep shows 

• Live sex shows 

 

2.4 The above list is not exhaustive and, as the understanding of the exact 

nature of these descriptions may vary, should only be treated as 

indicative. Ultimately, decisions to licence premises as sexual 

entertainment venues shall depend on the content of the entertainment 

provided and not the name it is given.  

Page 133



 

 8

 

2.5 For the purposes of these provisions a premises includes any vessel, 

vehicle or stall but does not include a private dwelling to which the 

public are not admitted.  

 
Nudity 
 

2.6 It is important to note that although the definition of relevant 

entertainment makes reference to a ‘live display of nudity’, the mere 

fact that there is a display of nudity does not mean that a sex 

establishment licence will necessarily be required.  For example, if the 

display forms part of a drama or dance performance in a theatre, in 

most cases it cannot reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or 

principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the 

audience.   

 

2.7 Paragraph 2A(14) of Schedule 3 sets out the definition of a ‘display of 

nudity’. In the case of a woman, it means exposure of her nipples, 

pubic area, genitals or anus and, in the case of a man; it means 

exposure of his pubic area, genitals or anus.  

 

The Organiser 
 
2.8 The relevant entertainment must be provided for the financial gain of 

the ‘organiser’ or ‘entertainer’.  The ‘organiser’ means any person who 

is responsible for the organisation or management of the relevant 

entertainment or the premises at which the relevant entertainment is 

provided. In most circumstances, this will refer to the manager of the 

premises, but could also refer someone who is responsible for 

organising the relevant entertainment on behalf of the persons 

responsible for the management of the premises.  

 

2.9 The ‘organiser’ must be someone who is in a position of responsibility 

over the provision of the relevant entertainment and should not be 

interpreted to mean a member of staff who is merely employed to work 

during the provision of relevant entertainment. It is only necessary for 
Page 134



 

 9

one person to hold a sexual entertainment venue licence for premises, 

even if there is more than one person who is responsible for the 

organisation or management of the relevant entertainment or the 

premises.  

 
Spontaneous Entertainment 
 

2.10 Where activities that would otherwise be considered to involve the 

provision of relevant entertainment take place, but are not provided for 

the financial gain of the organiser or entertainer, such as a 

spontaneous display of nudity or a lap dance by a customer or guest, 

the premises will not be considered a sexual entertainment venue by 

virtue of those circumstances alone. This is because the relevant 

entertainment must be provided for the financial gain of the organiser 

or entertainer.  However, it should be noted that an organiser may be 

considered to have provided the entertainment where he has permitted 

the activity to take place, whether expressly or impliedly.  

 
Premises that are not sexual entertainment venues 
 
2.11 Paragraph 2A(3) of Schedule 3 sets out those premises that are not 

sexual entertainment venues. These are: 

• sex shops and sex cinemas (which are separately defined in 

Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act); 

• premises which provide relevant entertainment on an infrequent 

basis. These are defined as premises where- 

a) no relevant entertainment has been provided on more than 11 

occasions within a 12 month period; 

b) no such occasion has begun within a period of one month 

beginning with the end of the previous occasions; and  

c) no such occasion has lasted longer than 24 hours.  

• other premises or types of performances or displays exempted by 

an order of the Secretary of State.    

 

2.12 Premises which provide relevant entertainment on an infrequent basis 

will continue to be regulated under the 2003 Act, insofar as they are 
Page 135



 

 10

providing regulated entertainment under that Act, either by virtue of a 

premises licence or club premises certificate issued under Part 3 or 

Part 4 or a temporary events notice issued under Part 5 of that Act. 

Any premises that provide relevant entertainment on more occasions, 

more frequently or for a longer period of time than is permitted under 

the exemption will be operating as a sexual entertainment venue and 

will have committed an offence under Schedule 3 unless they hold a 

sexual entertainment venue licence or the local authority has waived 

the requirement for such a licence.  

 

Amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 
 
2.13 Schedule 7 to the 2009 Act amends the 2003 Act to ensure that 

premises for which a sexual entertainment venue licence is required or 

held (or for which the requirement has been waived under paragraph 7 

of Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act) do not also require a premises licence, 

club premises certificate or temporary events notice in order to provide 

relevant entertainment.  This is because such entertainment is 

expressly excluded from the definition of regulated entertainment found 

in the 2003 Act.  However, if the premises also carry on other 

licensable activities (e.g. the sale of alcohol or the provision of 

regulated entertainment that is not relevant entertainment), they will 

nevertheless continue to require a premises licence, club premises 

certificate or temporary events notice under the 2003 Act for those 

other activities, subject to any exceptions contained in that Act.   

 

2.14 In practice, this will mean that the vast majority of lap dancing clubs 

and similar venues will require both a sexual entertainment venue 

licence for the provision of relevant entertainment and a premises 

licence or club premises certificate for the sale of alcohol or provision 

of other types of regulated entertainment not covered by the definition 

of relevant entertainment.  

 

2.15 Live music or the playing of recorded music which is integral to the 

provision of relevant entertainment, such as lap dancing, for which a 

sexual entertainment licence is required, is specifically excluded from 
Page 136



 

 11

the definition of regulated entertainment in the 2003 Act. Therefore, a 

sexual entertainment venue will not require a premises licence or club 

premises certificate just because it plays recorded music for a 

performer to dance to. (Nor will providing entertainment facilities for the 

purposes of the provision of relevant entertainment be regulated 

entertainment under the 2003 Act).   

 

2.16 Premises which fall under the exemption created for infrequent 

entertainment do not require a sexual entertainment venue licence but 

will instead need an appropriate authorisation under the 2003 Act, for 

example, to cover the performance of dance. The exemption from 

requirements of the 2003 Act for live music or the playing of recorded 

music which is integral to relevant entertainment does not apply to 

such venues.  

 

Consultation with Local People 
 
2.17 If a local authority has not made a resolution to adopt the provisions 

introduced by section 27 within one year of it coming into force it must, 

as soon as is reasonably practicable, consult local people about 

whether they should make such a resolution.  

 

2.18 The purpose of this duty is to ensure that local authorities consider the 

views of local people where, for whatever reason, they have not 

adopted the provisions.  

 

2.19 This duty should be seen to be an extension to existing general duties 

on local authorities to consult and involve local people when exercising 

their functions. 

 

2.20 The 2009 Act is not prescriptive about how local authorities should 

consult with local people in order to comply with this duty. Local 

authorities have extensive experience of engaging with local people 

and will know what works best in their individual areas.   Clearly, the 

Secretary of State expects that any consultation exercise carried out 

under this duty will be fair and meaningful. Local authorities should 
Page 137



 

 12

seek to make any relevant information available to local people in order 

to inform their understanding and publish the outcomes of the 

consultation on the internet.  

 

2.21 In practice, local authorities may decide to consult local people on this 

matter when they consult and involve local people on broader local 

priorities and crime and disorder or anti-social behaviour priorities as 

part of their work to develop Local Area Agreements/Local Delivery 

Agreements and crime and disorder strategies, as required under 

various existing duties, including, section 138 of the Local Government 

and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and regulation 12 of the 

Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) 

Regulations 2007. This will ensure that consultations are not onerous 

and form part of the ongoing engagement with local communities 

undertaken by all local authorities.  

 

2.22 For the purposes of this duty ‘local people’ are defined as anyone who 

lives or works in the local authority area.  

 

Page 138



 

 13

                                                

SCHEDULE 3 TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1982 
 
The Appropriate Authority 
 
3.1 The appropriate authority is responsible for determining applications for 

sex establishment licences.  For the purposes of the 1982 Act 

’appropriate authority’ means the local authority which passed a 

resolution under section 2 of that Act to adopt Schedule 3 in their area. 

‘Local authority’ means— 

(a) the council of a district (including a unitary County Council) or, in 

Wales, the principal council1; 

(b) the council of a London borough; and 

(c) the Common Council of the City of London. 

 

Committee or Sub-Committee 
 
3.2 Functions under Schedule 3 are the responsibility of the full council of 

the appropriate authority, as defined above. Under section 101 of the 

Local Government Act 1972, local authorities may arrange for the 

discharge of these responsibilities by a committee or sub-committee of 

the appropriate authority.  

 

3.3 An authority may delegate its functions to those who sit on its licensing 

committee set up to discharge licensing functions under the 2003 Act.  

However, when dealing with an application for a sex establishment 

licence, the members of the committee would not be acting as the 

licensing committee under the 2003 Act and would instead be 

exercising their functions under Schedule 3.  

 
 
 
 

 
1 See section 2 of the 1982 Act.  Section 17 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 
provides that legislative references to district councils are to be interpreted as references to 
principal councils in Wales.  Unitary County Councils have all the functions and powers of 
district councils.  

Page 139



 

 14

                                                

Adopting the Provisions 
 

3.4 Section 27 comes into force on 6th April 2010 in England and 8th May in 

Wales2. On or following this date local authorities may resolve to adopt 

Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act as amended by the 2009 Act so that it has 

effect in their area.   

 

3.5 Although many local authorities will have already adopted Schedule 3 

to the 1982 Act for the licensing of sex shops and sex cinemas, a 

further resolution is necessary before the provisions introduced by 

Section 27 will have effect in the local authority area. However, where 

a local authority has not resolved to adopt Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act 

before the coming into force of Section 27, the amendments made to 

Schedule 3 by section 27 will apply automatically if a resolution to 

adopt Schedule 3 is made subsequently (see Schedule 3 to the 2009 

Act). 

 

3.6 The procedure for local authorities to adopt Schedule 3 as amended by 

section 27 is set out is section 2 of the 1982 Act. Firstly, the local 

authority must pass a resolution specifying that Schedule 3 or, in the 

case of an authority where Schedule 3 is already in force, the 

amendments made by section 27 to that Schedule, shall apply to their 

area and the day on which it or they shall come into force in the area. 

The specified day must be more than one month after the day on which 

the resolution was passed.     

 

3.7 The local authority shall publish notice that they have passed a 

resolution under section 2 of the 1982 Act or (in cases where Schedule 

3 is already in force but the local authority is adopting the amendments 

made by section 27) paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 3 to the 2009 Act for 

two consecutive weeks in a local newspaper that is circulated in their 

area. The first publication shall not be later than 28 days before the day 

specified in the resolution for the provisions to come into force in the 

 
2 Section 27 (11) was brought into force on 2nd March 2010 but only for the purpose of 
making the transitional orders. 

Page 140



 

 15

local authority’s area. The notice should state the general effect of 

Schedule 3. 

 

3.8 While there is no statutory duty to do so, prior to deciding whether to 

pass a resolution, local authorities may, as a matter of good practice, 

wish to seek the views of local people and businesses. The Secretary 

of State also encourages local authorities to engage with known sexual 

entertainment venues at the earliest possible opportunity once a 

decision to adopt the provisions has been made, to ensure affected 

businesses are aware of what action they will need to take in order to 

comply with the new regime.  

 

Requirement for a Sex Establishment Licence   
 
3.9 Any person wishing to operate a sex establishment as defined by 

Schedule 3 requires a sex establishment licence, unless the 

requirement for a licence has been waived by the appropriate authority.  

 

3.10 An applicant can apply for a waiver either as part of the application for 

a licence or separately. The local authority can grant a waiver if they 

consider that to require a licence would be unreasonable or 

inappropriate. Where a waiver is granted the appropriate authority 

should inform the applicant that a waiver has been granted. The waiver 

may last for such a period that the appropriate authority think fit, but 

can be terminated by the appropriate authority at any time with 28 days 

notice. 

 
Premises that are deemed to be Sexual Entertainment Venues 
 
3.11 Paragraph 27A of Schedule 3 deems premises with licences to operate 

as sexual entertainment venues to be sexual entertainment venues 

whilst their licence remains in force, irrespective of how frequently they 

are or have been providing relevant entertainment. This remains the 

case even if premises operate within the exemption for infrequent 

events. 

 
Page 141



 

 16

3.12 If an operator with a sexual entertainment venue licence is operating 

within the exemption for infrequent events and no longer wants their 

premises to be treated as a sexual entertainment venue (e.g. because 

they are no longer operating as a lap dancing club) they may write to 

the relevant local authority to request that their licence be cancelled.  

Upon receiving such a request from a licence-holder a local authority 

must cancel the licence in question. 

 
Notices 
 

3.13 Applicants for a sex establishment licence must give public notice of 

the application by publishing an advertisement in a local newspaper 

that is circulated in the local authority area no later than 7 days after 

the date the application is made.  

 

3.14 Where the application relates to premises, a notice should also be 

displayed on or near the premises in a place where it can be 

conveniently read by members of the public. The notice should be 

displayed for a period of 21 day beginning with the date the 

applications was made.  

 

3.15 All notices should be in the form prescribed by the appropriate authority 

and identify the premises or, if the application relates to a vehicle, 

vessel or stall, specify where it will be used as a sex establishment.      

 
3.16 There are similar notification requirements for applications made under 

the 2003 Act. Where an applicant is making an application under both 

Schedule 3 and the 2003 Act at the same time they may wish to 

combine these requirements where permitted. 
 
Application Forms 
 
3.17 Unlike the 2003 Act there is no prescribed application form for an 

application made under Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act. However, the 

application must be in writing and contain the details set out in 

paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 along with such other details as the 
Page 142



 

 17

appropriate authority may reasonably require. Local authorities must 

provide for applications to be made electronically and may produce and 

publish recommended application forms for sex establishment licences 

setting out all the details required.  

 
Single Point of Contact 
 

3.18 Following amendments to sub-paragraph 10(14) made by the Provision 

of Services Regulations 2009, where an application for the grant, 

renewal or transfer of a licence is made by means of a relevant 

electronic facility it will be the responsibility of the appropriate authority 

to send a copy of an application to the chief officer of police, not later 

than 7 days after the date the application is received.  

 

3.19 Where an application is made by any other means the responsibility to 

send a copy of the application to the chief officer of police within 7 days 

of the application being made will remain the responsibility of the 

applicant.  

 

3.20 For the purpose of Schedule 3 a relevant electronic facility means the 

electronic assistance facility referred to in regulation 38 of the Provision 

of Services Regulations 2009 or any facility established and maintained 

by the appropriate authority for the purpose of receiving applications 

under this Schedule electronically. 

 
Fees 
 

3.21 Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act states that an application for the grant, 

renewal, variations or transfer of a sex establishment licence shall pay 

a reasonable fee determined by the appropriate authorities, but does 

not expand on what would be considered to be reasonable.                                               

 

3.22 However, local authorities should have regard to the following 

documents when determining their fee: The European Services 

Page 143



 

 18

                                                

Directive: Guidance for Local Authorities3 and LACORS Guidance on 

the impact of the Services Directive on councils setting and 

administering local licence fees within the service sector.4

 

Objections 
 

3.23 When considering an application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a 

licence the appropriate authority should have regard to any 

observations submitted to it by the chief officer of police and any 

objections that they have received from anyone else within 28 of the 

application. Any person can object to an application but the objection 

should be relevant to the grounds set out in paragraph 12 for refusing a 

licence. Objections should not be based on moral grounds/values5 and 

local authorities should not consider objections that are not relevant to 

the grounds set out in paragraph 12. Objectors must give notice of their 

objection in writing, stating the general terms of the objection.  

 

3.24 Where the appropriate authority receives notice of any objection the 

authority shall, before considering the application, give notice in writing 

of the general terms of the objection to the applicant. However, the 

appropriate authority shall not without the consent of the person 

making the objection reveal their name or address to the applicant. 

 
Hearings  
 
3.25 Under paragraph 10(19) of Schedule 3, before refusing an application, 

all applicants should be given the opportunity to appear before and be 

heard by the local authority committee or sub-committee that is 

responsible for determining the application.  

 

3.26 Schedule 3 does not make explicit provision for objectors to be heard, 

but this does not mean that such hearings cannot take place. Rather, 

case law on this matter states that while local authorities are under no 

 
3 http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file50026.pdf  
4 www.lacors.gov.uk
5 R v Newcastle upon Tyne City Council ex parte The Christian Institute [2001] B.L.G.R. 165 

Page 144

http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file50026.pdf
http://www.lacors.gov.uk/


 

 19

                                                

obligation to offer an oral hearing to objectors, they may do so at their 

discretion. Although a local authority is under a duty to consider any 

objections made within 28 days of the application, it has discretion to 

hear later objections provided the applicant is given the opportunity to 

deal with those objections.6

 
Refusal of a Licence 
 
3.27 Paragraph 12 of Schedule 3 sets out the grounds for refusing an 

application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence.  

 

A licence must not be granted:  

(a)    to a person under the age of 18; 

(b)    to a person who is for the time being disqualified due to the 

person having had a previous licence revoked in the area of the 

appropriate authority within the last 12 months; 

(c)    to a person, other than a body corporate, who is not resident in an 

EEA State or was not so resident throughout the period of six 

months immediately preceding the date when the application was 

made; or 

(d)    to a body corporate which is not incorporated in an EEA State; or 

(e)    to a person who has, within a period of 12 months immediately 

preceding the date when the application was made, been refused 

the grant or renewal of a licence for the premises, vehicle, vessel 

or stall in respect of which the application is made, unless the 

refusal has been reversed on appeal. 

 

3.28 A licence may be refused where: 

(a)    the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of having 

been convicted of an offence or for any other reason; 

(b)    if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the 

business to which it relates would be managed by or carried on for 

the benefit of a person, other than the applicant, who would be 

refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a licence if he made 

the application himself; 
 

6 R v Plymouth City Council v Quietlynn [1998] Q.B. 114.  
Page 145



 

 20

                                                

(c)    the number of sex establishments, or of sex establishments of a 

particular kind, in the relevant locality at the time the application is 

determined is equal to or exceeds the number which the authority 

consider is appropriate for that locality; 

(d)    that the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, 

having regard— 

(i)     to the character of the relevant locality; or 

(ii)    to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or 

(iii)   to the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, 

vessel or stall in respect of which the application is made. 

 

3.29 A decision to refuse a licence must be relevant to one or more of the 

above grounds.  

 

3.30 When determining a licence application, the local authority must have 

regard to any rights the applicant may have under Article 10 (right to 

freedom of expression) and Article 1, Protocol 1 (protection of property) 

of the European Convention on Human Rights.7  

 

3.31 The Provision of Services Regulations 20098 amended Schedule 3 to 

the 1982 Act to state that, if having considered an application for the 

grant, renewal or transfer of a licence, the appropriate authority 

decides to refuse it on one or more of the above grounds, it must 

provide the applicant with reasons for the decision in writing. 

 

Relevant Locality  
 
3.32 Paragraph 12(3)(c) and 12(3)(d) of Schedule 3 allow appropriate 

authorities to refuse applications on grounds related to an assessment 

of the “relevant locality”. A licence can be refused if either, at the time 

the application is determined the number of sex establishments, or sex 

establishments of a particular kind, in the relevant locality is equal to or 

exceeds the number that the authority considers appropriate for that 

locality; or that a sex establishment would be inappropriate having 

 
7 Belfast City Council v Miss Behavin’ Ltd (Northern Ireland) (2007) [2007] UKHL 19 
8 Regulation 47 

Page 146



 

 21

                                                

regard to the character of the relevant locality, the use to which any 

premises in the vicinity are put or the layout, character or condition of 

the premises.  Nil may be the appropriate number. 

 

3.33 Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act does not define “relevant locality” further 

than to say that: 

(a)    in relation to premises, it is the locality where they are situated; 

and 

(b)    in relation to a vehicle, vessel or stall, any locality where it is 

desired to use it as a sex establishment. 

 

3.34 Clearly, the decision regarding what constitutes the ‘relevant locality’ is 

a matter for the appropriate authority.  However, such questions must 

be decided on the facts of the individual application.9  

 

3.35 Therefore, it is reasonable and potentially useful to future applicants, 

for a local authority to decide in advance of receiving any applications 

that certain areas are, or are not, appropriate locations for a sex 

establishment or a particular number of sex establishments. 

Nevertheless, all applications must be considered on their individual 

merits. 

 

3.36 When considering a particular application case law has indicated that 

the relevant locality does not have to be a clearly pre-defined area nor 

are local authorities required to be able to define its precise 

boundaries. Therefore, while a local authority is not prevented from 

defining the exact area of the relevant locality, it is equally free to 

conclude that it simply refers to the area which surrounds the premises 

specified in the application and does not require further definition. 

Nevertheless a local authority’s view of what constitutes a locality could 

be open to challenge if they took a completely unreasonable view of 

the area covered, for example, by concluding that two sex 

establishments 200 miles away from one another were in the same 

 
9 See R v Peterborough City Council ex parte Quietlynn 85 L.G.R. 249 for further guidance.  

Page 147



 

 22

                                                

locality. Case law also indicates that a relevant locality cannot be an 

entire local authority area or an entire town or city.10      

 

3.37 Once the appropriate authority has determined the relevant locality, it 

should seek to make an assessment of the ‘character’ of the relevant 

locality and how many, if any, sex establishments, or sex 

establishments of a particular kind, it considers appropriate for that 

relevant locality. 

 

3.38 Section 27 amends paragraph 12(3)(c) of Schedule 3 to allow local 

authorities to determine an appropriate number of sex establishments 

of a particular kind. In practice, this means that the appropriate 

authority may, for example, decide that a particular locality is suitable 

for a sex shop but is not suitable for a sexual entertainment venue or 

vice versa.  

 
Licence Conditions 
 
3.39 Once the appropriate authority has decided to grant a licence they are 

able to impose terms, conditions and restrictions on that licence, either 

in the form of conditions specific to the individual licence under 

paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 or standard conditions applicable to all sex 

establishments, or particular types of sex establishments, prescribed 

by regulations made by the appropriate authority under paragraph 13 

of Schedule 3.  

 

3.40 Paragraph 13 provides examples of the matters that standard 

conditions may address which include but are not restricted to: 

• The hours of opening and closing 

• Displays and advertisements on or in sex establishments 

• The visibility of the interior of a sex establishment to passers-by 

• Any change of use from one kind of sex establishment to another 

 

 
10 R v Peterborough City Council ex parte Quietlynn 85 L.G.R. 249  

Page 148



 

 23

3.41 Where the appropriate authority decides to produce standard 

conditions under paragraph 13 they will apply to every licence granted, 

renewed or transferred by the authority unless they have been 

expressly excluded or varied.   

 
3.42 Most sexual entertainment venues will require a 2003 Act licence as 

well as a sex establishment licence. Where this is the case, local 

authorities should avoid duplicating licence conditions and should 

ensure that conditions imposed on the each licence are relevant to the 

activities authorised by that licence. For example, conditions relating to 

the sale of alcohol should only appear on a premises licences or clubs 

premises certificate and should not be imposed on sexual 

entertainment venue licence. Likewise, conditions relating the 

provisions of relevant entertainment should appear on the sexual 

entertainment venue licence and not a premises licence or club 

premises certificate. Local authorities should also avoid imposing 

conditions on either licence that are contradictory.  
 
Duration of Licences 
 
3.43 Licences for sex establishments can be granted for up to one year.  

 
Appeals 
 
3.44 In the event that the appropriate authority refuses an application for the 

grant, renewal or transfer of a sex establishment licence the applicant 

may appeal the decision in a magistrates’ court, unless the application 

was refused under 12(3)(c) or (d), in which  case the applicant can only 

challenge the refusal by way of judicial review.     

 
Licensing Policies 
 
3.45 While local authorities are not required to publish a licensing policy 

relating to sex establishments they can do so if they wish as long as it 

Page 149



 

 24

                                                

does not prevent any individual application from being considered on 

its merits at the time the application is made.11  

 

3.46 A licensing policy for sex establishments might include statements 

about where local authorities are likely to consider to be appropriate or 

inappropriate locations for such venues. This could be set out in 

general terms by reference to a particular type of premises, such as a 

school or place of worship, or more specifically, by reference to a 

defined locality. 

 

3.47 Local authorities could also use a licensing policy to indicate how many 

sex establishments, or sex establishments of a particular kind, they 

consider to be appropriate for a particular locality.  

 

3.48 Local authorities can also produce different policies or a separate set of 

criteria for different types of sex establishments. This might be 

appropriate to reflect distinctions between the operating requirements 

of different sex establishments or the fact that the location that a local 

authority considers appropriate for a sex shop may be different to that 

of a sexual entertainment venue.    

 
Offences 
 

3.49 The offences under Schedule 3 are set out in paragraphs 20 to 23 of 

that Schedule and include:  

• knowingly causing or permitting the use of any premises as a sex 

establishment without a licence;  

• being the holder of a licence, knowingly employing a person in a 

sex establishment who is disqualified from holding a licence;  

• being the holder of a licence, knowingly contravenes, or without 

reasonable excuse knowingly permits the contravention of, a term, 

condition or restriction specified in a licence;   

• being the servant or agent of the holder of a licence, without 

reasonable excuse knowingly contravenes, or without reasonable 

 
11 R v Peterborough City Council ex parte Quietlynn Ltd (1986) 85 LGR 249    

Page 150



 

 25

excuse knowingly permits the contravention of, a term, condition or 

restriction specified in a licence; 

• being the holder of a licence, without reasonable excuse knowingly 

permits a person under the age of 18 to enter the establishment  

• being the holder of a licence, employs a person known to them to 

be under 18 years of age in the business of the establishment. 

 

3.50 A person guilty of any of the above offences is liable on summary 

conviction to a fine not exceeding £20,000.  

 

3.51 It is also an offence for the holder of a licence, without reasonable 

excuse to fail to exhibit a copy of the licence and any standard 

conditions applicable to the licence in a suitable place as specified in 

the licence. A person guilty to this offence shall be liable on summary 

conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.  

 

Provisions Relating to Existing Premises 
 
3.52 Where a local authority resolves that Schedule 3 apply in their area 

having not previously made such a resolution, paragraphs 28 and 29 

will have effect for the purpose of sex shop, sex cinemas and hostess 

bars, but will not have effect for the purpose of sexual entertainment 

venues. The transitional provisions relating to sexual entertainment 

venues are explained in part 4 of this guidance. 

 
The Services Directive 
 
3.53 Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act constitutes an authorisation scheme under 

Article 9 of the EU Services Directive 2006/123/EC (“the Directive”) 

which was implemented in the UK by the Provision of Services 

Regulations 2009 (“2009 Regulations”), which came into force on 28th 

December 2009. Local authorities must ensure they comply with the 

Regulations when applying the licensing provisions in Schedule 3.  

 

3.54 The Department of Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) has produced 

guidance for both businesses and local authorities to assist in 
Page 151



 

 26

understanding the impact of the Directive and 2009 Regulations and 

what service providers and relevant authorities must do in order to 

comply. Both guidance documents can be found on the BIS website: 

http://www.berr.gov.uk/whatwedo/europeandtrade/europe/services-

directive/page9583.html    

 

3.55 In particular, the 2009 Regulations may affect the way in which local 

authorities set application fees, process applications and grant 

licences.   

Page 152

http://www.berr.gov.uk/whatwedo/europeandtrade/europe/services-directive/page9583.html
http://www.berr.gov.uk/whatwedo/europeandtrade/europe/services-directive/page9583.html


 

 27

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 
 
4.1 This section provides guidance on the transitional provisions as set out 

in the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (Commencement No.1, and 

Transitional and Saving Provisions)(England) Order 2010 (“the 

Transitional Order”) and the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(Consequential Provisions)(England) Order 2010 (“the Consequential 

Order”) and the equivalent orders made by Welsh Ministers for Wales.   

 
Transitional Period  
 

4.2 The ‘transitional period’ will last for 12-months beginning with the date 

that the local authority resolves that Schedule 3 as amended by the 

2009 Act will come into force in their area (‘the 1st appointed day’). Six 

months following the 1st appointed day will be known as the ‘2nd 

appointed day’ and the day on which the transitional period ends will be 

known as the ‘3rd appointed day’.  

 

4.3 The appointed days will vary across local authority areas depending on 

when individual local authorities resolve that the provisions will come 

into force in their area.   

 
Existing Operators 
 

4.4 To allow time to comply with the new regime, existing operators, who, 

immediately before the 1st appointed day, have a 2003 Act licence and 

lawfully use premises as a sexual entertainment venue under that 

licence or are undertaking preparatory work to use the venue in that 

way will be allowed to continue to provide relevant entertainment until 

the 3rd appointed day or the determination of any application they have 

submitted before that time (including any appeal against the refusal to 

grant a licence), whichever is later. 

 

 

 

 
Page 153



 

 28

4.5 “Preparatory work” refers to work carried out by an operator, such as a 

refurbishment or refit, in order that they can use the premises as a 

sexual entertainment venue in the future. The operator will have been 

granted a 2003 Act licence before the 1st appointed day but will not 

have used the premises as a sexual entertainment venue by that date.  

It is likely that such operators will be known to a local authority. 

However, where a dispute arises between a local authority and an 

licence-holder over whether the licence-holder qualifies as an existing 

operator by virtue of this provision the local authority will need to seek 

evidence from the licence-holder to demonstrate that they clearly 

intended to operate a sexual entertainment venue in the future and 

work had been done to achieve this end.  

 

4.6 For the purposes of the Transitional Order a “2003 Act Licence” means 

a premises licence or club premises certificate under which it is lawful 

to provide relevant entertainment. 

 

New Applicants 
 
4.7 New applicants are people who wish to use premises as a sexual 

entertainment venue after the 1st appointed day but do not already 

have a premises licence or club premises certificate to operate as such 

under the 2003 Act or do have such a licence but have not taken any 

steps towards operating as such. After the 1st appointed day new 

applicants will not be able to operate as a sexual entertainment venue 

until they have been granted a sexual entertainment venue licence.  

 
Determining Applications Received On or Before the 2nd Appointed Day 
 
4.8 Applicants will be able to submit their application for a sexual 

entertainment venue from the 1st appointed day onwards. 

 

 

 

 

Page 154



 

 29

4.9 As the appropriate authority is able to refuse applications having regard 

to the number of sex establishment they consider appropriate for a 

particular locality, all applications made on or after the 1st appointed 

day but on or before the 2nd appointed day shall be considered 

together. This will ensure that applicants are given sufficient time to 

submit their application and all applications received on or before the 

2nd appointed day are considered on their individual merit and not on a 

first come first serve basis.   

 

4.10 No applications shall be determined before the 2nd appointed day.  

After the 2nd appointed day the appropriate authority shall decide what 

if any licences should be granted. If a new applicant is granted a 

licence it will take effect immediately. If an existing operator is granted 

a licence, it will not take effect until the 3rd appointed day, up to which 

point they will be allowed to continue to operate under their existing 

premises licence or club premises certificate. 

 

Determining Applications Received After the 2nd Appointed Day 
 

4.11 Applications made after the 2nd appointed day shall be considered 

when they are made but only once all applications made on or before 

that date have been determined. However, reference to determination 

here does not include references to the determination of any appeal 

against the refusal of a licence.     

 

4.12 As with applications received on or before the 2nd appointed day, 

licences granted to new applicants shall take effect immediately and 

licences granted to existing operators shall take effect from the 3rd 

appointed day or, if later, the date the application is determined. 

 

Outstanding Applications  
 

4.13 Local authorities should attempt where possible to determine 

outstanding applications made under the 2003 Act, which include an 

application for the provision of relevant entertainment, before the date 

Page 155



 

 30

that Schedule 3 as amended by the 2009 Act comes into force in their 

area.  

 

4.14 Where it has not been possible to determine application before the 1st 

appointed day, local authorities should advise applicants that they will 

need to submit an application for a sex establishment licence as set out 

in Schedule 3 if they wish to provide relevant entertainment. From the 

1st appointed day onwards outstanding applicants shall be dealt with 

as though they are new applicants.  

 
Existing Licence Conditions 
  

4.15 In many cases licences granted under the 2003 Act to existing 

operators will contain conditions that relate expressly and exclusively to 

the provision of relevant entertainment. Such a condition might prohibit 

contact between a performer and customer during a lap dance. In 

these cases, in order to avoid duplication, where conditions on 

premises licences or club premises certificates relate only to the 

provision of relevant entertainment, they shall be read as if they were 

deleted from the 3rd appointed day onwards. 

 

4.16 In cases where conditions on a premises licence or clubs premises 

certificate are inconsistent with, and less onerous than, the conditions 

in the licence granted under the 1982 Act they shall likewise be read as 

though they have been deleted.  

 

4.17 Where a local authority decides to grant a sex establishment licence to 

an existing operator, who is subject to conditions on their existing 

premises licence or club premises certificate that relate expressly to 

the provision of relevant entertainment, they may wish to replicate the 

existing conditions on the new sex establishment licence if they believe 

that the existing conditions are sufficient. However, they could equally 

decide to impose new conditions consistent with Schedule 3 if they 

believe that new or additional conditions are necessary.  

 

Page 156



 

 31

                                                

4.18 Although the Transitional Order does not require redundant conditions 

to be physically removed from a premises licence or club premises 

certificate, operators and local authorities may agree that this is 

desirable in order to clarify the operator’s legal obligations. Such 

changes can be made via the minor variations procedure under section 

41A of the 2003 Act. 

 

ECHR Considerations 
 
4.19 The Transitional Order allows local authorities to refuse applications, 

whether they are from existing operators or new applicants, on one or 

more grounds set out in paragraph 12 of Schedule 3.  When making 

such decisions, local authorities must take into account any rights the 

existing operators may have under Article 1, Protocol 1 of the 

European Convention on Human Rights (which entitles every person to 

the peaceful enjoyment of their possessions) and Article 10 (freedom of 

expression).   

 

4.20  In light of the leading case of Belfast City Council v Miss Behavin’ Ltd 

(Northern Ireland)12 it would be prudent for local authorities to assume 

that freedom of expression includes the right to use particular premises 

as sexual entertainment venues and that a person who is denied the 

right to use his premises as a sexual entertainment venue where he 

already has a licence to do so under the 2003 Act (or in future under 

the 1982 Act) has been deprived of possessions.  (Some Lords did not 

decide this point or disagreed that such rights were engaged and 

therefore it would still be open to local authorities to argue that such 

rights were not engaged in a particular case).  However, in any event, 

the House of Lords were agreed that such rights would only be 

engaged at a low level.  This led Lord Hoffman to say that if the local 

authority exercises its powers rationally and in accordance with the 

purposes of the statutory provisions, it would require very unusual facts 

for it to amount to a disproportionate restriction on Convention rights.  

 

 
 

12 [2007] UKHL 19 
Page 157



 

 32

4.21  Nevertheless, local authorities would be well advised to consider 

whether any interference with the applicant’s rights under Article 10 or 

Article 1, Protocol 1 of the European Convention on Human Rights is 

necessary and proportionate for the prevention of disorder or crime, for 

the protection of health or morals or for the protection of the rights and 

freedoms of others or, in the case of Article 1, Protocol 1, can be 

justified in the general interest.   

 

Changes to Licensing Policies  
 
4.22  Many local authorities who have already adopted Schedule 3 will have 

published a licensing policy for sex establishments. Such policies may 

provide a useful guide to potential applicants about whether a particular 

application is likely to be successful or not.  

 

4.23  Upon resolving to adopt the sexual entertainment venue provisions 

introduced by the 2009 Act, local authorities should ensure that their 

licensing policies for sex establishments are up to date and reflect the 

changes introduced by Section 27. This could mean updating existing 

policies or producing a policy specific to regulation of sexual 

entertainment venues.  

 
London  
 
Sex Encounter Establishments 
 

4.24  London local authorities which have adopted Schedule 3 to the 1982 

Act as amended by the Greater London Council (General Powers) Act 

1986 are able to regulate sex encounter establishments. However, 

under sub-paragraph 3A(i) premises that hold a premises licence or 

club premises certificate for the provision of regulated entertainment or 

late night refreshment are not regarded as sex encounter 

establishments. This means that, in practice, there are very few, if any, 

premises that are licensed as sex encounter establishments. 

 

Page 158



 

 33

4.25  Therefore, the transitional provisions set out that where a local 

authority, which has previously adopted provisions to regulate sex 

encounter establishments, passes a resolution to adopt Schedule 3, as 

amended by section 27, the existing sex encounter establishment 

category will be replaced by the new sexual entertainment venue 

category.  

 

4.26  In these circumstances, an existing sex encounter establishment 

licence will be treated as though it had been granted under the new 

sexual entertainment venue regime with any terms, conditions and 

restrictions carried over.  

 

Hostess Bars 
 
4.27  The hostess bar category of sex establishment, as introduced by 

section 33 of the London Local Authorities Act 2007, is largely 

unaffected by the 2009 Act provisions.  

 

4.28  In cases where a London local authority has already resolved that the 

hostess bar category has effect in their area, they will be able to retain 

this category after the amendments made by the 2009 Act have been 

adopted and the sex encounter establishment category has been 

repealed, subject to the amendments made to Schedule 3 by the 2009 

Act.   Where London local authorities have not adopted the sexual 

entertainment venue provisions, it will still be open for them to resolve 

to adopt the hostess bar category after the 2009 Act provisions have 

been adopted without having to adopt the sex encounter establishment 

category.  

  
Soliciting for Custom 
 
4.29  Under Section 22 of the London Local Authorities Act 2004, as 

amended by Section 72 of the London Local Authorities Act 2007, it is 

an offence in London to solicit for custom for a sex establishment. 

However, paragraph 2A provides a defence if the premises concerned 

are licensed under Part 3 of the 2003 Act. 
Page 159



 

 34

 

4.30  When a London local authority resolves to adopt the provisions 

introduced by Section 27, it will be a defence if the premises are 

licensed as a sexual entertainment venue under Schedule 3 of the 

1982 Act or are operating lawfully under a 2003 Act licence during the 

transitional period at the time of the alleged offence.   

 

Page 160



 

 35

ANNEX A: GUIDE TO TRANSITIONAL PERIOD AND EXISTING 
OPERATORS  
 

Yes

Yes

No  
 

SEV licence not 
required  

 

Has the local 
authority adopted 
powers to regulate 
SEVs? (Contact 
local authority if 

uncertain) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No

No

Yes 

Yes

Yes No

No

Yes No

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appointed Days 
 
1st Appointed Day 
The day on which the SEV regime 
comes into force in a local 
authority area and the beginning of 
the transitional period 
 
2nd Appointed Day 
The day 6 months after the 1st 
appointed day 
 
3rd Appointed Day 
The day 6 months after the 2nd 
appointed day and the end of the 
transitional period 
 
NB: If you are uncertain as to what 
dates the appointed days will fall 
please contact your local authority.  

SEV licence not 
required or see 
guide for new 

applicants if you 
want to operate an 

SEV 

Are you an 
existing operator? 
(See guidance or 

contact local 
authority if 
uncertain) 

 

 
Allowed to operate 
as a SEV until the 
3rd appointed day 

under existing 
authorisation  

 
Do you want to 
operate a SEV 
after the 3rd 

appointed day? 
 

Have you 
submitted a SEV 
application on or 

before the 2nd 
appointed day? 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
All Application 
received on or 

before 2nd 
appointed day 

considered 
together  

Application 
considered once 

applications 
received on or 

before 2nd 
appointed day 

have been 
determined 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Granted? Granted?  
 
 

 
SEV licence takes 

effect on 3rd 
appointed date or 

when granted, 
whichever is later 

 

Can continue to 
operate as an SEV 

until the 3rd 
appointed day or 
the application 
(including any 

appeal) is 
determined, 

whichever is later 

 
SEV licence takes 

effect on 3rd 
appointed date or 

when granted, 
whichever is later 

 
 

Can continue to 
operate as a SEV 

until the 3rd 
appointed date or 

the application 
(including any 

appeal)  is 
determined, 

whichever is later 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 161



 

 36

ANNEX B: GUIDE TO TRANSITIONAL PERIOD AND NEW 
APPLICANTS 
 
 
 

Yes

Yes

No  
 

SEV licence not 
required 

 

Has the local 
authority adopted 
powers to regulate 
SEVs? (Contact 
local authority if 

uncertain) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appointed Days 
 
1st Appointed Day 
The day on which the SEV regime 
comes into force in a local 
authority area and the beginning of 
the transitional period 
 
2nd Appointed Day 
The day 6 months after the 1st 
appointed day 
 
3rd Appointed Day 
The day 6 months after the 2nd 
appointed day and the end of the 
transitional period 
 
NB: If you are uncertain as to what 
dates the appointed days will fall 
please contact your local authority.  

Yes

No

 
 

See guide for 
existing operators 
 

Are you an 
existing operator? 
(See guidance or 

contact local 
authority if 
uncertain) 

 

No  
 

SEV licence not 
required 

 

 
 

Do you want to 
operate an SEV? 

 
Have you 

submitted a SEV 
application on or 

before the 2nd 
appointed day? 

Yes No

 
All Application 
received on or 

before 2nd 
appointed day 

considered 
together  

 

Application 
considered once 

applications 
received on or 

before 2nd 
appointed day 

have been 
determined 

Granted 

Yes No

Granted 

Yes No

 
SEV licence takes 

effect when 
granted 

 

 
Appeal decision or 

reapply for a 
licence 

 

 
SEV licence takes 

effect when 
granted 

 
 

 
Appeal decision or 

reapply for a 
licence 

 

Page 162



Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G 
 

 

 

Total Number of 
Representations = 14 
PO1 1 
PO3 1 
PO4 1 
PO5 2 
PO12 2 
Unknown address 7 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

PO1 PO3 PO4 PO5 PO12 Unknown
address

Series1 1 1 1 2 2 7

N
o.

 o
f R

ep
re

se
nt

at
io

ns
 

Geographical spread of representations 
received re Wiggle Surrey Street 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 167



Page 168



P
age 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 177



Page 178



P
age 179



P
age 180



Page 181



P
age 182



P
age 183



P
age 184



P
age 185



P
age 186



P
age 187



P
age 188



P
age 189



P
age 190



P
age 191



P
age 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



P
age 196



Page 197



P
age 198



P
age 199



P
age 200



Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE – 19 FEBRUARY 2018 
 
REPORT BY: LICENSING MANAGER 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: MRS NICKII HUMPHREYS 
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
Licensing of Sex Establishments - Sexual Entertainment Venue 
Application for the grant of a licence – Wellhot Ltd - Elegance 1 Granada 
Road  Southsea  PO4 0RD 
 

1.0 Purpose of report 
 

The purpose of this report is for the Committee to determine an application for 
the grant of a sexual entertainment venue licence in respect of the premises 
situated at 1 Granada Road, Southsea, Portsmouth, PO4 0RD and known by 
the name of Elegance.  The application has been submitted by Wellhot Ltd. 
 

2.0 Recommendation 
 

RECOMMENDED  
 

a) that the Committee determine the application for the grant of a 
sexual entertainment venue licence in respect of the premises 
situated at 1 Granada Road, Southsea, Portsmouth, PO4 0RD and 
known by the name of Elegance; and 
 

b) in determining this application, the Committee shall have regard to 
paragraph 7.10a of its statement of licensing policy as set out 
below: 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7.10 (relating to the 
numerical control on the number of sex establishments in a 
particular locality), the presumption to refuse shall not apply to: 
 

• The renewal, transfer or variation of an existing sex 
establishment licence; or 

• The grant of a new sex establishment licence, whereby an 
application was made during the transitional period 1 
November 2011 until 31 October 2012 to those premises that 
can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Licensing 
Authority that during the 12 months prior to the 
commencement of the transitional period they have been 
regularly providing sexual entertainment that previously 
was only regulated under the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 11 Page 203

Agenda Item 4



3.0 Adoption of Policy  
 
3.1 Portsmouth City Council ("PCC") originally adopted the provisions relating to 

Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982 (the “1982 Act”) in December 1982.  These provisions provided for 
the control of sex shops and sex cinemas together with the licensing 
requirements. 
 

3.2 On 22 March 2011 PCC decided to adopt Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act (as 
amended by section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (“the 2009 Act”)) 
so that it can regulate sexual entertainment venues (“SEVs”) in the City. 

 
3.3 On 21 September 2011 the Licensing Committee further considered its 

preferred approach in the formulation of its sex establishment licence policy 
and determined that the then Head of Legal, Licensing & Registrars be 
authorised to draft a policy for consideration and approval by the Licensing 
Committee, prior to public consultation, which was formulated upon the basis 
of identification of pre-determined localities and the imposition of numerical 
controls (Licensing Committee Minute No. 10/11 refers). 

 
3.4 Consultation took place on this policy between 1st March 2012 and 12th April 

2012 and the final policy was approved by the Licensing Committee on 12th 
October 2012.  (Licensing Committee minute 12/12 refers).  A copy of the 
current policy is attached as Appendix A to this report. 

 
3.5 A further meeting of the Licensing Committee was held on 23 October 2013 

when the adoption of standard conditions was agreed. (Licensing Committee 
minute 09/13 refers).  These conditions are set out from page 25 onwards of 
the current policy document. 
 

4.0 Background Information 
 
4.1 The application for the grant of a sexual entertainment venue licence in 

respect of the premises known as Elegance, situated at 1 Granada Road, 
Southsea Portsmouth has been submitted by Wellhot Ltd. 
 
The company directors listed for Wellhot Ltd are Mr Jaspal Singh Ojla 
(Managing Director) and Mrs Rashwinder Kaur Ojla (Director).  Wellhot Ltd is 
also the holder of the premises licence for these premises issued in 
accordance with the Licensing Act and Mr John-Cortin Fernandez is the 
designated premises supervisor who is in day-to-day charge of managing the 
premises.   

 
4.2 The applicant has confirmed that neither of its directors or the manager of the 

premises are not prone to any grounds for refusal set out in paragraph 12 of 
Schedule 3 to the Act (see sections 9 and 10 of this report as regards these 
grounds). 

 
4.3 The company wishes to operate the premises under the name of "Elegance" 

and wishes to trade between the hours of 22:00 and 04:00 every day.  
 

4.4 A copy of the application and associated documents is attached as Appendix 
B. 

Page 2 of 11 Page 204



 
4.5 The premises also benefit from a premises licence issued under the Licensing 

Act 2003 for the provision of the sale by retail by alcohol, regulated 
entertainment and late night refreshment.  This licence relates to all of the 
premises but the application for the lap dancing venue relates to the rear 
part of the building only. 
 

4.6 The premises licence issued in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 was 
first granted to Wellhot Ltd in 2005 and was previously licensed for the same 
purpose under the Licensing Act 1964.  A copy of the current premises licence 
is attached as Appendix C. 

 
5.0 Statutory Advertising Requirements 

 
5.1 Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act requires that the applicant give formal notice of an 

application for the grant of a sex establishment licence.  Satisfactory notice 
was given both to the Council and Chief Officer of Police.  Equally, appropriate 
public notice was displayed on the premises and given in the Portsmouth 
News. 

 
6.0 Consultation with the Police and Council  
 
6.1 Details of the application were notified to the Chief Officer of Police, Chief Fire 

Officer, Planning Services, Director of Children, Families and Learning, City 
Centre Manager and Ward Councillors should they have wished to submit any 
representations. 

 
7.0 Objections Received 
 
7.1 As mentioned in paragraph 5.0 above, the Act requires the applicant to give 

formal notice of his application for the grant of a sex establishment licence. 
 
7.2 Paragraph 15 of the Act states that any person who wishes to object to an 

application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence shall give notice in 
writing of his objection to the licensing authority, stating in general terms the 
grounds of the objection, not later than 28 days after the date of the 
application.  Any person may object to an application.  However, objections 
must be relevant to the grounds set out in the 1982 Act (See sections 6 and 7 
of the statement of licensing policy.  Objections based solely on moral 
grounds/values must not be considered. 

 
7.3 Objections have been received in respect of the application for the grant of a 

licence and are attached as Appendix D.  The 1982 Act protects the rights of 
objectors to remain anonymous. The Licensing Authority will not reveal names 
or addresses of any objector without their consent.  However, general 
information such as if the objector lives within a certain distance of the 
premises in question will be released in order to given the applicant an 
opportunity to rebut any concerns so far as geographical vicinity or locality is 
concerned. 

 
 
 

 
Page 3 of 11 Page 205



8.0 The Legislation – Summary and interpretation 
 
8.1 In considering this application, the Committee is asked to note various 

statutory definitions concerning the licensing of sex establishments which may 
assist their consideration of this application. 

 
8.2 The Committee is reminded that they are sitting in a quasi-judicial capacity 

and thus are obliged to consider the application in accordance with the rules of 
natural justice and have regard to the established procedure order that has 
been used by the Committee in considering applications.  The Committee 
must determine the application on merit.  No decision, opinions or factual 
findings must be based on “moral” grounds and all the facts must be 
considered before reaching a decision. 

 
8.3 A sex establishment is either a sex shop, a sex cinema or sexual 

entertainment venue.  In this case the application is for the grant of a sexual 
entertainment venue in respect of 1 Granada Road. 
 

8.4 A sexual entertainment venue is legally defined as follows:- 
 
"Any premises at which relevant entertainment is provided before a live 
audience for the financial gain of the organiser or entertainer." Relevant 
entertainment is defined as:  
 
"Any live performance or live display of nudity which is of such a nature that, 
ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or 
principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of an audience 
(whether by verbal or other means)".  
 
In terms of considering what constitutes “relevant entertainment” each case 
shall be judged on its merits but the informal guidance produced by the Home 
Office suggests that the definition of relevant entertainment would apply to the 
following forms of entertainment as they are most commonly understood:  
 

• Lap dancing  
• Pole dancing  
• Table dancing  
• Strip shows  
• Peep shows  
• Live sex shows.  

 
However, the above list is not exhaustive and, as the understanding of the 
exact nature of these descriptions may vary, should merely be used as an 
indicator for certain types of entertainment as ultimately decisions to licence 
premises as sexual entertainment venues shall depend on the content of the 
entertainment provided and not the name it is given. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4 of 11 Page 206



8.5 The following are not sexual entertainment venues: 
 

• Sex cinemas and sex shops; 
 

• Premises which provide entertainment on an infrequent basis. 
These are defined as premises where:- 

 
a) No relevant entertainment has been provided on more than 

11 occasions within a 12 month period; 
 
 

b) No such occasion has begun within a period of one month 
beginning with the end of the previous occasions; and 
 

c) No such occasion has lasted longer than 24 hours. 
 

• Other premises or types of performances or displays exempted by an 
order of the Secretary of State; 

 
• Private dwellings with no public admittance. 

 
8.6 General guidance has been produced by the Home Office in relation to SEVs 

and this is attached as Appendix E. 
 
8.7 A licence can be granted and/or renewed for a period of 1 year or such shorter 

period as considered necessary.  Licences can be granted subject to terms, 
conditions or restrictions and can be cancelled, revoked and transferred. 
 

8.8 The Committee has a duty to have regard to the comments of the Chief Officer 
of Police.  

 
9.0 Statutory Refusal of Licences 
 
9.1 The Act sets out a number of statutory grounds where licences cannot be 

granted.  These grounds are: 
 

a) A licence cannot be granted to a person under 18, 
 

b) A licence cannot be granted to a person disqualified under the 
Act, 

 
c) A licence cannot be granted to a person not resident in the UK, 

 
d) A licence cannot be granted to a body corporate which is not 

incorporated in the UK, 
 

e) A licence cannot be granted to a person who has, within 12 
months immediately before the date of an application, been 
refused the grant of a licence for the same premises. 

 
The above provisions do not apply to this applicant. 
 

 
 
 

Page 5 of 11 Page 207



10.0 Discretionary Refusal of Licences 
 
10.1 The Act allows for licences to be refused using discretion, for which careful 

and balanced reasons should be given in the following manner: 
 

> That the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of having 
been convicted of an offence or for any other reason.   

 
> If the licence were to be granted, the business to which it relates would be 

managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the 
applicant who would be refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a 
licence if he made the application himself. 

 
> That the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time 

the application is made is equal to or exceeds the number which the 
Authority consider is appropriate for that locality 

 
> That the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate having 

regard 
  

i to the character of the relevant locality 
ii to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put or 
iii to the layout character or condition of the premises in respect to 

which the application is made 
 
11.0 Sex Establishment Policy Guidelines 

 
11.1 The current policy in relation to the consideration of applications in respect of 

discretionary grounds for refusal of licences are set out in section 7 of the sex 
establishment licensing policy adopted by the Licensing Committee.  Members 
may wish to refer to the following policy guidelines when determining this 
application: 

 
11.2 Unsuitability of applicant  

 
When considering the suitability or otherwise of an applicant, the Licensing 
Authority will have due regard to not only whether or not an applicant has been 
convicted of an offence but any other grounds which would call into question 
his/her suitability.  
 
Para 7.3 - The Licensing Authority will wish to be satisfied that:  
 

• The applicant is sufficiently trustworthy to run the sex establishment in 
accordance with the terms and conditions imposed on any licence 
granted, as well as the law; 

• The welfare of the performers at the licensed premises will be 
protected;  

• That the safety of the public attending the premises will be provided 
for; and  

• The needs and rights of persons/businesses living or working in the 
area, and indeed the area itself, are recognised and respected.  

Page 6 of 11 Page 208



 
Para 7.6 - In considering the overall suitability of an applicant to hold a licence, 
the following factors will be taken into account by the Licensing Authority: 
  

• Honesty and integrity of the applicant;  
• Relevant experience of running similar sex establishments;  
• Understanding of the terms and conditions relating to sex 

establishments;  
• Reliability to run the premises in accordance with the licence;  
• Track record of compliance in relation to other premises and/or 

licensing regimes;  
• Intention to manage the premises himself or to employ others in that 

role;  
• Existence or otherwise of a management structure to demonstrate 

compliance with operating conditions incorporating such matters as:  
 

 Managerial competence  
 Presence  
 Credible management structure, which will include 

employment of individuals who have sufficient experience in 
running such premises  

 Internal enforcement of rules (including training, monitoring, 
publication of rates for performers and customers)  

 Viable business plan  
 Demonstrate ability to act in the best interests of performers  
 Preparation and enforcement of a written welfare policy for   

performers  
 Procedures in place to ensure performers are adults and 

entitled to live and work in UK  
 Demonstrate measures to protect the public (such as 

transparent rate of charges and prevention of solicitation)  
 
In all cases, the Licensing Authority will give serious consideration to the 
observations of the Chief Officer of Police in relation to concerns expressed 
about the suitability of an individual applicant, body corporate or an individual 
officer of a company. 
 

11.3 Unsuitable manager of the business or other beneficiary 
 
Para 7.7 - The Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that the proposed 
premises and activities are not a device to facilitate illegal activity and that 
those persons in ultimate control of the sex establishment can demonstrate 
that they will operate the premises in such a manner so as to promote the 
objectives of the legislation. 

 
11.4 Number of sex establishments 

 
Para 7.8 - PCC recognises that the Act allows discretion by the Licensing 
Authority to impose a numerical control on the number of sex establishments 
in a particular locality (including the provision that nil may be an appropriate 

Page 7 of 11 Page 209



number) and that this control can apply to both the overall number of sex 
establishments and also the number of each kind. 
 

11.5 Para - 7.10 ………..  the Licensing Authority has reached the preliminary 
conclusion that there is no place within the City of Portsmouth of which it could 
be said that it was situated in a locality in which it would be appropriate to 
licence a sex establishment.  
 
Para - 7.10a  Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7.10 above 
(relating to the numerical control on the number of sex establishments in 
a particular locality), the presumption to refuse shall not apply to:  
 

• The renewal, transfer or variation of an existing sex 
establishment licence; or  

 
• The grant of a new sex establishment licence, whereby an 

application was made during the transitional period 1 November 
2011 until 31 October 2012 to those premises that can 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority that 
during the 12 months prior to the commencement of the 
transitional period they have been regularly providing sexual 
entertainment that previously was only regulated under the 
Licensing Act 2003.  

 
11.6 Character of the relevant locality 

 
Para 7.11 - Applicants should be aware that the Licensing Authority may 
refuse a licence on this ground regardless of what may or may not be an 
appropriate number of sex establishment licences within the locality.  
In considering whether it is appropriate to grant a licence having regard to the 
character of the relevant locality, the Licensing Authority will take account of 
the following factors, together with such other factors as may be considered 
relevant in the individual circumstances of the case:  
 

• The general character of the area (e.g. family residential, family 
leisure or educational area);  

• The impact of the premises on the character of the area;  
• The current use for night-time leisure activities including existing 

sufficient representation of sex-orientated uses;  
• Gender equality issues, including whether the proposed use, 

particularly at night, would deter women from using the area 
comfortably or at all);  

• Raising the fear of crime in the locality should further sex-orientated 
uses be authorised;  

• Effects upon regeneration and tourism in the area;  
• Level of genuine demand (including the risk that excess supply would 

drive down standards and lead to problems associated with 
compliance with conditions.  

 
 

Page 8 of 11 Page 210



11.7 Use of premises in the vicinity  
 

Para 7.12 - Applications for sex establishment licences may be refused where 
the Licensing Authority considers that the grant of a licence would be 
inappropriate having regard to the use of other premises in the vicinity. Whilst 
the term “vicinity” is not defined in the 1982 Act, the Licensing Authority 
considers that “vicinity” will be a smaller area than “locality” as referred to in 
paragraph 7.8 above.  
 
Para 7.13 - Applicants should be aware that the Licensing Authority may 
refuse a licence on this ground regardless of the character of a locality or 
indeed what may or may not be an appropriate number of sex establishment 
licences within it.  
 
Para 7.14 - When considering the type of uses which may be deemed to be 
inappropriate, due regard will be given to the suitability of the proposed 
location of the premises and will take into account relevant factors including, 
but not limited to, the presence of what may be regarded as sensitive issues 
(e.g. dwellings, places of worship, schools, youth clubs, community centres, 
women’s refuges, libraries, parks or swimming pools)  
 
Para 7.15  - Without prejudice to the above, applicants should also be aware 
that applications for sex establishment licences will normally be refused if they 
are proposed to be located in the vicinity of:  
 

• Places of worship;  
• Swimming pools;  
• Leisure centres;  
• Parks;  
• Youth centres;  
• Historic buildings;  
• Tourist attractions;  
• Educational premises;  
• Schools;  
• Play areas;  
• Nurseries;  
• Children’s centres;  

 
Or any other similar premises.  

 
11.8 Layout, character or condition  
 

Para 7.17 - When considering the issue of a licence in terms of its layout, 
character or condition, the Licensing Authority will give consideration to 
general factors such as:  
 

• Provision of proper access for disabled people;  
• Safe in terms of its structure and overall standards of maintenance for 

the building;  
• Sufficient provision for surveillance and overall supervision;  
• Standard of fit out of the premises;  

 
Page 9 of 11 Page 211



While the Licensing Authority will not refuse a licence merely because the 
premises do not have planning permission for use as a sex establishment, the 
authority will take into account the absence of planning permission to the 
extent relevant to the statutory grounds for renewal. 
 

11.9 Plans and photographs of the immediate area are attached for consideration 
as Appendix E. 

 
12.0 Consideration of the Application 
 
12.1 The Committee must consider the application having regard to the factors 

outlined in this report. 
 
12.2 If the Committee is mindful to grant the licence, the Committee should 

consider whether or not it is appropriate to impose conditions.  Conditions may 
be “standard” and/or contain special conditions to reflect on individual 
premises. 
 

12.3 A copy of the Council’s current standard conditions and those specific to 
sexual entertainment venues are attached as appendices to the sex 
establishment policy in Appendix A. 
 

12.4 If the Committee is mindful of refusing the application then valid, proportionate 
and relevant reasons must be given in writing and within 7 days to the 
applicant.  There are no grounds to statutorily refuse the application and 
therefore the Committee’s deliberations must be concentrated on the following 
discretionary options to refuse: 
 

• Are the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time 
the application is made equal to or exceed the number which the 
Committee consider is appropriate for that authority? 

 
• Is the grant of the licence inappropriate having regard to; 

 
the character of the relevant locality; 
the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or 
the layout, character or condition of the premises. 

 
13.0 Human Rights 

 
13.1 The Human Rights Act 1998 applies to this matter.  The Committee must act 

proportionately and consider the rights of all parties affected by the 
application. 

 
14.0 Appeals 

 
If the Committee refuse the grant of the licence, there is a right of appeal to 
the Magistrates’ Court. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 10 of 11 Page 212



15.0 Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Copy of the current sex establishment licence policy; 
 
Appendix B – Copy of the application together with associated documents; 
 
Appendix C - Copy of the current premises licence issued under the Licensing    

Act 2003 
 
Appendix D - Copies of objections received;  
 
Appendix E - Home Office Guidance relating to SEVs; and  
 
Appendix F – Plan of the immediate area; 
 
Appendix G - Geographical Analysis of Representations; 
 
Appendix H - Photographs of premises. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

………………………………………….. 
               Licensing Manager  
                                                                      For Head of Service      

 

Page 11 of 11 Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Sex Establishment Licensing Policy 
October 2012 
 

 

Page 1 of 37 
 Page 215



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final 
  
1.0 Background to Consultation on Policy 

 
 
1.1 On 22 March 2011 Portsmouth City Council (“PCC”) decided to adopt Schedule 3 of the 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the 1982 Act”) (as amended by 
section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (“the 2009 Act”)) so that it can regulate 
sexual entertainment venues (“SEVs”)  in the City.   

 
1.2 For ease of reference, the full resolution of PCC is set out below (Council Minute No. 

31/11 refers):  
 

• Council note that at its meeting on 23 February 2011, the Licensing Committee 
considered the recent amendments to the 1982 Act and recommended that 
Council adopt the new licensing arrangements for SEVs; 

 
• Council resolve to adopt Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982, as amended by section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 
2009, and the following recommendations shall apply: 
 

• That the new statutory provisions shall apply to the Portsmouth UA area with 
effect from 1 November 2011; 

 
• That Council arranges for its Licensing Committee to discharge its statutory 

functions (including the setting of fees) under Schedule 3 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended; 
 

• That the Licensing Manager be given authority to arrange formal publication of the 
statutory notices in a local newspaper; 
 

• In such cases where no objections are made to the grant, renewal, transfer or 
variation of such licences, the City Solicitor be given delegated authority to 
approve such applications; 
 

• That the Licensing Manager prepares a draft policy together with standard 
conditions applicable to sexual entertainment venues for consideration and 
adoption by the Licensing Committee and that the Licensing Manager should 
include in that draft policy his/her consideration of whether applications should be 
refused if they are within three miles of any place of worship, swimming pool, 
leisure centre, park, youth centre, historic building, tourist attraction, educational 
premises, school, play area, nursery, children’s centre or similar premises. 

 
1.3 Those parts of Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act relating to sex shops and sex cinemas have 

previously been adopted by resolution of the Council on 27 October 1982 and continue to 
have effect. 

 
1.4 On 21 September 2011 the Licensing Committee further considered its preferred 

approach in the formulation of its draft sex establishment licence policy and determined 
that the then Head of Legal, Licensing & Registrars be authorised to draft a policy for 
consideration and approval by the Licensing Committee, prior to public consultation, 
which was formulated upon the basis of identification of pre-determined localities and the 
imposition of numerical controls (Licensing Committee Minute No. 10/11 refers). 

Page 2 of 37 
 

Page 216



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 
1.5 In preparing this policy, PCC recognised the important role that the regulatory agencies, 

licensed trade and local communities undertake and considers that their contribution of 
views was necessary in the formulation of this policy.  Therefore, prior to final approval 
and publication of the policy, PCC consulted widely on the draft proposals. 

 
1.6 Consultation on this policy took place with: 
 

• The Chief Officer of Police for Hampshire Constabulary; 
• Persons/bodies representative of existing operators of sex establishments in the 

licensing authority area; 
• Persons/bodies representative of those likely to be affected by or have an interest 

in the Policy which may include but is not limited to: 
• Regulatory bodies such as the Fire and Planning Authorities; 
• Community Safety and Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding; 
• Interested parties such as local residents associations, trade associations and 

interest groups. 
 
1.7 PCC had due regard to the views of those consulted on this policy and those responses 

were given appropriate weight when the policy was determined. 
 
1.8 Consultation took place on this policy between 1st March 2012 and 12th April 2012 and 

the final policy was approved by the Licensing Committee on 12th October 2012.  This 
policy will be subject to regular review and amendments may be made from time to time 
based upon any relevant government guidance, changes to legislation or local 
circumstances.   

 
1.9 Comments on this policy should be sent via email, post or fax to the following address: 
 
 The Licensing Manager 
 Licensing Service 
 Portsmouth City Council 
 Civic Offices 
 Guildhall Square 
 Portsmouth 
 PO1 2AL 
 
 Email:  licensing@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 
 Fax:  023 9283 4811 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 3 of 37 
 

Page 217

mailto:licensing@portsmouthcc.gov.uk


Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

2.0 Aim of the Policy 
 

 
2.1 The aim of this policy is to provide guidance for prospective applicants, persons who may 

wish to object to or support an application and members of the Council’s Licensing 
Committee when making a decision in respect of an application. 

 
2.2 Whilst each application will be considered on its individual merits, this policy is intended 

to give prospective applicants an early indication of whether their specific application is 
likely to be successful and the material facts that will be taken into consideration when 
determining an application.  This document also sets out the expectations of the 
Licensing Authority on the applicant when receiving an application.  

 
2.3 No policy will ever be considered absolute and there may be occasions where the 

Licensing Committee may depart from policy having regard to the unique characteristics 
of any one particular application. 

 
3.0 Introduction 

 
 

3.1 In this policy we refer to these categories of uses as “sex establishments” unless we say 
otherwise. 

 
3.2 The role of PCC when undertaking its statutory function as the Licensing Authority is to 

administer the licensing regime in accordance with the law and will not exercise its duties 
in accordance with any moral standing and will not take into account any unrelated or 
non-germane considerations that would call into question the validity or vires of any 
subsequent decision(s) made.  All decisions will be based on the facts of an individual 
case and having regard to any policy in force.  PCC recognises that Parliament has 
made it a lawful activity to operate a licensed sex establishment and such businesses are 
a legitimate part of the retail and leisure industries. 

 
3.3 This policy document relates to the administration of applications for licences for sex 

establishments.  Sex establishments will fall into one of the following categories: 
 

• Sex shops 
• Sex cinemas 
• Sexual entertainment venues 

 
4.0 Background Information 

 
 

4.1 The City of Portsmouth is situated in the ceremonial County of Hampshire which contains 
11 District Councils in total. It is at the heart of Britain’s southern coastline, with long 
established direct rail and road links to London, 
the Midlands and Wales and close to three international airports. 
 
Portsmouth is undergoing rapid change, growing in confidence and developing a 
renewed sense of itself. As the UK’s only island city, this waterfront city combines 
centuries of maritime history with an attractive contemporary lifestyle. 

Page 4 of 37 
 

Page 218



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 
A significant naval port for centuries, it is home to the world’s oldest dry dock, which is 
still in use today, and to world-famous historic ships, including Admiral Lord Nelson’s 
flagship, HMS Victory, HMS Warrior 1860 and King Henry VIII’s Mary Rose. Now new 
investment around the harbour has transformed the waterfront and attracts generations 
of new visitors to the city. 
 
In recent years the city has hosted major international events including the International 
Fleet Review and in 2005 the events to mark 200 years after the Battle of Trafalgar. 
Portsmouth is also fast becoming the home of ocean racing, hosting the Global 
Challenge yacht race in 2004/5 and in 2006 the city is the only UK port chosen to host 
the Volvo Ocean Race. 
 
The Spinnaker Tower at Gunwharf Quays opened in 2005 and is a new icon for the city 
and the south coast. At 170 metres high, it has already changed the skyline forever and 
provides an unparalleled view of Portsmouth and the 
surrounding area from its three observation decks. 
 
This dynamic waterfront city still has an important role as a major dockyard and home 
base for the Royal Navy. BAE Systems has brought shipbuilding back to the city and in 
2006 HMS Clyde was the first ship launched 
here for 40 years. The council-owned commercial port also continues to thrive and 
serves more destinations on the continent with freight and passenger traffic than any 
other UK port. 
 
Portsmouth has a population of 200,000 in an area of only 4,196 hectares, which makes 
it one of the most densely occupied cities in the country outside London. 
 
Portsmouth offers a vibrant mix of entertainment facilities for residents and visitors alike. 
This ranges from theatres, restaurants, cinemas and concert venues to club premises, 
bars, nightclubs and pubs in various locations 
around the city. The provision of such facilities contributes much to the growth of the local 
economy for Portsmouth and offers an important role for employment within the city. 
 

4.2 At the time of drafting this policy, one licensed sex shop is operating in the City but for 
many years there were two sex shops operating in different parts of the City. 

 
5.0 Definitions 

 
  
5.1 For the purposes of this policy, the following definitions will apply, provided that any 

subsequent amendments to the 1982 Act will also be taken into account: 
 
5.2 Sex Shop1 
 
 Any premises, vessel, vehicle or stall used for a business which consists to a significant 

degree of selling, hiring, exchanging, lending, displaying or demonstrating: 
 

a) Sex articles; or 
 

1  Paras 4(1) & (2), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 

Page 5 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 219



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 
b) Other things intended for use in connection with, or for the purpose of stimulating or 

encouraging: 
 

• Sexual activity; or 
• Acts of force or restraint which are associated with sexual activity. 

 
No premises shall be treated as a sex shop by reason only of their use for the exhibition 
of moving pictures by whatever means produced. 
 

5.3 Sex Article2 
 
 Anything made for use in connection with, or for the purpose of stimulating or 

encouraging: 
 

i. Sexual activity; or 
ii. Acts of force or restraint which are associated with sexual activity; and 

anything to which the sub-paragraph below applies. 
 
This sub-paragraph applies: 
 

a) To any article containing or embodying matter to be read or looked at or anything 
intended to be used, either alone or as one of a set, for the reproduction or 
manufacture of any such article; and 
 

b) To any recording of vision or sound, which 
 
i. Is concerned primarily with the portrayal of, or primarily deals with or relates 

to, or is intended to stimulate or encourage, sexual activity or acts of force 
or restraint which are associated with sexual activity; or 

ii. Is concerned primarily with the portrayal of, or primarily deals with or relates 
to, genital organs, or urinary or excretory functions. 
 

5.4 Sex Cinema3 
 
 Any premises, vehicle, vessel or stall used to a significant degree for the exhibition of 

moving pictures, by whatever means produced, which: 
 

a) Are concerned primarily with the portrayal of, or primarily deal with or relate to, or are 
intended to stimulate or encourage – 
 
i. Sexual activity; or 
ii. Acts of force or restraint which are associated with sexual activity; or 

 
b) Are concerned primarily with the portrayal of, or primarily deal with or relate to, genital 

organs or urinary or excretory functions, 
 
But does not include a dwelling-house to which the public is not admitted. 
 

2  Paras 4(3) & (4), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 
3  Paras 3(1) & (2), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 

Page 6 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 220



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 
No premises shall be treated as a sex cinema by reason only – 
 
a) If they may be used for an exhibition of film (within the meaning of paragraph 15 of 

Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003) by virtue of an authorisation (within the 
meaning of section 136 of that Act), of their use in accordance with that authorisation. 
 

b) By their use for an exhibition to which section 6 of the Act (certain non-commercial 
exhibitions) applies given by an exempted organisation within the meaning of section 
6(6) of the former Cinemas Act 1985. 

 
5.5 Sexual Entertainment Venue4 
 
 Any premises at which relevant entertainment is provided before a live audience for the 

financial gain of the organiser or entertainer. 
 
 Relevant entertainment is defined as: 
 
 Any live performance or live display of nudity which is of such a nature that, ignoring 

financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or principally for the 
purpose of sexually stimulating any member of an audience (whether by verbal or other 
means). 

 
 In terms of considering what constitutes “relevant entertainment” each case shall be 

judged on its merits but the informal guidance produced by the Home Office suggests 
that the definition of relevant entertainment would apply to the following forms of 
entertainment as they are most commonly understood: 

 
• Lap dancing 
• Pole dancing 
• Table dancing 
• Strip shows 
• Peep shows 
• Live sex shows. 

 
However, the above list is not exhaustive and, as the understanding of the exact nature 
of these descriptions may vary, should merely be used as an indicator for certain types of 
entertainment as ultimately decisions to licence premises as sexual entertainment 
venues shall depend on the content of the entertainment provided and not the name it is 
given. 
 

5.6 The following are not sexual entertainment venues for the purposes of this policy: 
 

• Sex cinemas and sex shops; 
 

• Premises which provide entertainment on an infrequent basis.  These are defined 
as premises where:- 
 
a) No relevant entertainment has been provided on more than 11 occasions 

within a 12 month period; 

4  Paras 2A(1) &(2), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act as amended by section 27 of the 2009 Act 

Page 7 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 221



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

b) No such occasion has begun within a period of one month beginning with the 
end of the previous occasions; and 

c) No such occasion has lasted longer than 24 hours. 
 

• Other premises or types of performances or displays exempted by an order of the 
Secretary of State; 
 

• Private dwellings with no public admittance. 
  

6.0 Mandatory Grounds for Refusal of an Application5 
 

 
6.1 The 1982 Act sets out 5 mandatory grounds for refusing a sex establishment licence 

which are set out below: 
 
 That the applicant: 
 

a) Is under the age of 18; 
 

b) Is for the time being disqualified from holding a sex establishment licence; 
 

c) Is not a body corporate, and is not resident or has not been resident in an EEA state 
for six months preceding the date of the application; 

 
d) Is a body corporate which is not incorporated in an EEA state; 

 
e) Has, in the period of 12 months preceding the date of the application, been refused 

the grant or renewal of a licence for the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of 
which the application is made, unless the refusal has been reversed on appeal. 
 

7.0 Discretionary Grounds for Refusal of an Application6 
 

 
7.1 The 1982 Act also sets out 4 discretionary grounds for refusing a sex establishment 

licence.  The grounds are set out below and further expanded upon within this section of 
the policy: 

 
a) The applicant is unsuitable to hold a licence by reason of having been convicted of an 

offence or for any other reason; 
 

b) If the licence were to be granted, the business to which it relates would be managed 
by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the applicant, who would be 
refused the grant of such a licence if he made the application himself; 

 
c) The number of sex establishments, or sex establishments of a particular kind, in the 

relevant locality at the time the application is made is equal to or exceeds the number 
which the authority consider is appropriate for that locality; 

 

5  Para 12(1), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 
6  Para 12(3), Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act 

Page 8 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 222



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 
d) The grant would be inappropriate, having regard – 

 
i. To the character of the relevant locality; 
ii. To the use to which ay premises in the vicinity are put; 
iii. To the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall 

in respect of which the application is made. 
 
7.2 a)  Unsuitability of applicant 
 
 When considering the suitability or otherwise of an applicant, the Licensing Authority will 

have due regard to not only whether or not an applicant has been convicted of an offence 
but any other grounds which would call into question his/her suitability.  

 
7.3 The Licensing Authority will wish to be satisfied that: 
 

• The applicant is sufficiently trustworthy to run the sex establishment in accordance 
with the terms and conditions imposed on any licence granted, as well as the law; 
 

• The welfare of the performers at the licensed premises will be protected; 
 

• That the safety of the public attending the premises will be provided for; and 
 

• The needs and rights of persons/businesses living or working in the area, and 
indeed the area itself, are recognised and respected. 

 
7.4 In those cases where an applicant has been convicted of an offence, the Licensing 

Authority will consider, on individual merit, the nature and seriousness of the offence and 
the time which has elapsed since the date of conviction.   

 
7.5 Applicants should be aware that certain offences will give rise to particular concerns and 

in particular will include: 
 

• Sexual offences; 
• Offences involving prostitution, drugs, dishonesty or violence; and 
• Licensing offences. 

 
7.6 In considering the overall suitability of an applicant to hold a licence, the following factors 

will be taken into account by the Licensing Authority: 
 

• Honesty and integrity of the applicant; 
• Relevant experience of running similar sex establishments; 
• Understanding of the terms and conditions relating to sex establishments; 
• Reliability to run the premises in accordance with the licence; 
• Track record of compliance in relation to other premises and/or licensing regimes; 
• Intention to manage the premises himself or to employ others in that role; 
• Existence or otherwise of a management structure to demonstrate compliance 

with operating conditions incorporating such matters as: 
 
 Managerial competence 
 Presence 

Page 9 of 37 
 

Page 223



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 Credible management structure, which will include employment of 
individuals who have sufficient experience in running such premises 

 Internal enforcement of rules (including training, monitoring, publication of 
rates for performers and customers) 

 Viable business plan 
 Demonstrate ability to act in the best interests of performers 
 Preparation and enforcement of a written welfare policy for performers 
 Procedures in place to ensure performers are adults and entitled to live and 

work in UK 
 Demonstrate measures to protect the public (such as transparent rate of 

charges and prevention of solicitation) 
 
In all cases, the Licensing Authority will give serious consideration to the observations of 
the Chief Officer of Police in relation to concerns expressed about the suitability of an 
individual applicant, body corporate or an individual officer of a company. 
 

7.7 b)  Unsuitable manager of the business or other beneficiary 
 
 The Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that the proposed premises and activities 

are not a device to facilitate illegal activity and that those persons in ultimate control of 
the sex establishment can demonstrate that they will operate the premises in such a 
manner so as to promote the objectives of the legislation. 

 
7.8 c)  Number of sex establishments  
 
 PCC recognises that the Act allows discretion by the Licensing Authority to impose a 

numerical control on the number of sex establishments in a particular locality (including 
the provision that nil may be an appropriate number) and that this control can apply to 
both the overall number of sex establishments and also the number of each kind.   

 
7.9 In formulating this policy in relation to the number of sex establishments, the Licensing 

Authority has taken the following factors into account: 
 

• Portsmouth’s Local Strategic Partnership vision for the city where, in particular, we 
want to: 
 

- Develop Portsmouth as a city of innovation and enterprise, with a strong 
economy and employment opportunities for all; 
 

- Make Portsmouth a city where everyone feels and is safe; 
 

- Make Portsmouth an attractive and sustainable city; 
 

- Deliver affordable, quality housing where people want to live; 
 

- Encourage and enable healthy choices for all and provide appropriate 
access to health care and support; 

 
- Enhance Portsmouth’s reputation as a city of culture, energy and passion, 

offering access for all to arts, sports and leisure; 
 

Page 10 of 37 
 

Page 224



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

- Celebrate the many diverse and different communities within Portsmouth 
and work together to create an inclusive city for everyone; 

 
- Protect and support our more vulnerable residents by shaping public 

services to meet their needs. 
 

• Location and residential density of housing in Portsmouth as shown on Map 
SELP1 (Page 19); 
 

• Location of facilities for children including schools, playgroups and children’s 
centres throughout the city as shown on Map SELP2 (Page 20); 
 

• Location of places of worship throughout the city as shown on Map SELP3 (Page 
21); 
 

• Location of premises attracting vulnerable people such as GP surgeries, health 
centres, hospitals, dentists as shown on Map SELP4 (Page 22); 
 

• Areas and premises attracting families such as leisure and sport facilities, play 
spaces, parks and open spaces including tourist attractions as shown on Map 
SELP5 (Page 23); 
 

• Location of areas associated with commerce, retail and commercial use as shown 
on Map SELP6 (Page 24); 
 

• Promotion of gender equality, particularly in relation to reducing the fear of crime 
among women and community attitudes to sex establishments; 
 

• The Portsmouth Regeneration Strategy; 
 

• Community Safety Strategy; 
 

• The Portsmouth Plan (Portsmouth’s Core Strategy); 
 

• Southsea Seafront Strategy. 
 

7.10 Given the various factors set out above, the Licensing Authority has reached the 
preliminary conclusion that there is no place within the City of Portsmouth of 
which it could be said that it was situated in a locality in which it would be 
appropriate to licence a sex establishment. 
 

7.10a Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 7.10 above (relating to the numerical 
control on the number of sex establishments in a particular locality), the presumption to 
refuse shall not apply to: 

 
• The renewal, transfer or variation of an existing sex establishment licence; or  

 
• The grant of a new sex establishment licence, whereby an application was made 

during the transitional period 1 November 2011 until 31 October 2012 to those 
premises that can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority that 

Page 11 of 37 
 

Page 225



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

during the 12 months prior to the commencement of the transitional period they 
have been regularly providing sexual entertainment that previously was only 
regulated under the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
7.11 d)  Character of the relevant locality 
 
 Applicants should be aware that the Licensing Authority may refuse a licence on this 

ground regardless of what may or may not be an appropriate number of sex 
establishment licences within the locality. 

 
 In considering whether it is appropriate to grant a licence having regard to the character 

of the relevant locality, the Licensing Authority will take account of the following factors, 
together with such other factors as may be considered relevant in the individual 
circumstances of the case: 

 
• The general character of the area (e.g. family residential, family leisure or 

educational area); 
• The impact of the premises on the character of the area; 
• The current use for night-time leisure activities including existing sufficient 

representation of sex-orientated uses; 
• Gender equality issues, including whether the proposed use, particularly at night, 

would deter women from using the area comfortably or at all); 
• Raising the fear of crime in the locality should further sex-orientated uses be 

authorised; 
• Effects upon regeneration and tourism in the area; 
• Level of genuine demand (including the risk that excess supply would drive down 

standards and lead to problems associated with compliance with conditions. 
 
7.12 e)  Use of premises in the vicinity 
 
 Applications for sex establishment licences may be refused where the Licensing 

Authority considers that the grant of a licence would be inappropriate having regard to 
the use of other premises in the vicinity.  Whilst the term “vicinity” is not defined in the 
1982 Act, the Licensing Authority considers that “vicinity” will be a smaller area than 
“locality” as referred to in paragraph 7.8 above. 

 
7.13 Applicants should be aware that the Licensing Authority may refuse a licence on this 

ground regardless of the character of a locality or indeed what may or may not be an 
appropriate number of sex establishment licences within it. 

 
7.14 When considering the type of uses which may be deemed to be inappropriate,  

due regard will be given to the suitability of the proposed location of the premises and will 
take into account relevant factors including, but not limited to, the presence of what may 
be regarded as sensitive issues (e.g. dwellings, places of worship, schools, youth clubs, 
community centres, women’s refuges, libraries, parks or swimming pools) 
 
 
 

 

Page 12 of 37 
 

Page 226



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

7.15 Without prejudice to the above, applicants should also be aware that applications for sex 
establishment licences will normally be refused if they are proposed to be located in the 
vicinity of: 

 
• Places of worship; 
• Swimming pools; 
• Leisure centres; 
• Parks; 
• Youth centres; 
• Historic buildings; 
• Tourist attractions; 
• Educational premises; 
• Schools; 
• Play areas; 
• Nurseries; 
• Children’s centres; 

 
Or any other similar premises. 
 

7.16 Applicants are advised to consider the impact of their proposed application prior to 
considering whether or not they wish to operate a sex establishment business in an area 
and state in their application how they believe any potential impacts could be mitigated.  
The Licensing Authority reserves the right to take into account other issues or 
considerations that may arise at the application and consultation stage as well as during 
the licence period.  

 
7.17 Layout, character or condition 
 
 When considering the issue of a licence in terms of its layout, character or condition, the 

Licensing Authority will give consideration to general factors such as: 
 

• Provision of proper access for disabled people; 
• Safe in terms of its structure and overall standards of maintenance for the building; 
• Sufficient provision for surveillance and overall supervision; 
• Standard of fit out of the premises; 

 
 While the Licensing Authority will not refuse a licence merely because the premises do 

not have planning permission for use as a sex establishment, the authority will take into 
account the absence of planning permission to the extent relevant to the statutory 
grounds for renewal. 

  
8.0 Application Process 

 
 

8.1 Application forms are available from the Licensing Service and are also available for 
download on the Council’s website at: 

 
 http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/11752.html 
 

Page 13 of 37 
 

Page 227

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/11752.html


Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

8.2 Upon receipt of an application for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a licence, the 
Licensing Authority will consult with the following bodies/individuals and will have regard 
to any observations received as a result: 

 
• Hampshire Constabulary 
• Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service 
• Head of Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding 
• Head of Planning Services 
• Ward Councillors 

 
8.3 An application for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a licence must be formally 

advertised in two specific ways: 
 

a) Within 7 days after the date of application, the applicant must arrange for a public 
notice to be published in a local newspaper (The News – www.portsmouth.co.uk)  
 

b) Where the application is in respect of premises, the applicant must also display a 
notice of the application on or near the premises in question.  The notice must be 
placed in such a position so that it can be conveniently  
read by the public.  The notice must be displayed for 21 days starting with the date of 
the application. 
 

8.4 The notice must include information relating to: 
 

• Details of the premises to which the application relates; 
• Details of the applicant;  
• Type of sex establishment licence being applied for; 
• Whether the application is for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a licence; 
• Details of how persons may object; and 
• Closing date for representations. 

 
Templates for public notices are available from the Licensing Service or are available to 
download from PCC’s website at http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/11752.html. 
 

8.5 The applicant must also send a copy of the application to the Chief Officer of Police no 
later than 7 days after the date of application, unless the application is submitted 
electronically and in which case the Licensing Authority will serve notice on the Police. 

 
8.6 The address details for the Police are as follows: 
 

The Chief Officer of Police 
 Hampshire Constabulary 

Portsmouth Licensing and Violent Reduction Unit  
Community Safety Unit  
Civic Offices  
Guildhall Square  
Portsmouth  
PO1 2BY 

 
Tel: 0845 045 4545  
Direct Dial: 023 9268 8754  
Fax: 023 9268 8513  
Email: portsmouth.licensing@hampshire.pnn.police.uk 

Page 14 of 37 
 

Page 228

http://www.portsmouth.co.uk/
http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/11752.html
mailto:portsmouth.licensing@hampshire.pnn.police.uk


Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

9.0 Consideration of an Application 
 

 
9.1 The Licensing Authority will have regard to all information provided by an applicant in 

support of an application. 
 
9.2 Any person wishing to object to an application must give notice of their objection in 

writing, stating the general terms of the objection no later than 28 days after the date of 
the application.  Any person may object to an application.  However objections must be 
relevant to the grounds send out in paragraph 12, Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act.  Those 
grounds are set out in sections 6 and 7 of this policy.  Objections based solely on moral 
grounds/values will not be considered. 

 
9.3 The Licensing Authority will notify the applicant, in writing, of the general terms of any 

objection received within the 28 day period allowed for objections. 
 
9.4 The 1982 Act protects the rights of objectors to remain anonymous.  The Licensing 

Authority will not reveal names or addresses of any objector to the applicant without their 
consent.  However, general information such as the objector lives within a certain 
distance of the premises in question will be released in order to give the applicant an 
opportunity to rebut any concerns so far as geographical vicinity or locality is concerned. 

 
10.0 Determining an Application 

 
 
10.1 All applications where objections have been received or where consultees have raised 

concerns will be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee for determination at a hearing 
and all parties will be given the opportunity to put forward their case at the hearing. 

 
10.2 The Licensing Authority will consider each application on its individual merits.  Reasons 

for grant or refusal may vary depending upon whether the application relates to a sex 
shop, sex cinema or sexual entertainment venue. 

 
10.3 The Licensing Sub-Committee will retire at the end of the hearing to make its decision on 

the facts of the case in private. 
 
10.4 In most cases the Licensing Sub-Committee will deliver its decision and reasons at the 

end of the hearing.  However, where it is considered proportionate and necessary to do 
so, the Licensing Sub-Committee may delay making a decision so as to allow for 
consideration of the respective cases put before it and so as to permit further time for a 
reasoned decision to be formulated.  Any decision and reasons will be communicated, in 
writing, to the applicant and all other parties within 10 working days of the hearing. 

 
11.0 Hearings 

 
 
11.1 Hearings will be arranged as soon as reasonably practicable following the end of the 

consultation period.  Applicants and other interested parties will be given at least 10 days 
notice of the proposed date for hearing and more where possible to do so. 

 

Page 15 of 37 
 

Page 229



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

11.2 All applicants will be given the opportunity to appear before and be heard by the 
Licensing Sub-Committee responsible for determining the application.  Applicants will be 
entitled to be represented by a legal advisor or similar agent Witnesses may be called 
with permission from the Chair of the Sub-Committee. 

 
11.3 Persons objecting to applications will also be given the opportunity to appear at the 

hearing to discuss their objections.  
 
11.4 The hearing will take place in public except where the public interest requires otherwise, 

although members of the public being disruptive will be required to leave the meeting. 
 
11.5 All parties will be allowed an equal maximum period of time for the presentation of their 

case but it is expected that all parties keep points pertinent and the discussion moving in 
the interests of cost and efficiency.  

 
12.0 Appeals 

 
 
12.1 A right of appeal exists for applicants in respect of the refusal of applications for the 

grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a sex establishment licence.  A right of appeal is 
also available in relation to the imposition of conditions and revocation of licences. 

 
12.2 However, appeals against mandatory refusals (see section 6 of this policy document) can 

only be lodged on the basis that the mandatory ground does not apply to the appellant.   
 
12.3 Additionally, no appeal provisions exist in respect of refusals to grant or renew licences 

on the discretionary grounds of: 
 

• The number of sex establishments in the relevant locality; 
• The character of the relevant locality; 
• The use to which ay premises in the vicinity are put; 
• The layout, character or condition of the premises. 

 
12.4 The time limit for lodging an appeal to the Magistrates’ Court is 21 days beginning with 

the date of notification of the decision.  The commencement time for the purposes of this 
section will be from when the applicant receives formal written notification of the decision 
and reasons. 

 
12.5 The 1982 Act also provides for further appeal to the Crown Court. 
 
13.0 Duration of Licences 

 
 
13.1 Licences for sex establishments may be granted for a maximum period of one year but 

the Licensing Authority may grant a shorter period of time if it thinks fit. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 16 of 37 
 

Page 230



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

14.0 Licence Conditions 
 

 
14.1 The Licensing Authority will impose standard conditions that are relevant to all licensed 

sex establishments.  These may include, but are not limited to: 
 

• Opening and closing hours 
• Displays and advertisements on or in sex establishments 
• Visibility of the interior of a sex establishment to passers-by 
• Any change of use from one kind of sex establishment to another. 

 
The Licensing Authority has made Regulations as to standard conditions which are set 
out at Appendix A to this policy.  Such conditions will be imposed unless they are varied 
in an individual case.  Any applicant for such variation must set out the variation 
requested in the application, together with reasons why the variation is sought and how it 
intends to achieve the objectives of the standard conditions if a variation is permitted. 

 
14.2 The Licensing Authority may also specify other conditions specific to individual premises 

dependant on the type of activity undertaken and the type of premises.  These may 
include, but are not limited to: 

 
• Specifying minimum distances between the audience and performers 
• Control of access to changing room facilities 
• Control of private viewings 

  
Additional conditions may be imposed where appropriate and necessary. 
 

15.0 Waiving of the need for a Sex Establishment Licence7 
 

 
15.1 In certain circumstances the Licensing Authority may waive the need for a sex 

establishment licence.  However, applicants should be aware that it is considered that the 
waiver system is not a substitute for the licensing regime but may be useful in certain 
borderline cases or where events are minor or temporary.  Equally it may be an 
appropriate alternative solution where clarity or regularisation is considered necessary.  

 
15.2 An application for a waiver can either be made as part of an application for a licence or 

on a separate basis.  The Licensing Authority may grant a waiver if it considers that to 
require a licence would be unreasonable or inappropriate. 

 
15.3 In those cases where a waiver is granted the Licensing Authority will confirm, in writing, 

to the applicant that such a waiver has been approved.  The waiver can last for any such 
period that the Licensing Authority think fit but equally it can be terminated by the 
Authority at any time subject to a notice period of 28 days. 

 
15.4 The Licensing Authority will consider such applications on an individual basis.  However, 

the Licensing Authority considers that in normal cases, licences should be sought for 
licensable activities and waivers will be granted only in exceptional cases.   

7  Para 7, Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act. 

Page 17 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 231



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

16.0 Exchange of Information 
 

 
16.1 The Licensing Authority will process personal information in accordance with the Data 

Protection Act 1998.  Personal details will be held on a database and where the law 
allows, may be shared with other departments within the Council to update details they 
hold about you.  The Council may also be required to disclose personal information to 
third parties (such as Police, Department for Work and Pensions or Audit Commission for 
the National Fraud Initiative) for the purposes of preventing or detecting crime or 
apprehending or prosecuting offenders.  

 
16.2 The Authority may from time to time exercise its powers under section 115 of the Crime 

and Disorder Act 1988 to exchange data and information with the Police and other 
partners to fulfill its statutory objective of reducing crime in the area. 

 
17.0 Enforcement 

 
 
17.1 There are serious penalties for breaching the law relating to the control and supervision 

of sex establishment premises.  Historically, PCC has taken robust action to prosecute 
individuals and businesses operating outside of the law and will maintain this stance in 
order to ensure protection of the public and to enforce this policy. 

 
As a consequence, the Licensing Authority will establish protocols with other statutory 
agencies on enforcement issues.  This is to enable the more effective deployment of staff 
who are commonly engaged in enforcing licensing law and the inspection of licensed 
premises.  The aims of the protocol are to target agreed problem and high risk premises 
which require greater attention while providing a lighter touch in respect of low risk 
premises which are well run. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18 of 37 
 

Page 232



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19 of 37 
 

Page 233



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20 of 37 
 

Page 234



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21 of 37 
 

Page 235



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP4 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22 of 37 
 

Page 236



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

MAP SELP5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23 of 37 
 

Page 237



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 
MAP SELP6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24 of 37 
 

Page 238



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Appendix A 
 

Standard Conditions applicable to Sex Establishments 
consisting of Sex Shops, Sex Cinemas or Sexual 
Entertainment Venues 

 
 
Portsmouth City Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by paragraph 13 of Schedule 3 to 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 hereby make the following 
Regulations8 prescribing standard conditions applicable to licences for sex establishments. 

 
Interpretation 

 
In these Regulations the following expressions that is to say “Sex Establishment”, “Sex Shop”, 
“Sex Cinema”, “Sexual Entertainment Venue”, “Sex Article”, and “Vessel” shall have the 
meanings respectively assigned by Schedule 3 of the Act (and where amended by Section 27 of 
the Policing and Crime Act 2009). 
  
In these Regulations the following expressions shall have the meanings hereby respectively 
assigned to them namely: 

 
“the Act”   means the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as 

amended. 
 

“the council”  means Portsmouth City Council and/or any authorised officer acting on 
behalf of the Council. 
 

“the premises” means any premises, vehicle, vessel or stall licensed under the Act. 
 

“licence holder” means a person who is the holder of a sex establishment licence.  
 

“permitted hours” means the hours during which the licensed premises are permitted to be 
open to the public. 

 
“licence”   means a licence granted pursuant to Schedule 3 of the Act. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

8 Adopted by Portsmouth City Council, as Licensing Authority, following a resolution of the Licensing 
Committee on 23 October 2013. 

Page 25 of 37 
 

                                                           

Page 239



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Part One – General Conditions 
 

 
Management Of Premises  

 
1. The Licence holder, or some responsible person nominated by him and approved in 

writing by the council for the purpose of managing the sex establishment (“the manager”), 
shall have personal responsibility for and be present on the premises at all times when the 
premises are open to the public. 
 

2. In accordance with section 14 of the 1982 Act, the Licence holder shall display, on the 
licensed premises in a conspicuous position, a copy of the licence and/or any special 
conditions attached. 

 
3. The name of the person responsible for the management of the sex establishment, 

whether the licence holder or manager, shall be displayed in a conspicuous position within 
the premises throughout the period during which he is responsible for the conduct of the 
premises. 

 
4. The licence holder shall retain control over all parts of the licensed premises as set out on 

the approved premises plan and shall not let or part with possession of any part. 
 

5. No person under the age of 18 shall be admitted to the premises and rigorous identity 
checks SHALL be made on any person who appears to be under the age of 18. 

 
a) To ensure compliance of 5 above, the licence holder shall exhibit appropriate 

warning notices as to the minimum age requirements on both the exterior 
(frontage) door and also conspicuously on the appropriate inner lobby door. 
 

6. No person under the age of 18 shall be employed to work at the premises in any capacity 
or shall be allowed to work at the premises on a self-employed basis. 

 
7. Where the Licence holder is a body corporate or an unincorporated body, any change of 

director, or other person responsible for the management of the body is to be notified in 
writing to the council within 14 days of any such change.  In addition, the Licence holder 
shall provide any details as the council may require in respect of any new director, officer 
or manager upon request in writing from the council. 
 

Conduct of the Premises 
 

8. No change from one type of sex establishment to another shall be made without the 
written consent of the council. 
 

9. No part of the premises shall be used by prostitutes for the purpose of solicitation or 
otherwise exercising their calling. 
 

Premises Interior and Layout 
 

10. The premises layout shall comply with deposited plans unless otherwise approved in 
writing by the council. 

 

Page 26 of 37 
 

Page 240



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

11. No alterations, additions or modifications to either the internal or external parts of the 
licensed premises shall be made without the prior written consent of the council. 

 
12. External doors shall be closed at all times other than when persons are entering or leaving 

the premises.  The external doors shall be fitted with a device to provide for their automatic 
closure and such devices shall be maintained in good working order. 

 
13. The premises shall be fitted with an inner entrance lobby door or partition screen so that 

no part of the interior of the premises or any of the contents of the premises shall be visible 
when persons are entering or leaving the premises. 

 
14. No access shall be permitted through the premises to any other premises adjoining or 

adjacent except in the case of emergency. 
 

15. No part of the interior of the licensed premises shall be visible whatsoever to persons 
outside the premises. 

 
16. No external advertising, words, signs, displays or illuminations shall be permitted unless 

previously approved by the council. 
 

17. The external fabric, appearance and look of the licensed premises shall consist of 
materials and colours approved by the council in order to: 

 
(a) Ensure that the frontage is of a discreet nature 
 
(b) Ensure that it is appropriate to the character of the locality. 

 
CCTV 

 
18. A recording CCTV system shall be installed and fully operational whilst the venue is open 

to the public.  
 

19. The recording equipment will be stored and operated in a secure environment with limited 
access, to avoid damage, theft, unauthorised viewing and to maintain the integrity of the 
system.  

 
20. A record will be kept of any access made to information held on the system. 

 
21. The system will be serviced at twelve monthly intervals and maintained to a standard that 

is acceptable to the police licensing department responsible for the area.  A record of 
service and maintenance completed shall be held for a minimum of three years at the 
premises. 

 
22. The system clock will be checked regularly for accuracy taking account of GMT and BST. 

 
23. An additional recording CCTV camera shall be installed and fully operational whilst the 

venue is open to the public to cover the area outside the front of the premises. 
 

24. The CCTV system will have sufficient storage capacity for 31 days of good evidential 
quality images.  

 
 

Page 27 of 37 
 

Page 241



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

CCTV Access 
 
25. Police and authorised officers of the council shall have access to data from the systems 

quickly and easily and therefore provision will be made for the licensee or a member of 
staff to have access to the secure area and also be able to operate the equipment and to 
supply footage in a format which can be easily viewed by police or council officers.  
 

26. All operators will receive training from the installer when equipment is installed and this 
training will be cascaded down to new members of staff.  

 
27. An operator’s manual will be available to assist in replaying and exporting data.  

 
28. The premises shall not be operated pursuant to the grant of a licence until such time as 

the CCTV System has been approved by the Police. The CCTV must be maintained in a 
satisfactory working condition and subject to police approval in order to remain operating 
under the licence. 

 
General 

 
29. The Licence holder shall take all reasonable precautions to ensure public safety on the 

premises and shall comply with any reasonable request made by the council. 
 

30. The council may substitute, delete, vary or amend these conditions at any time. 
 

Part Two – Additional Conditions for Premises Operating as Sex 
Shops 

 
 

31. The Licensee shall notify the council of the name, address and date of birth of any 
manager or employee at the licensed premises at least 7 days prior to commencing 
employment.  The council, in consultation with the police, reserves the right to object to the 
employment of any person by reason of general unsuitability and/or because of any 
recorded conviction, reprimand, warning or caution considered relevant in which event the 
individual concerned shall not be employed at the premises. 
 

32. The names of any and every employee working on the premises shall be displayed in a 
conspicuous position on the premises. 

 
33. No public music or dancing shall be permitted on the premises. 

 
a) No alcohol shall be sold, offered or consumed by either staff or customers 

on the premises. 
 
b) No facilities to provide or consume food (hot or cold) by members of the 

public shall be permitted on the premises. 
 
Hours of Opening and Closing 
 
34. Licensed premises shall not, unless approved in writing by the council, be open for the 

purposes for which the licence is granted on any Sunday, bank or public holiday. 
 

Page 28 of 37 
 

Page 242



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

35. The general permitted hours (unless otherwise varied by the council) for the use of any 
premises, as a sex shop shall be: 

 
Monday to Saturday inclusive - 0930 until 2000 

 
Conduct of the Premises 
 
36. A sex shop shall be conducted primarily for the purpose of the sale of goods by retail. 

 
37. All sex articles and other things displayed for sale, hire, exchange or loan within a sex 

establishment shall be clearly marked to show the price being charged. 
 

38. All printed matter offered for sale, hire, exchange or loan within a sex establishment shall 
be available for inspection prior to purchase and a notice to this effect shall be displayed in 
a conspicuous position within the premises. 

 
39. No film or video recording shall be exhibited, sold or supplied unless it has been passed by 

the British Board of Film Classification and bears a certificate to that effect. 
 
Premises Interior and Layout 
  
40. Any facilities on the premises for previewing films, video recordings or other similar 

material shall be physically separated from the display area of the shop in such a manner 
that no material being displayed by way of preview shall be visible or audible outside the 
preview area.  The positioning of any playback or viewing equipment shall be approved by 
the council. 

 
Part Three – Additional Conditions for Premises Operating as 
Sexual Entertainment Venues 

 
 
External Appearance of the Premises and Public Displays of Information  

 
41. Any external displays or advertising may only be displayed with the prior approval of the 

Council. 
 

42. The prices for entrance and any compulsory purchases within the venue, shall be clearly 
displayed on the exterior of the premises.  

 
43. All charges for products and services shall be displayed in prominent areas within the 

premises, and at each customer table and in the bar area.  
 

44. Rules for customers shall be displayed in prominent areas within the premises, and at 
each customer table and in the bar area.  

 
45. No charge shall be applied unless the customer has been made aware of the tariff of 

charge by the performer in advance of the performance.  
 

46. The use of cruising cars by the premises to solicit for custom and/or transport people to or 
from the premises is prohibited.  
 

Page 29 of 37 
 

Page 243



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Control of Entry to the Premises 
 

47. The Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises whereby any 
person suspected of being under 25 years of age shall be required to produce 
identification proving they are over 18 years of age. The only acceptable forms of 
identification are recognised photographic identification cards, such as a driving licence or 
passport.  
 
OR at the discretion of the Licensing Authority in individual circumstances the 
following condition may be applied:  
 

48. All persons entering the premises must supply verifiable identification details that are 
passed through a digital scanning and recording system such as Club Scan, Idvista or 
similar computerised system. 
 

49. The premises shall maintain a Refusals log whereby any occasion a person is refused 
entry shall be recorded and available upon request by the Police or an authorised officer of 
the council.  

 
50. All individuals employed on the premises to conduct a security activity (within the meaning 

of paragraph 2(1) (a) of Schedule 2 to the Private Security Act 2001) must be licensed by 
the Security Industry Authority.  

 
51. Any person who appears to be drunk / intoxicated or under the influence of illegal drugs 

shall not be permitted entrance to the premises.  
 

52. A policy of random searches of persons entering the premises shall be operated.  
 

53. Any person found to be in possession of illegal drugs upon entry shall be prevented entry 
and, where possible, restrained until the Police can take such person into custody. Any 
persons found using illegal drugs on the premises shall be removed from the premises or, 
where possible, restrained until the Police can take such person into custody.  

 
54. The licensed premises shall be so arranged by screening or obscuring windows, doors 

and other openings so that the interior of the licensed premises shall not be visible to 
persons outside the building.  

 
55. The premises shall subscribe to an approved radio system and radios shall be operational 

at all times the premises is open to the public.  
 

Conduct of Performers and Rules relating to performances of sexual entertainment  
 

56. There shall be a written code of conduct for performers that has been agreed in writing by 
the Licence holder, the council and the Police.  
 

57. All performers shall be required to certify their agreement to comply with the code and a 
record shall be kept on the premises and be made available upon request by the Police or 
an authorised officer of the council. The code shall include the basic criteria as set out in 
Appendix B to this policy.  
 

58. No changes shall be made to the Dancer’s Code of Conduct without the prior written 
consent of the council and the Police. 

 

Page 30 of 37 
 

Page 244



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

59. The Dancer’s Code of Conduct must include a statement that any dancer who does not 
comply with the Code of Conduct will face disciplinary proceedings. 

 
60. All management and staff (including security staff) must be aware of and familiar with the 

content of the Dancer’s Code of Conduct and shall ensure it is complied with at all times. 
 

61. A copy of the Dancer’s Code of Conduct shall be prominently displayed in each area of the 
premises where the public have access, which shall include toilet areas as well as in any 
area used as a changing/dressing room for dancers. 

 
Code of Conduct for Customers 

 
62. There shall be a written Code of Conduct for Customers that has been agreed in writing by 

the Licence holder, the council and the Police.  
 

63. The code shall include the basic criteria as set out in Appendix C to this policy.  
 

64. The Code of Conduct for Customers shall be displayed in prominent positions throughout 
the licensed premises so that it is visible to all patrons. 

 
65. No changes shall be made to the Code of Conduct for Customers without the prior written 

consent of the council and the Police. 
 

66. The Code of Conduct shall include a statement that any customers who fail to comply with 
the Code of Conduct will be required to leave the premises. 

 
67. All management and staff (including security staff) must be aware of and familiar with the 

content of the Code of Conduct for Customers and shall ensure it is complied with at all 
times. 

 
68. On any occasion whereby a customer breaches the Code of Conduct, such details shall be 

recorded in the incident log. 
 

69. Any customer breaching the rules of the Code of Conduct shall be asked to leave the 
premises.  Any customer who has previously been asked to leave the premises and again 
breaches the Code of Conduct shall be banned from the premises. 

 
Disciplinary Procedure for Performers 
 
70. The Licence holder shall ensure that a written disciplinary procedure is in force so as to 

take appropriate action against performers who breach the Code of Conduct and that a 
copy of the procedure is provided to each performer who works at the premises. 
 

71. All performers shall sign an acknowledgement that they have received a written copy of 
the disciplinary procedure and have read and understood its contents. 

 
72. Any disciplinary procedure shall NOT make any provision for financial penalties against 

performers who breach the disciplinary procedure.  Any sanctions shall be limited to verbal 
or written warnings, suspension or revocation of the performer’s right to dance at the 
premises. 

 
 

 

Page 31 of 37 
 

Page 245



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

The Protection of Performers and the Prevention of Crime on the Premises  
 

73. Performers shall be provided with secure and private changing facilities.  
 

74. All entrances to private areas to which members of the public are not permitted access 
shall have clear signage stating that access is restricted.  

 
75. Any exterior smoking area for use by performers shall be kept secure and separate to any 

public smoking area.  
 

76. The Licence holder shall implement a written policy to ensure the safety of performers 
when leaving the premises following any period of work.  

 
77. Private booths must not be fully enclosed. There must be a clear sight-line from outside 

the booth so that any performance of sexual entertainment can be directly monitored.  
 

78. There must be a minimum of one member of security staff present on any floor where a 
performance of sexual entertainment is taking place.  

 
79. Any private booths shall be fitted with a panic button or security alarm.  

 
Record Keeping and Management  

 
80. All performers shall be required to provide valid identification prior to first employment at 

the premises. Acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic identification 
cards, such as a driving licence, passport or national ID card.  
 

81. All performers and staff shall be eligible to work in the UK and proof of eligibility records 
shall be kept on the premises. Management shall ensure that such records are regularly 
checked to ensure compliance.  

 
82. Employment records for performers and staff shall be kept for a minimum of 6 months 

following the cessation of their employment.  
 

83. Accurate payment and remuneration records shall be maintained and shall be made 
available upon request to the Police or an authorised officer of the Council. All fees and 
charges for performers shall be stated in writing and prominently displayed within the 
changing area.  

 
84. No films may be shown at the premises unless they have been passed by the British 

Board of Film Classification. No films classified as R18 shall be shown on the premises.  
 

Dress Code  
 

85. The premises shall operate a dress code for customers to the satisfaction of the Police.  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 32 of 37 
 

Page 246



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Part Four – Additional Conditions for Premises Operating as Sex 
Cinemas 

 
 
Film Exhibition 
 
86. No film shall be exhibited unless: 

 
a) It has been passed by the British Board of Film Classification (“BBFC”) as a U, 

PG, 12, 15, 18 or RESTRICTED (18) film and no notice of objection to its 
exhibition has been given by the council; or 

b) The film has been passed by the council as U, PG, 12, 15, 18 or RESTRICTED 
(18). 

 
87. If the Licence holder is notified by the council, in writing, that it objects to the exhibition of a 

film specifying the grounds of objection, such film shall not be exhibited. 
 

88. The Licence holder shall give at least 28 days notice in writing to the council of any 
proposal to exhibit any film which has not been classified as specified above.  Such a film 
shall only be exhibited if consent has been obtained from the council in writing and subject 
to any terms or restrictions contained within such written consent. 

 
89. When the programme includes a film in the 12, 15 or 18 category, no person appearing to 

be under the age of 12, 15 or 18 as appropriate shall be admitted to any part of the 
programme. 

 
90. If the council does not agree with the category of any film as passed by the BBFC, it may 

alter the category or prohibit the showing of the film. 
 

91. Where any notice is given by the council to the Licence holder that it has altered the 
category of any film, the film shall thereafter be treated as being in the altered category 
and the conditions application to the exhibition of films in the altered category shall be 
observed accordingly. 

 
92. Immediately before each exhibition at the premises of a film (other than a current news-

reel) passed by the BBFC, there shall be exhibited on the screen for at least ten seconds 
and in such a manner as to be easily read by all persons in the auditorium, a reproduction 
of the certificate of the BBFC or, as regards a trailer, of the statement approved by the 
BBFC indicating the category of the film. 

 
93. For a film passed by the council, notices shall be conspicuously displayed both inside and 

outside the premises so patrons entering can easily read them and which consist of the 
following wording: 

 
PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 
(Insert title of film here) 

Has been passed by Portsmouth City Council as 
(insert the definition of the category and the category assigned) 

 

Page 33 of 37 
 

Page 247



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

94. Where a trailer is to be exhibited advertising a film passed by the council, the notice shall 
state: 
 

PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 

(Insert the category of trailer here) trailer advertising (insert the category of the film) film 
 

95. Every poster, advertisement, photograph, sketch, synopsis or programme relating to a film 
(other than a current news-reel) exhibited, or to be exhibited at the premises shall indicate 
clearly the category of the film. 
 
Refusals/Incident Log 
 

96. The Licence holder shall ensure that an incident/refusals log is maintained at the 
premises.  The log shall record the following information: 

 
• Any ejections from the premises 
• Any refused admissions 
• Any refused sales 
• Any inappropriate behaviour by patrons 
• Any failure in the CCTV system 
• Any incidents of crime or disorder 
• Any complaints made by patrons 

 
97. The record shall show the date and time of the incident; the name of the member of staff 

reporting the incident; a brief description of the customer involved where appropriate and 
brief details of the incident together with any action taken by the staff/management of the 
premises. 
 

98. The incident log shall be completed as soon as reasonably practicable after any incident 
has occurred. 

 
99. The incident log shall be kept in a place where it can be easily accessed by staff working 

at the premises and all staff shall be aware of the location of the incident log and the need 
to complete it in such cases as described above. 

 
100. The Licence holder shall ensure that the incident log is checked periodically and at least 

on a monthly basis to ensure that staff are completing the log as and when appropriate. 
 

101. The incident log shall be made available for inspection to the Police or authorised council 
officers upon request. 

 
General 

 
102. No sex articles or other things intended for use in connection with, or for the purpose of 

stimulating or encouraging sexual activity or acts of force or restraint which are associated 
with sexual activity shall be displayed, sold, hired, exchanged, loaned or demonstrated in a 
sex cinema. 
 

 

Page 34 of 37 
 

Page 248



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Appendix B 
 

Sexual Entertainment Venues – Code of Conduct for Dancers 
 

 
The Dancer’s Code of Conduct shall include the following conditions as a minimum 
standard: 
 

• There shall be no intentional physical contact between performers and customers at 
any time, before, during or after the performance, with the exception of leading a 
customer by the hand to, or from, an area permitted for performances of sexual 
entertainment in advance of, or following, a performance.  

 
• The performer may not simulate any sexual act during a performance.  

 
• Performers must not use any inappropriate, lewd, suggestive or sexually graphic 

language in any public or performance areas of the premises.  
 

• Performers must not touch the breasts or genitalia of another performer, at any time 
as part of a performance.  

 
• There shall be no use of sex articles (as defined by paragraph 4(3) of Schedule 3 of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982) at any time.  
 

• There shall be no nudity by performers in public areas of the premises, unless the 
Council has agreed in writing that area may be used for performances of sexual 
entertainment.  

 
• Performers must fully dress (i.e. no nudity) at the end of each performance.  

 
• Performances of sexual entertainment may only take place in designated areas of 

the premises as agreed in writing by the Council. 
 

• There shall be no photography permitted by customers on the premises.  
 

• Customers must remain seated for the duration of a performance.  
 

• Performers shall not arrange to meet, or have further contact with, customers 
outside of the premises. 

 
• Dancers shall not perform if under the influence of alcohol or drugs. 

 
• All dancers shall comply with this Code of Conduct.  Any failure to adhere to the 

rules set out in Code shall result in the dancer becoming subject to the 
consideration of disciplinary action as set out in the Disciplinary Procedure. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 35 of 37 
 

Page 249



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

Appendix C 
 

Sexual Entertainment Venues – Code of Conduct for 
Customers 

 
 

 The Customer’s Code of Conduct shall include the following conditions as a 
minimum standard: 

 
• Customers may not touch dancers during a performance. 

 
• Customers may not make lewd or offensive comments to performers. 

 
• Customers must not harass or intimidate performers. 

 
• Customers must not ask dancers to perform any sexual favour. 

 
• Customers may not perform acts of masturbation or indulge in other sexual 

behaviour. 
 

• Any customer failing to comply with this Code of Conduct will be asked to leave 
the premises and may face a time-limited or permanent ban from attending the 
premises. 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36 of 37 
 

Page 250



Sex Establishment Licensing Policy – Final Version 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Telephone: 023 9283 4604 
 
Email: Licensing@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 
Address:  Licensing Service, Portsmouth City Council, Civic Offices, Guildhall 
Square, Portsmouth, Hants, PO1 2AL. 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Page 37 of 37 
 

Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

����������	
�

�����������������������%� �	��
����������
�

�����&�'��������������� ��
�

����� ����������(�#�������!�����(�����!�������������)�����#���(����������

������#����%�

�������

���������������

���������

������

��
�����

 �!�"�����#�$%��&� ���

�

*��������� ��������������� ������!����������%�

��

�

�������� ������)������������������������ ������%�

�� ���������� ��(�� ���� �

�������"�����(���������

��"� ����������������������������"��(%+�

������$��*��������*��

+,�-%-�-���������-!$�

���.-�����*-!-�-��������������-$-!����������-�$����

������$��*�����!-.��$��-*�

�!�/-��������*������$��-*�

�������-$-!���$��-*�������*��+������-�$��� 

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Page 309



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����	����	
�


������������� �����������������������������"������(� ������� ������)�����%�

�� ���������� ��(�� ���� �

��

0���������-�-���!�������������$���-������������/�����*!�*1��������2����3-��������

������������������*���������*�������������4�-�-�����$$��� -$����������2-*��

�����-$�56�����������/��������!-�����%�!�2�������-�-���!������-�����%��"��$-�����

��������!-*����%!���*�-.-�/�3����-�*!��-�����-�1-����"��-$�5�7���8�����/9������

0�-��/9�+�������������/9�+�����������/9�+�����������/9��0�-��/�"�-���������/�

4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���������/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���������/�4��1�

��!-��/9�������/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�

�������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�	���

��/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/���-����������4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���

�������4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-����������4��1���!-��/9��������4��1���!-��/�

�����/9�4�,-�����/9�	���*�$%��9�	����*�$%���:�(������*�$%��6�����

���-�-���!�	�������;��-��$���+.�6�

 ������������!��-$-�����!����""!/������������������"��-�������*!��-��6�

�

���(���������(�������

��

0���������-�-���!�������������$���-������������/�����*!�*1��������2����3-��������

������������������*���������*�������������4�-�-�����$$��� -$����������2-*��

�����-$�56�����������/��������!-�����%�!�2�������-�-���!������-�����%��"��$-�����

��������!-*����%!���*�-.-�/�3����-�*!��-�����-�1-����"��-$�5�7���8�����/9������

0�-��/9�+�������������/9�+�����������/9�+�����������/9��0�-��/�"�-���������/�

4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���������/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���������/�4��1�

��!-��/9�������/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�

�������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�	���

��/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/���-����������4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���

�������4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-����������4��1���!-��/9��������4��1���!-��/�

�����/9�4�,-�����/9�	���*�$%��9�	����*�$%���:�(������*�$%��6�����

�����/���������/&� ��&������-!��(&����

�����/���������/&� ��&������-!��(&����

Page 310



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����(����	
�

���-�-���!�	�������;��-��$���+.�6�

�

�,����������(���(� ��

��

0���������-�-���!�������������$���-������������/�����*!�*1��������2����3-��������

������������������*���������*�������������4�-�-�����$$��� -$����������2-*��

�����-$�56�����������/��������!-�����%�!�2�������-�-���!������-�����%��"��$-�����

��������!-*����%!���*�-.-�/�3����-�*!��-�����-�1-����"��-$�5�7���8�����/9������

0�-��/9�+�������������/9�+�����������/9�+�����������/9��0�-��/�"�-���������/�

4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���������/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���������/�4��1�

��!-��/9�������/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�

�������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�	���

��/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/���-����������4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���

�������4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-����������4��1���!-��/9��������4��1���!-��/�

�����/9�4�,-�����/9�	���*�$%��9�	����*�$%���:�(������*�$%��6�����

���-�-���!�	�������;��-��$���+.�6�

�

���)����(��� ������(������������� �����������������

��

0���������-�-���!�������������$���-������������/�����*!�*1��������2����3-��������

������������������*���������*�������������4�-�-�����$$��� -$����������2-*��

�����-$�56�����������/��������!-�����%�!�2�������-�-���!������-�����%��"��$-�����

��������!-*����%!���*�-.-�/�3����-�*!��-�����-�1-����"��-$�5�7���8�����/9������

0�-��/9�+�������������/9�+�����������/9�+�����������/9��0�-��/�"�-���������/�

4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���������/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���������/�4��1�

��!-��/9�������/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�

�������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�	���

��/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/���-����������4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���

�������4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-����������4��1���!-��/9��������4��1���!-��/�

�����/9�4�,-�����/9�	���*�$%��9�	����*�$%���:�(������*�$%��6�����

�����/���������/&� ��&������-!��(&����

�����/���������/&� ��&������-!��(&����

Page 311



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����
����	
�

���-�-���!�	�������;��-��$���+.�6�

�

���(���������(� �)��������

��

0���������-�-���!�������������$���-������������/�����*!�*1��������2����3-��������

������������������*���������*�������������4�-�-�����$$��� -$����������2-*��

�����-$�56�����������/��������!-�����%�!�2�������-�-���!������-�����%��"��$-�����

��������!-*����%!���*�-.-�/�3����-�*!��-�����-�1-����"��-$�5�7���8�����/9������

0�-��/9�+�������������/9�+�����������/9�+�����������/9��0�-��/�"�-���������/�

4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���������/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���������/�4��1�

��!-��/9�������/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�

�������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�	���

��/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/���-����������4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���

�������4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-����������4��1���!-��/9��������4��1���!-��/�

�����/9�4�,-�����/9�	���*�$%��9�	����*�$%���:�(������*�$%��6�����

���-�-���!�	�������;��-��$���+.�6�

�

� ����"��(����������������

��

�

-��������� ��������������������������������

��

0���������-�-���!�������������$���-������������/�����*!�*1��������2����3-��������

������������������*���������*�������������4�-�-�����$$��� -$����������2-*��

�����-$�56�����������/��������!-�����%�!�2�������-�-���!������-�����%��"��$-�����

��������!-*����%!���*�-.-�/�3����-�*!��-�����-�1-����"��-$�5�7���8�����/9������

0�-��/9�+�������������/9�+�����������/9�+�����������/9��0�-��/�"�-���������/�

4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���������/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���������/�4��1�

��!-��/9�������/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�

�������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�	���

�����/���������/&� ��&������-!��(&����

�����/���������/&� ��&������-!�	(&)'��

�����/���������/&� ��&������-!��(&����

Page 312



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����)����	
�

��/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/���-����������4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���

�������4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-����������4��1���!-��/9��������4��1���!-��/�

�����/9�4�,-�����/9�	���*�$%��9�	����*�$%���:�(������*�$%��6�����

���-�-���!�	�������;��-��$���+.�6�

�

�������"�����(���������

��

0���������-�-���!�������������$���-������������/�����*!�*1��������2����3-��������

������������������*���������*�������������4�-�-�����$$��� -$����������2-*��

�����-$�56�����������/��������!-�����%�!�2�������-�-���!������-�����%��"��$-�����

��������!-*����%!���*�-.-�/�3����-�*!��-�����-�1-����"��-$�5�7���8�����/9������

0�-��/9�+�������������/9�+�����������/9�+�����������/9��0�-��/�"�-���������/�

4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���������/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���������/�4��1�

��!-��/9�������/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�

�������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-���	�����/�4��1���!-��/9�	���

��/�4��1���!-��/������/9�0�-��/���-����������4��1���!-��/9��������/�"�-���

�������4��1���!-��/9������/�"�-����������4��1���!-��/9��������4��1���!-��/�

�����/9�4�,-�����/9�	���*�$%��9�	����*�$%���:�(������*�$%��6�����

���-�-���!�	�������;��-��$���+.�6�

�

�����/���������/&� 	(&������-!��(&����

�

�

�


����#����"��������(�����#�������%�
 

�
������/���������/&� ��&������-!��(&(��

�

�

*��������� ��������������������## �����(�� ���� !�.�����������������������/���

�((���## ���%�

�!*���!�-����""!-�������*����$"�-���%�������������������"��$-����

Page 313



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����<����	
�

�������

�

����!�0��"�������1��������!��� �#�������������������� �0.������� �)���1��(�

�� �����(�#�������� ������%�

=�!!��������

>�-�����?@��A������-�!����1�

;!�/%��1������

�����$�����

��(�)�B�

 �!�"�������$%��&�

+$�-!&��

�

��"����������������(��� ���!�(����,��# �����#����������!����������������

0.������## ���� �1%��

	(<	''(��

�

����!��������������� �#�������������(�����"������#����������#��)�����.�����

����#�������� ������������������������## ���(�� ���� %�

8���7;���-�����-��0�������C�

 �!�"�����#�$%��&� 
�

������� � ������������������������"������������(�#������ � ��������� �����

����"������#����������#��)�����.���������#�������� ������������������������## ��

�(�� ���� %�

�������!�!-*��*��#�$%��&�'�

A���-���!-*���-���������-�/&������$�����;-�/�;���*-!�

�

�

Page 314



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

���������	
�

�
������-*��*���������&���	6��6	��)� ������-�������-*���

�-*���-�����*�-���

�
�����!�����$�����&� 
�8�����/�	��(�

 /"�&� ���-��-����

Page 315



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

����������	
�

�

	���,�&�'����������������������
���

��6� =�������/�*���-�-��������-��!-*��*����E�-��������9�����"�*-�-����-$��9��������

$����-��-.-���!��$����%���������"��$-�������*���/���������*��-�/��*�-.-�/9���*����*��

-��-.-���!�$����%��!-*������%/�������*��-�/�A������/�������-�/���%?�*�������/�

�,�$"�-����-���**�����*��2-�������"��.-�-�������������-.������*��-�/�A������/��*��

	���6�

���

�	6� =�������"�����$$��-�*!��������-!$�-�������	�9��)�������*������/9����"������

�""���-������%��������������������	�3�������**�$"��-���-�������*���59��)����������

�""��"�-�������!!�%����$-����������/�"�����������"�����$$�F���������!-*��*����!����

���!!��-�"!�/�-����*���"-*�����"��-�-��������-*��-��������!!�2-������$�&�

�

�+���#��>#�+�� �+���+��0�GA#�+� ��������A� +���+H�;�##� �4+�

���A  +�� ���#I���� ��0� �+���������+6�

�

=������-!$������-��������*������-������$�"�������������$��"�����$$�9��������-*��

���!!���������������!��������������-*�-��6�

�

 �-��*���-�-�������������""!/����$�$%�������������������������!�.��������2�-!�����

���/�"��.-�������������"�-���2�-�����*��������������"�����J��"����������!���!������-���

�����-����%�����%��-���6�

���

�(6� A$$��-���!/�%��������*���,�-%-�-����������"��$-����������-!$�"������%/�����

4�-�-���4��������0-!$�;!���-�-*��-������������!!�%���,�-%-��������*������������!�����

�-.����*�����-����*����$������������%�����-!/������%/��!!�"�������-���������-���-�$9���

��"����*�-����������*���-�-*�����������4�����-��-*��-�������*������/���������-!$6��0���

���-!$�"������%/������-*���-���������-�/9����-*������!!�%���-�"!�/���%����-��-�������

����-�������"��$-������������"������������-���*�������-!/���������$�����%���2�������

����*������/�����*���������/��-!$�������-!��6�

���

�
6� A�������-*���-���������-�/����������������2-�������*������/�-��2�-*����/��-!$�

"������%/�����4�-�-���4��������0-!$�;!���-�-*��-���-��"!�*��9����/����!!�%�����!-%���/����

Page 316



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����'����	
�

�!������*��*������/9����9�������-*�������*���!�����-���%�-����-.���%/������-*���-���

������-�/��������!-*��*����!���9������-!$���������������!!�%���������������.-���%����

"!�*���-�������!������*������/���������*���-�-�����""!-*�%!����������,�-%-�-�������-!$��

-����*���!������*������/����!!�%��*�$"!-���2-��6�

�

�A�������-*���-���������-�/���E����������!-*��*����!��������,�-%-��������$���/��-!$9�

������!!������������*���������%!���-$���������!-*���-���������-�/�$�/9�-��2�-�-��9�

�-��*�6�

���

�)6� #����""!/�����!*���!�$�/�%��$��������������"��$-����!-*��*�7��

�

3�5��������-$��2����������-��������-�������"��$-������"��.-����-�����"�*���������

"��$-����!-*��*�9�����

�

3%5��������-$��2�����������-�������"��$-������"��.-���������������!����"������!�

!-*��*������-������"������!�!-*��*��-�����"�����6�

���

�<6� +.��/���""!/�����!*���!�����������"��$-����!-*��*��$����%��$�������������-����

%/���"������2�����!�����"������!�!-*��*�6�

���

�6� 3�5�� ������"���-%!��"���������!!���1���!!��������%!�����"�����������������������

�����!�.����"��$-�����������*���/����9������������"���-*-"����-����/�-����"���-%!��

"��$��-����-����!��-����������"��$-���6�

�

3	5��A����-��"������"�9����-����"���-%!��"��$��-���$�������/��������$�����������

��!!�2-����*�-.-�-��9������%�����-�!!/��-$-!����*�-.-�-��9�*���-��������������"��"�������

��*�����-���������!�������""!/�����!*���!�����*����$"�-����������"��$-����-����$������

2�-*��*���-������-��-�-*�����-�1����!���-������*����-%��-������*�-$�������-������9�

"��?��-*�����"�%!-*������/9�"�%!-*���-���*��������$����*�-!����&�

�

3�5����$�������������*�-.-�-���2�-*����E�-��������*������9�����������-����������E�-���

�����*�������-��-.-���!�����7�

���

Page 317



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����������	
�

������3-5����-�1���E����-�/�����!*���!�2-��-�����-$��!-$-��3����������������-�1��!*���!���!��

�����""!-����������"��$-����%����������*�����-����������"��-���-��2�-*������

���"���-%!��"������-��������-���������!!������""!/��!*���!59����

�

�����3--5����-�1����$�*���!*���!����"���-%!��32�������2-��-�����-$��!-$-����������2-��5F�

�

3%5��"��.-�-��������!-$-����������"�*-�-���E����-�-�������!*���!����������������-,������

�-�*������������������"�%!-*�������������"����-����%/���"���-*�!���*����*���-��-*�

3�������������/�"��$��-�������-�*������.�-!�%!��������-��-.-���!�-�����"�*������!*���!�

����*����$"�-����������%!��$��!9�������-����-����*�-����)'���������*�5F�

�

3*5��"��.-�-���������������-�*��������!*���!������/���������-��������"�-C�������*�������

�����2��������"��*���������*����$"�-�������!*���!��.�����"��-������	
����������!���F�

�

3�5��"��.-�-���������������-�*��������!*���!�-����!��-����������.-�2-����������"��$-����

������"���-����.���9�2����������"��.-�-���-����"����������7�

�

������3-5���������*�$���������*�9�*�$"��-�-�������������.�������"��*���9����

�

�����3--5������!-1�!-����������/��-����**���-�����������**���-��F�

�

3�5����!!-��������""!/-����!*���!�-������*-��-���2-���"��$��-���!�"�����������!/������9����

-������.-*-�-�/���9�����"��$-����2�-*��*���%���������%!/�%��*���-���������*������9�

��*�����������!�$��-������-7��*-�!�%���.-���������������������������*������

����1�������-����/���.����%!��$�����6�

���

��6�  ������"���-%!��"���������!!�����������������!*���!�-���-�"�������-��*�!/�%/�����

"������-��������$����������������3�����������2����������"������-�����%!�������-�1�

2-���������-����*��%/��������������-��%-!-�/56�

���

�'6�  ������"���-%!��"���������!!��������������������"�2�����-��"��.-���������E�����

���*����$����2�����-��-���������%!/��.�-!�%!�6�

���

Page 318



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����������	
�

��6�  ���"��$-����!-*��*����!�������*!�%�"��$-����*���-�-*������!�������!!��������

������������.��-�-*��-���"�!-*/��""!-����������"��$-����-����!��-������������!�������""!/�

����!*���!6�

�

 ���"�!-*/�$������E�-���-��-.-���!��2����""��������������"���-%!��"���������%��������

���/������������3�����*���!�����������$�/�%���"�*-�-���-������"�!-*/5����"����*�����

��E����9�%������%�-������.����!*���!9�-����-�-*��-���%���-������-��"�������"�9���������

%-������������!����"�-*�$��16�

���

��6�  ������"���-%!��"���������!!������������&�

�

3�5��2�������/����������!!�2-����!*���!-*���-�1��-����!��������""!-�������*����$"�-������

����"��$-����3������������!*���!-*���-�1����!�������""!-�����.-���%����$�����"�-��

��.��*������/�������!�������""!/�-������*���!/�*!�����*����-���5�-��-���.�-!�%!�����

*����$����-��������!!�2-���$��������7��

�

3-5��%�������*-���&���	�"-��F�

�

3--5���-�9���$9.��1�����2�-�1/&�	)$!����()$!F�����

�

3---5���-!!�2-���-�����!���&��	)�$!F�����

�

3%5��*����$��������$�����2������������.�-!�%-!-�/����������$�������6�

�

Page 319



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

������	����	
�

	���,���'�����������������������.��������-#������"������� ��
��������������

��6�  ���$�,-$�$��**�"����*�"�*-�/�"��$-������������"��$-�������!!������,*����

<���"������&7��

����7�4���$����

)���7��������0!����

���

�	6� #��"�����������������������������!!�%��"��$-������������"��$-���6�

���

�(6� A�����"�*�����#�2�I���@��+.�9�����"��$-��������������!!�*���-�������$���������

���"��$-��������������#�2�I���@��+.������������������"��$-������������������

��!!�2-�����/6�

���

�
6� 	��A�����-���������������������%���$"!�/������������-��������"��������������

"��$-��������������������"���������,�����6�

���

�)6�  ����-*���������!!���1����*�����/����"�����-����-�/�*����$����-�.�!.���-����/�

-�*���-�������%���.-����-������.-*-�-�/��������"��$-������������,*!������*��*����$����

���$�����������������������"��$-���6�

���

�<6� �������������-�������.�*��-�������%���$������������!!���������!/�.-������

��"������%���$����������*���-��������������������������������"��$-��������""��������

�����,-��-���������*���������"��$-�����-���������������������8��*�-��9�-�����������

�.�-��*������-���������-���*���**��-�����������������������*������6�

���

�6�  ���;; ���/���$����-����!!������!!�%��$�-���-����-�������-���*���/�2��1-���

*���-�-�������������*���-�������2�-*���������%��1�"��������$-�-$�$������-��/�����

��/�6��#��*����������!!�%��$������������/���$�2-����������"�-����""��.�!��������

;���*-!�-��*����!���-���2-�������;�-������-*��������!-*�6�

���

��6� �!!���-�����-�-������$�"�%!-*��������-�$�����������"��$-�������!!�%��-����-%!����

$���������-�����/���-�������-�-.��"��$-���6�

���

�'6� #��"����������!!�%����$-�����-��������"��$-�����������	&��������6�

Page 320



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

������(����	
�

���

��6�  ���"��$-�������!!�����%���"�����������"��"��������2�-*����-���-*��*��-��

�������������/��**��-���2���������-*���-���������-�/���.���-��-�-���-��2�-�-����������

�-*��*����!�������������"��$-�������!!�%��*!����6�

���

��6� 3�5�� ��������!!�%�9����-��������-$���2����$�$%�����������"�%!-*������������

"��$-���9�������-*-������$%�����������������-������%�-!�-�����������"��"�������

�����-���*�$"!-��*��2-�������*���-�-������������-*��*�9������*����$%�������$�/�%��

��E�������%/�����;�-������-*��������!-*�����������-������E�����"�%!-*������������/�

"��$-���6�

�

3%5� ����-*��*����!���������!!���*����������������!!���1������"��*���-������������

"��.���-�������**-�������������!!��%���-�����$��*��2�-*�����������*������-������

���������$�$%�����������"�%!-*�-����/�2�/6�

���

�	6� 4������$�$%�����������"�%!-*�������$-������������"��$-���9������-*��*��

��!���������������$-������"������$�����������������!!�*���-�-������������-*��*������

��!!/�$��6�

���

�(6� ���-�������"��-������������"��$-������������������������-�$���9����������!!�%��

-����������*�����������-����-����������-������%����!!�2���-��*��������-������������

�$�����*/6�� ��������!!��!���%�����������-����-���-�����-��"��*������6�

���

�
6� ��!-*������0-������-*������������;����/������$"��-������!!�����!!��-$�����.��

�**�����������"��$-�������������-*���������!!�*�$"!/�2-�����/��������%!���-���

"��.�����-.�����������/�$�������������$�/�%����E�-����%/�����;�-���0-������-*��6�

���

�)6� �!!�"������������"��$-�������!!�%���"������-��"�*�-���%/���!/�������-����

���-*������������-*���-���������-�/����-��������-$������"��$-��������%�-������������

����"��"��������2�-*�������-*��*��-������������������/��������-$���"����������%!��

���-*��%�-����-.�����������-*��*����!���6�

���

�<6�  ����-*��*����!�������!!�*����*������"��$-������*���!/9���%��!/�����-�����

�����!/�$�����6��#���-���*������/������%�-��/9���*��*/���������$����������!!�%��

"�����$��9�"����*��9��,�-%-���������"��������������-�6��#��"�����-�/����-$"��"�-��/�

Page 321



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

������
����	
�

���!�������9������9����*��3-�*!��-�����/�"�����$��*��-�.�!.-���������$�.�!����

���$����59�����������������/��-���2�-*��-��-����/�2�/�������-.�����"�%!-*����!-�������

*�!*�!��������"����*�����-����%��*�����%���*���������"��*�����!!�%��"��$-������������

"��$-���6�

���

�6� #��"�����������"��$-�������!!�%�������%/�"����-��������������"��"��������

��!-*-���-�����������2-����,��*-�-������-��*�!!-��6�

���

��6� #���,�-%-�-��9���$�������-������"�����$��*������/"���-�$������/�"���������!!�

%��"��$-�����2-����������"�-���2�-�����*���������������-*���-���������-�/6�

���

�'6�  ����-*��*����!�������!!���1���!!�����"��*���-�����������������/��������"�%!-*9�

����"�����$�����������-���$"!�/���6�

���

	�6� #��"�����9���.���-��$���9�"�������"�9��1��*�9��/��"�-�����"�����$$�����!!�%��

�-�"!�/��9���!�������""!-����������"��$-����������!������?�-�-���%/�������%���!���������

�-*��*����!����2�-*��-��!-1�!/����%��-�?��-�������$���!-�/���������*����������-�*-���

*�-$��������!��������-�������������%��������-.�����"�%!-*����!-������2�-*��*����-�����/�

������-.����"��������-��������!-.-���"�����6�

���

	�6� =����������-*���-���������-�/����!!���.���-.������-*��-��2�-�-�����������-*��*��

��!�����%?�*�-�����������.���-��$�����������������������9�-���-�"!�/��9�-��2��!��

����������-��������������������*��*/����%��!-1�!/������*����������-�*-������*�-$�����

���!��������-�������������%��������-.�����"�%!-*����!-����������.���-��$�������!!�����

%���-�"!�/����������"��$-�����,*�"��2-�������*�������-��2�-�-�����������-*���-���

������-�/6�

���

		6� �!�����-����������-�-���������"��$������������������������*����9�����!-���-��9�

����-������.���-!��-���-����!!��-������������������-��9�����2�/������������������$�����

�������"��$-�������!!�����%��$�����,*�"��2-�������"�-����""��.�!���������-*���-���

������-�/6��;�"-������"!�������2-���"��"������!�����-����������-�-����$����%��

��%$-�������������-*���-���������-�/����!�����	����/��"�-�����������""!-*��-��6���!����

���!!��!���%����%$-������������;�-���0-������-*�������;�-������-*��������!-*�6�

���

Page 322



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

������)����	
�

	(6�  ����������$���������"��.-�-����$���������-��%!���"����������!!�����!!��-$���

%������*�-.�!/�$�-���-��������-���**�����*��2-�����/��"�*-�!�*���-�-����-$"�����%/�

�����-*���-���������-�/�-�����"�*��������"�*-�-*�"��$-���6�

���

	
6� ���������2�-�-�����$-��-����������"��$-�������!!�����%���!!�2������*����������

-����/�"�����������"��$-�����,*�"��-��"��-�-�����""��.���%/������-*���-���������-�/�

������-��"��"���6�

���

	)6�  ���$�,-$�$���$%������"����������%����$-����������/������-$���������

"��$-�������!!������,*�����������-������-��-*�������������-*��*�6�

���

	<6� �!!�������!���-������$�+BA ��-����"�������������������-����������"��$-����

���!!�2�������E�-����%/������-*���-���������-�/����%��1�"���"����������������%�*1�%/�

$����������"��!�*1������������.-*������%��1�"��*!��������%����*�-��6�� �$"����/�

%���-�������!!�����%���-�����������/�"��$������%���-���-���,-��2�/��2�-*��$�/�%��

�""��.���2-��������""��.�!���������-*���-���������-�/�����*��*1-������*�����!!-���

��$-��-������!!�%�����������������������"��-�-���-$$��-���!/�-������!-�������,-���2-!!�

�"�������$��-*�!!/��"���"��������%�-����""!-���-�������-��*�-�����������,-�6�

���

	6�  �����$%��9��-C������"��-�-�������!!�����������"��-����"��.-������������"��"����

�������������$�����"��$-�������!!�%������������-���*�-�����������-*���-���������-�/�

�������!!�*�$"!/�2-���������!!�2-�����E�-��$����6�

�

3�5���!!���*������������"��-�����""��.���%/������-*���-���������-�/����!!�%��*!���!/�

-��-*�����%/�����2����K+BA K6�

�

3%5�������������"��-���������������+BA ��2�-*��!�������"������������"��$-����

�**���-%!���������"�%!-*����!!���.�����-*���"!�*����.������$�-��-*��-����������������*��

"��������%��$��1���K��A�� +K����K#���>4�A;����A  �#;+K6�

�

3*�5����*�����-*��������-����-��-*��-�������2�/������������"��$-�������!!�%��"��.-����

��������-*���-���������-�/�$�/�*���-������*�����/6�

�

3�5��#��-*���%���-�������2�����K#��+BA K����!!�����%���,�-%-����2-����������*�������

��������-*���-���������-�/6�

Page 323



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

������<����	
�

�

3�5�� ������-*���������������-����-��*���-�-������!!�%��2�����"��*�-*�%!���������-�������

���!�����<������'�-�*����3	�)$$5��%�.�������!��������2�����"���-%!�����!!�%��"!�*���

�.�����������������"��-�������2�-*�����/���!���6�

�

3�5���!!����-*������!!�%����$-�-$�$����$$�%!�*1�!�����-��9�2�-���!�����-��������������

%�*1������6�

�

3�5���!!���2�+BA ��-�������!!�*�$"!/�2-���4�-�-������������)
''���������''�6�� ���

�-*���-���������-�/����!!9�-����"��$-�������������������������-���*���/�����������

-!!�$-���-��9���E�-���������!!�+BA ��-����%�������$�-���-�����/"��3��������!-*�����������

�������"��$-������!/56�

�

3�5���!!�$����������*�"���������-�*!��-�������2�/�9�*���-��������"������2�/��!���-���

����,-��������!!����-�2�/��������$"������"�%!-*�����$����%��1�"����������$�

�%����*�-����������E����!/�!-��2����.�������!-*������"��$-��������-�����6�

���

	�6� ��!/���*��"������������"��$-���������.��%�����""��.���%/������-*���-���

������-�/����!!�%�������������-�-������$�����*!��1���$������"��.-�-�����������-���

��������*��������!!�����%��$����-����/�*���-����9�"�������9�����2�/������,-��2�/��

�����%/�����"�%!-*6�

���

	'6� #��������-�������������������$��-*�%�!���������/"���""��.���%/������-*���-���

������-�/����!!�%���-���������,-�������������%/�����"�%!-*�����%�!�������-��������!!�%��

�����*��"�������-����*��"��-�-����������;���*-!�$�/������$-����,*�"�������*�%-�����1��

������"�����1��"������,-��������-������"���"��-�-���$�/�%���-����6������$��-*�%�!���

���!!�%�������*����"���������������-C����!�"���������������*�����%����2-!!��"�������

����6�� ���*�����%�������!!9�2�����"��*�-*�%!�9�%��"!�*����������-�������(������

3'�
$$5����$�����%����$������������6���������-�����2-�������$��-*�%�!������!!���.����

���-*��3���!�����)�$$5��-��5�K�>���4��� ����+#K��-,����"������$�-��%!�*1�

!�����-��9�2�-��������������%�*1������6�

�

A�������-*���-���������-�/����!!���.���-.���*���������������������*��-��9�"��!�*1�����

������!�*1-�����.-*���������*��-����,-��������2��������"�%!-*����������������"��$-���9�

�����"���-%!��"���������!!�%����E�-���������$�.����*��*��-��9�"��!�*1�����������

Page 324



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

����������	
�

��.-*���%������������$-��-����������"�%!-*�������*��*��-��9�"��!�*1�������������.-*���

���!!�����%����"!�*������-�������2��!���-$������"�%!-*�����"�������-������"��$-���6��

#��$�!!/��!!�*��-���"��!�*1������!��%��1�"��-����������*�������!/���"��.-����%/�����

�-*��*����!����������������"���-%!�������6���!!�*��-�������"��!�*1��$����%����*��������

��"��"���K*��-��%����K�����"��"��!/���$%����6�

���

(�6� =�����*�!!�"�-%!�������������!!7�"����������������������������!!�%��!�*1���-��

�����"���"��-�-���2�-!�������"�%!-*�����"������6����.�!.-������������!!�����%����������

�,-�������6�

���

(�6� ;����-������!!�%�����E����!/���""�����6�� ��/����!!�����%��������*�����

����2�/������.������-�2�/�����-����*����$������������*��*��!����-*��6��=����������

�*���������2�/������*�����*���-��������/����!!�%�����������������������2����-!/����$�

����*�����������!-�������!/�����%������������������/�����*!������������!���6�

���

(	6� �!!��-,������"��$��������*����-�������!!�%����������2-�������-��%!���!�$��

������������!��-��6��A��-���""�������������-*���-���������-�/�������������������

$����-�!9���%�-*�����-�-���$-�������-��������"���������-���-������"��$-�����������*��

$����-�!9���%�-*�����-�-���$����%����"!�*������%����������2-�������-��%!���!�$��

������������!��-����������*����-���-�16�

���

((6� #����%%-������2�����"�"������!!�%�������������!!�2�������**�$�!����-����/�"����

�������!-*������"��$-���6�������������*�$%���-%!��$����-�!�����!�$$�%!��!-E�-������!!�

����%���!!�2����������"��$-���6�

���

(
6� �!!�"������������"��$-���������-��-��������-��-�*!��-�����������-��9������

������-�����������-*������!!�%��$�-���-��������!!��-$���-�����������������*���-�-��6��

�!!���2�����-���"��.-���������!-*������"��$-�������!!�%����������2-�������-��%!���!�$��

������������!��-������*�$"!/�2-���*�������4�-�-��������/��������������$-�-$-����-���

�-�1�6������-��9���%!�������*��-�����������������-����������-��-�������!!�%��������������

�������!!�2��������������/��**��������,-��6�

�

A��"��$-����2�����$���������	���"�����������!���������
���"��������������%���������

-���������-���-�$9��������������*��-������!!�%��%�����������������-��!��������������

!���������
���������$����������	������6�

Page 325



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����������	
�

�

A��"��$-����2�����$���������
���"��������������%��*!���!/��������-���������-���-�$�

�������������*��-�����?�-�-��������9���������*���������2�/������������������?�-�-���

�,-������!!�%���-�$!/������������������!���������!!���$�-�-������������*��-������!!�%��

%�����������������-��!��������������!���������
���������$����������	������6�

�

����2�/�����!!�%��"��.-����-������*�-�����������-���-����*����$���������������*������

��������������*��-�����!!�%��$����������
������3
6)$5����$�������2�/�$���������!����

��!-����������-��6�

���

()6� 3�5�� ���"��$-�������!!�%��"��.-����2-����-����,�-���-��������-��%!����������-���

�-�1���������"��$-����������*���E�-"$�������!!�%��$�-���-����-��"��"���2��1-���������

�������!!�%���.�-!�%!������-����������6�

�

3%5���!!��-����-���-����E�-"$����"��.-����2-��-������"��$-�������!!�%���,�$-�������

!�������*�������!!/6�������%!���-����,�-���-���������!!�%���,�$-�������!�������*��

$����!/������������%/���*�$"������"������-���**�����*��2-�������4�-�-������������

;����������*�-*��)(�<&������(��'��6�� �������������*����������!!�%��*!���!/�$��1������

�����,�-���-�������������������%������*�����������6�� ����-*��*����!�������!!�"����*��

�"�����E�������*���-�-*����������!!��-����-���-����E�-"$��������%�����,�$-��������

�������%/���*�$"������"�����6���!!��,�-���-���������!!�%��$����������2�!!�%��*1����

2-������-��*���/-�������!����""��,-$���!/�(������3'�
$$5����$������!����!�.�!6�

�

3*�5����!���%��1����!!�%��1�"���������"��$-����-��2�-*�����!!�%����������"���-*�!�������

��/�������!��**�����*���3��*������-���9�����%���1��2�������/��������!-���-������.-*���

���2�������""!/59��-�����-!!����������.��/���������.-��!��E�-"$���6�� ���!���%��1����!!�

%��1�"���.�-!�%!������%��"����*�������-��"�*�-���2������E�-����%/���0-������-*��9�

��!-*�����-*������%/���/�������-�������-*�����������-*���-���������-�/6�

�

3�5�� ��������!!�%���-�"!�/���-����*���"-*�����"!�*��-������"��$-������������*����*����

2-�������!�"����9�"���-*�!���������������������!�"������.�-!�%!��-�������.����������

�$�����*/6�

�

Page 326



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

������'����	
�

��/����%���1�����-��9����$��������2��$�!!9�$����%����"������-$$��-���!/���������-���

%�-������������-*����-.-���-�����*�-���������2����*�!!������-���%�-�����$����%��

"��$-����!/��-�"!�/����������"��$-���6�

�

3�5�� ����-*��*����!���9�����"������-��*�������������"��$-�����������!���������������

$�$%�������������������!!�%��"��"��!/�-�����*����-������"����*�-����������"��$-����

���$��-��9�����������������-����""!-��*���"��.-������������$�����������$$��-�������

�-���%�-����6�

�

3�5��A�����-����!��$��/���$�-��-����!!��9������-*���������!!�"����*���"�����E����9���

*���-�-*��������������/���$�����%�����,�$-���������������%/���*�$"������"�����6�

���

(<6� +,*�"��2-�������"��$-��-�����������-*���-���������-�/�-��2�-�-�������-��

�**�����*��2-�����/�*���-�-��������*���������*��"��$-��-��9��*����/����������������

"��"���-������!!�����%��1�"�����������������"!�����$����-����/�"�����������"��$-���6�

�

+,*�"��2-�������*���������������-*���-���������-�/�-��2�-�-���������%?�*�������/�

*���-�-����2�-*��$�/�%������*���������*��"��$-��-��9��,"!��-.�������-��!/��!�$$�%!��

��%����*������!!�����%��%�������-�9�������9����������������"��$-���6�

�

�/����*��-*������������*����.-*������!!�����%�������2-����������"�-���2�-�����*�������

��������-*���-���������-�/6�

�

�-��!/�-��!�$$�%!��$����-�!��$��������%���������������*����$����������"�����$���9�

-�������*����/����������*����-�������������������-���-�$������/�"�����������"��$-����

��!�������/���.��%��������������-�����������������������-���*�-�����������-*���-���

������-�/���������$�-���-����-�������*���-�-��6�� ������������1����!�$�����!!�����%��

"��$-������,*�"��2��������-*�!/���*�����/��������"�����$��*������2-�������"�-���

�""��.�!���������-*���-���������-�/�-��2�-�-��6�

�

 �/�%�!!������-!!���2-���-��!�$$�%!���������!!�����%������9���!������,�-%-�����������

"��$-���6�

���

Page 327



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����	�����	
�

(6� �-$�!-���9��*��/!��������-����!!��-����������!�*/!-�������������������������

*�$"��������-�9��,/���9��/����������������!-E�-������������"�����������!!�����%�������

�,*�"��2-�������"��$-��-�����������-*���-���������-�/�-��2�-�-��6�

���

(�6� �!!�!�.����-��9�=;J��������-��!��-������"��$-�������!!�����!!��-$���%��1�"��-�������

������������"�-������%��"��"��!/�*!�����9�.���-!����9��-�-���*����������""!-���2-���

2�����3��������*�!�5���������������!���-���-������������*-!-�-������!!�%����-��%!/�

$��1��6�����E�����������"���������-���/�*��.��-��*������!!�%��"��.�������"���������

��*����,������E�-����%/������-*���-���������-�/6��#���������!!�%��"�/�%!��������������

�����������*-!-�-��6�

���

('6� A��"��$-����2����������-�����.��9������������9�"��"����-����������.-���������

���!!�%��$�-���-��������������-���*�-�����������-*���-���������-�/6�

���


�6� �!!��!����9��!����*�.��-���������"��!����/�-������"��$-�������!!�%��$�-���-����-��

��*!����*���-�-��6�

���


�6� ;��"���9�$���-��������������!����*�.��-�������!!�%����*���������$�-���-�������

��������/�2-!!�������*1�����*������%����*�-������%��-����/�2�/�������*�����������6�

���


	6�  ����������������������������"���������-�2�/�����!!�%���������������

$�-���-����-�������7�!-"�*���-�-�������2�����!-���-���*���-�-�����������-�����-��%!�9�

���������������*�����"�����!!�%��$����*���"-*�����%/�"�-��-������������$����6�

���


(6� �!!��!�*��-*�!�$"���!�����2-��-�����*���������"�%!-*����!!�%��1�"���-�����2-���

!�$"�����������!��1������.-*���3�;;4�56�

���



6� �!!��!�*��-*�!��-��-���9�2-�-��������""!-��*������!!�%��*������*��������

$�-���-����-����������������-���*���/�*���-�-�����������������-���*�-����������

�-*���-���������-�/6���!!��!�*��-*�!�-����!!��-�������!!�%��-��"�*������*����*��/����%/���

E��!-�-����!�*��-*-����""�-�����%/������-*��*����!����������*���-�-*��������-�������

*���-�-�����������-����!!��-���3-�*!��-��������$�����*/�!-���-����/���$5����!!�%��

���2��������������-*���-���������-�/��"�����E����6�

���

Page 328



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����	�����	
�


)6�  ���"�%!-*�"������������"��$-�������!!�%��1�"��"��"��!/���������-*-���!/�

.���-!��������������������������-���*�-�����������-*���-���������-�/6�

���


<6� #�����$��������-��������������������""��.���%/������-*���-���������-�/����!!�

%�������-����/�"�����������!-*������"��$-���6�

���


6� �!!����$���������-������!!�%�����"����*��������-�����������-*-���!/��������$���/�

2���2��19�����-�������������$����-�!��!-1�!/����*��*���-����������������%�����

!-1�!-���������-���%/��������������-��"��,-$-�/������������-����""!-��*�6�

���


�6� +.��/�����-����""!-��*���-�������-����"�����������"��$-�������2�-*������"�%!-*�

������$-��������!!�%���-,���-��"��-�-��6�

���


'6� =�������*�����/9�����-����""!-��*������!!�%��"����*����%/���-��%!���-���

������6�

���

)�6� �����2����������-$-!���������-������!!�%��-����!!�����!/�-��"��-�-�����""��.���%/�

�����-*���-���������-�/�����������!!�2-���*���-�-�����%���.��&7�

�

3�5��������*-���.�!.���������-��%!���/"�����!!�%���-�����%��2������������*/!-���������

����"-"-����������*��%��������������!!����$�"������������-,���-����!!��-��6�

�

3%5������-��%!���������E����������/�.�!.�����!!�%������*�����-��*���������*��%������6�

�

3*�5����"�����������������!!�%���-������-��*���������*��%������������������!������������

*/!-�����-����?�*�����������������������!!��!���%���-������������!�2�"���������-������

��������*-���.�!.�������������$�!�2��1-���"���������������$�*�-������!!�%����-��%!/�

-��-*�������������-�!�6�

�

3�5���!!�"�������������*/!-������-���������-�����������!!�%�����"��-�-���������"��.-����

2-�����%�����-�!���*��-�������"�����*��*1������.�-�����$�%�-�����$����6�

���

)�6� =��������"�����������"�%!-*��������-�$���9��!���-���!-�����-�*!��-���

����%��*�"-*����L*-�*�!��-��M���*�!-������������������&7�

�

Page 329



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����		����	
�

3�5�������-*�����!!�%���-�"!�/���-����"��$-�����"��-�-����������������*���������"��$-����

��.-�-���.-�-��������������������������!-���-����/���$������������"�*-�/-�����"������

���$�2��$�����-!���������!-���-����/���$�*���%���%��-������9�

�

3%5������!-���-����/���$����!!�%����*��������!���-���!-���������������������E���*/�����

�,*���-����-.���!������"�����*���6�

���

)	6� #��!�������.-*�����!!�%�������-����"��$-����2-����������"�-���2�-�����*����������

�����-*���-���������-�/6�

���

)(6� A����!��-��������!/�����$���-������2�-*��4�-�-�����$$��� -$��%��-��9�����

"��$-�������������������"��.-�-������$��-*9��-��-����������*-������!-*������"��$-����

���$�!!/��"���%��2������&(�������	&������������!!��,���������������������������

���$�!!/��"�*-�-������$-��!�����6�

���

)
6�  ���!-*��*����!�������!!��������������,-��-����"����-���"��*�����������"�!-*-��9�

2�-*��-�*!�����-�1�������$����9����-�-�������!!�������-���!!���"�*����������!����/�

*�$"!-��*�������"����-���"�!-*-�������$�����������������.�-���*�������-������������

��-���*�������-��%���������$�-���-���6�

�

�

�

Page 330



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����	(����	
�

	���,��'����������������������(������������"��������

 �������"�����������

Page 331



����������	�
�����

�����������������

�
��������������������������������� !���� �������"�����������#���������

���������������"�	�������������"� ����������������������$�

�

�����	
����	
�

	���,�2�+�� ����
�

��������*���6�
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



Page 356



Page 357



Page 358



Page 359



Page 360



Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



Page 386



Page 387



Page 388



Page 389



Page 390



Page 391



Page 392



Page 393



Page 394



Page 395



Page 396



Page 397



Page 398



Page 399



Page 400



Page 401



Page 402



Page 403



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



This page is intentionally left blank



        
 
Sexual Entertainment Venues  
 
Guidance for England and Wales 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 443



 

 2

 
Contents 
 
Ministerial Foreword       4 
 
1. Introduction        5 
Definitions         5 

Policing and Crime Act 2009       5 

The Guidance         5 

 
2. Policing and Crime Act 2009      7 
Meaning of Sexual Entertainment Venue     7 

Nudity          8 

The Organiser         8 

Spontaneous Entertainment       9 

Premises that are not Sexual Entertainment Venues   9 

Amendments to the Licensing Act 2003     10 

Consultation with Local People      11 

 

3. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act) 1982  13 
The Appropriate Authority       13 

Committee or Sub-Committee      13 

Adopting the Provisions       14 

Requirement for a Sex Establishment Licence     15 

Premises that are Deemed to be Sexual Entertainment Venues 15 

Notices          16 

Application Forms        16 

Single Point of Contact       17 

Fees          17 

Objections          18 

Hearings          18 

Refusal of a Licence         19 

Relevant Locality        20 

Licence Conditions        22 

Duration of Licences        23  

Page 444



 

 3

Appeals          23 

Licensing Policies        23 

Offences         24 

Provisions Relating to Existing Premises     25 

The Services Directive       25 

 

4. Transitional Arrangements       27 
Transitional Period         27 

Existing Operators         27 

New Applicants        28 

Determining Application Received Before the 2nd Appointed Day 28 

Determining Application Received After the 2nd Appointed Day 29 

Outstanding Application        29 

Existing Licence Conditions        30 

ECHR Considerations       31 

Changes to licensing policies       32 

London           32 

Sex Encounter Establishments      32 

Hostess Bars         33 

Soliciting for Custom       33 

   

Annex A: Guide to Transitional Period and Existing Operators 35 
 

Annex B: Guide to Transitional Period and New Applicants 36 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 445



 

 4

MINISTERIAL FOREWORD  
 

In September 2008, the previous Home Secretary 

announced the Government’s intention to give local people 

greater say over the number and location of lap dancing 

clubs in their area. This followed a consultation with local 

authorities which highlighted concerns that existing  

legislation did not give communities sufficient powers to control where lap 

dancing clubs were established.  

 

In order to address these concerns, section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 

2009 reclassifies lap dancing clubs as sexual entertainment venues and gives 

local authorities in England and Wales the power to regulate such venues as 

sex establishments under Schedule 3 to the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.  

 

These new measures, which take effect on 6th April 2010 in England and on 

8th May in Wales, will, if adopted by local authorities, give local people a 

greater say over where and how many lap dancing clubs open and operate in 

their neighbourhoods.   

 

These are important reforms to further empower local communities and the 

purpose of this guidance is to provide advice to local authorities, operators, 

local people and other interested parties on the new measures introduced by 

section 27 and the associated secondary legislation.  

   

Alan Campbell  

 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Crime Reduction 
 

March 2010  
 

 

Page 446



 

 5

INTRODUCTION 
 
Definitions 
 
1.1 In this guidance –  

The “2009 Act” means the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

The “1982 Act” means the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 

The “2003 Act” means the Licensing Act 2003 

“Section 27” means section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

“Schedule 3” means Schedule 3 to the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

 

Policing and Crime Act 2009 
 

1.2 Section 27 introduces a new category of sex establishment called 

‘sexual entertainment venue’, which will allow local authorities to 

regulate lap dancing clubs and similar venues under Schedule 3.  

 

1.3 Section 27 gives local authorities more powers to control the number 

and location of lap dancing clubs and similar venues in their area. 

These powers are not mandatory and will only apply where they are 

adopted by local authorities. Where adopted, these provisions will allow 

local authorities to refuse an application on potentially wider grounds 

than is permitted under the 2003 Act and will give local people a 

greater say over the regulation of lap dancing clubs and similar venues 

in their area. 

 
The Guidance  
 

1.4 The guidance is provided for local authorities carrying out their 

functions under Schedule 3, as amended by section 27. It will also be 

of use to operators, the police and the general public.  

 

 

 
Page 447



 

 6

1.5 Interpretation of the relevant primary and secondary legislation is 

ultimately a matter for the courts.  However, local authorities are 

encouraged to have regard to the guidance when exercising their 

functions (although there is no statutory requirement to do so) in order 

to promote best practice and consistency across England and Wales.  

 

1.6 The guidance is composed of 3 sections. Section 2 focuses on the 

2009 Act and the definition of ‘sexual entertainment venue’. Section 3 

provides an explanation of the meaning and effect of Schedule 3 to the 

1982 Act and section 4 provides guidance on the transitional provisions 

as set out in the transitional orders: The Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(Commencement No.1 and Transitional and Saving 

Provisions)(England) Order 2010 and the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(Consequential Provisions )(England) Order 2010 and any equivalent 

orders made by Welsh Ministers in respect to Wales.  

 

1.7 Apart from extending the scope of the 1982 Act to cover the licensing 

of sexual entertainment venues and removing the sex encounter 

establishment category in those local authority areas that adopt the 

new provisions, the 2009 Act and the associated secondary legislation 

makes only minor changes to the operation of Schedule 3.  

 

1.8 Section 27 of, and Schedule 3 to, the 2009 Act come into force in 

England on 6th April as does the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(Consequential Provisions) (England) Order 2010.   In Wales, the 

equivalent provisions come into force on 8th May 2010. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 448



 

 7

POLICING AND CRIME ACT 2009 
 
Meaning of Sexual Entertainment Venue 
 

2.1 Paragraph 2A of Schedule 3 as inserted by section 27 sets out the 

meaning of a ‘sexual entertainment venue’ and ‘relevant entertainment’ 

for the purposes of these provisions. A sexual entertainment venue is 

defined as “any premises at which relevant entertainment is provided 

before a live audience for the financial gain of the organiser or the 

entertainer.”   

 

2.2 The meaning of ‘relevant entertainment’ is “any live performance or live 

display of nudity which is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, 

it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or principally for 

the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of an audience 

(whether by verbal or other means).”  An audience can consist of just 

one person (e.g. where the entertainment takes place in private 

booths). 

 

2.3 While local authorities should judge each case on its merits, we would 

expect that the definition of relevant entertainment would apply to the 

following forms of entertainment as they are commonly understood: 

 

• Lap dancing  

• Pole dancing  

• Table dancing  

• Strip shows  

• Peep shows 

• Live sex shows 

 

2.4 The above list is not exhaustive and, as the understanding of the exact 

nature of these descriptions may vary, should only be treated as 

indicative. Ultimately, decisions to licence premises as sexual 

entertainment venues shall depend on the content of the entertainment 

provided and not the name it is given.  

Page 449



 

 8

 

2.5 For the purposes of these provisions a premises includes any vessel, 

vehicle or stall but does not include a private dwelling to which the 

public are not admitted.  

 
Nudity 
 

2.6 It is important to note that although the definition of relevant 

entertainment makes reference to a ‘live display of nudity’, the mere 

fact that there is a display of nudity does not mean that a sex 

establishment licence will necessarily be required.  For example, if the 

display forms part of a drama or dance performance in a theatre, in 

most cases it cannot reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or 

principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the 

audience.   

 

2.7 Paragraph 2A(14) of Schedule 3 sets out the definition of a ‘display of 

nudity’. In the case of a woman, it means exposure of her nipples, 

pubic area, genitals or anus and, in the case of a man; it means 

exposure of his pubic area, genitals or anus.  

 

The Organiser 
 
2.8 The relevant entertainment must be provided for the financial gain of 

the ‘organiser’ or ‘entertainer’.  The ‘organiser’ means any person who 

is responsible for the organisation or management of the relevant 

entertainment or the premises at which the relevant entertainment is 

provided. In most circumstances, this will refer to the manager of the 

premises, but could also refer someone who is responsible for 

organising the relevant entertainment on behalf of the persons 

responsible for the management of the premises.  

 

2.9 The ‘organiser’ must be someone who is in a position of responsibility 

over the provision of the relevant entertainment and should not be 

interpreted to mean a member of staff who is merely employed to work 

during the provision of relevant entertainment. It is only necessary for 
Page 450



 

 9

one person to hold a sexual entertainment venue licence for premises, 

even if there is more than one person who is responsible for the 

organisation or management of the relevant entertainment or the 

premises.  

 
Spontaneous Entertainment 
 

2.10 Where activities that would otherwise be considered to involve the 

provision of relevant entertainment take place, but are not provided for 

the financial gain of the organiser or entertainer, such as a 

spontaneous display of nudity or a lap dance by a customer or guest, 

the premises will not be considered a sexual entertainment venue by 

virtue of those circumstances alone. This is because the relevant 

entertainment must be provided for the financial gain of the organiser 

or entertainer.  However, it should be noted that an organiser may be 

considered to have provided the entertainment where he has permitted 

the activity to take place, whether expressly or impliedly.  

 
Premises that are not sexual entertainment venues 
 
2.11 Paragraph 2A(3) of Schedule 3 sets out those premises that are not 

sexual entertainment venues. These are: 

• sex shops and sex cinemas (which are separately defined in 

Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act); 

• premises which provide relevant entertainment on an infrequent 

basis. These are defined as premises where- 

a) no relevant entertainment has been provided on more than 11 

occasions within a 12 month period; 

b) no such occasion has begun within a period of one month 

beginning with the end of the previous occasions; and  

c) no such occasion has lasted longer than 24 hours.  

• other premises or types of performances or displays exempted by 

an order of the Secretary of State.    

 

2.12 Premises which provide relevant entertainment on an infrequent basis 

will continue to be regulated under the 2003 Act, insofar as they are 
Page 451



 

 10

providing regulated entertainment under that Act, either by virtue of a 

premises licence or club premises certificate issued under Part 3 or 

Part 4 or a temporary events notice issued under Part 5 of that Act. 

Any premises that provide relevant entertainment on more occasions, 

more frequently or for a longer period of time than is permitted under 

the exemption will be operating as a sexual entertainment venue and 

will have committed an offence under Schedule 3 unless they hold a 

sexual entertainment venue licence or the local authority has waived 

the requirement for such a licence.  

 

Amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 
 
2.13 Schedule 7 to the 2009 Act amends the 2003 Act to ensure that 

premises for which a sexual entertainment venue licence is required or 

held (or for which the requirement has been waived under paragraph 7 

of Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act) do not also require a premises licence, 

club premises certificate or temporary events notice in order to provide 

relevant entertainment.  This is because such entertainment is 

expressly excluded from the definition of regulated entertainment found 

in the 2003 Act.  However, if the premises also carry on other 

licensable activities (e.g. the sale of alcohol or the provision of 

regulated entertainment that is not relevant entertainment), they will 

nevertheless continue to require a premises licence, club premises 

certificate or temporary events notice under the 2003 Act for those 

other activities, subject to any exceptions contained in that Act.   

 

2.14 In practice, this will mean that the vast majority of lap dancing clubs 

and similar venues will require both a sexual entertainment venue 

licence for the provision of relevant entertainment and a premises 

licence or club premises certificate for the sale of alcohol or provision 

of other types of regulated entertainment not covered by the definition 

of relevant entertainment.  

 

2.15 Live music or the playing of recorded music which is integral to the 

provision of relevant entertainment, such as lap dancing, for which a 

sexual entertainment licence is required, is specifically excluded from 
Page 452



 

 11

the definition of regulated entertainment in the 2003 Act. Therefore, a 

sexual entertainment venue will not require a premises licence or club 

premises certificate just because it plays recorded music for a 

performer to dance to. (Nor will providing entertainment facilities for the 

purposes of the provision of relevant entertainment be regulated 

entertainment under the 2003 Act).   

 

2.16 Premises which fall under the exemption created for infrequent 

entertainment do not require a sexual entertainment venue licence but 

will instead need an appropriate authorisation under the 2003 Act, for 

example, to cover the performance of dance. The exemption from 

requirements of the 2003 Act for live music or the playing of recorded 

music which is integral to relevant entertainment does not apply to 

such venues.  

 

Consultation with Local People 
 
2.17 If a local authority has not made a resolution to adopt the provisions 

introduced by section 27 within one year of it coming into force it must, 

as soon as is reasonably practicable, consult local people about 

whether they should make such a resolution.  

 

2.18 The purpose of this duty is to ensure that local authorities consider the 

views of local people where, for whatever reason, they have not 

adopted the provisions.  

 

2.19 This duty should be seen to be an extension to existing general duties 

on local authorities to consult and involve local people when exercising 

their functions. 

 

2.20 The 2009 Act is not prescriptive about how local authorities should 

consult with local people in order to comply with this duty. Local 

authorities have extensive experience of engaging with local people 

and will know what works best in their individual areas.   Clearly, the 

Secretary of State expects that any consultation exercise carried out 

under this duty will be fair and meaningful. Local authorities should 
Page 453



 

 12

seek to make any relevant information available to local people in order 

to inform their understanding and publish the outcomes of the 

consultation on the internet.  

 

2.21 In practice, local authorities may decide to consult local people on this 

matter when they consult and involve local people on broader local 

priorities and crime and disorder or anti-social behaviour priorities as 

part of their work to develop Local Area Agreements/Local Delivery 

Agreements and crime and disorder strategies, as required under 

various existing duties, including, section 138 of the Local Government 

and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and regulation 12 of the 

Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) 

Regulations 2007. This will ensure that consultations are not onerous 

and form part of the ongoing engagement with local communities 

undertaken by all local authorities.  

 

2.22 For the purposes of this duty ‘local people’ are defined as anyone who 

lives or works in the local authority area.  

 

Page 454



 

 13

                                                

SCHEDULE 3 TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1982 
 
The Appropriate Authority 
 
3.1 The appropriate authority is responsible for determining applications for 

sex establishment licences.  For the purposes of the 1982 Act 

’appropriate authority’ means the local authority which passed a 

resolution under section 2 of that Act to adopt Schedule 3 in their area. 

‘Local authority’ means— 

(a) the council of a district (including a unitary County Council) or, in 

Wales, the principal council1; 

(b) the council of a London borough; and 

(c) the Common Council of the City of London. 

 

Committee or Sub-Committee 
 
3.2 Functions under Schedule 3 are the responsibility of the full council of 

the appropriate authority, as defined above. Under section 101 of the 

Local Government Act 1972, local authorities may arrange for the 

discharge of these responsibilities by a committee or sub-committee of 

the appropriate authority.  

 

3.3 An authority may delegate its functions to those who sit on its licensing 

committee set up to discharge licensing functions under the 2003 Act.  

However, when dealing with an application for a sex establishment 

licence, the members of the committee would not be acting as the 

licensing committee under the 2003 Act and would instead be 

exercising their functions under Schedule 3.  

 
 
 
 

 
1 See section 2 of the 1982 Act.  Section 17 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 
provides that legislative references to district councils are to be interpreted as references to 
principal councils in Wales.  Unitary County Councils have all the functions and powers of 
district councils.  

Page 455



 

 14

                                                

Adopting the Provisions 
 

3.4 Section 27 comes into force on 6th April 2010 in England and 8th May in 

Wales2. On or following this date local authorities may resolve to adopt 

Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act as amended by the 2009 Act so that it has 

effect in their area.   

 

3.5 Although many local authorities will have already adopted Schedule 3 

to the 1982 Act for the licensing of sex shops and sex cinemas, a 

further resolution is necessary before the provisions introduced by 

Section 27 will have effect in the local authority area. However, where 

a local authority has not resolved to adopt Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act 

before the coming into force of Section 27, the amendments made to 

Schedule 3 by section 27 will apply automatically if a resolution to 

adopt Schedule 3 is made subsequently (see Schedule 3 to the 2009 

Act). 

 

3.6 The procedure for local authorities to adopt Schedule 3 as amended by 

section 27 is set out is section 2 of the 1982 Act. Firstly, the local 

authority must pass a resolution specifying that Schedule 3 or, in the 

case of an authority where Schedule 3 is already in force, the 

amendments made by section 27 to that Schedule, shall apply to their 

area and the day on which it or they shall come into force in the area. 

The specified day must be more than one month after the day on which 

the resolution was passed.     

 

3.7 The local authority shall publish notice that they have passed a 

resolution under section 2 of the 1982 Act or (in cases where Schedule 

3 is already in force but the local authority is adopting the amendments 

made by section 27) paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 3 to the 2009 Act for 

two consecutive weeks in a local newspaper that is circulated in their 

area. The first publication shall not be later than 28 days before the day 

specified in the resolution for the provisions to come into force in the 

 
2 Section 27 (11) was brought into force on 2nd March 2010 but only for the purpose of 
making the transitional orders. 

Page 456



 

 15

local authority’s area. The notice should state the general effect of 

Schedule 3. 

 

3.8 While there is no statutory duty to do so, prior to deciding whether to 

pass a resolution, local authorities may, as a matter of good practice, 

wish to seek the views of local people and businesses. The Secretary 

of State also encourages local authorities to engage with known sexual 

entertainment venues at the earliest possible opportunity once a 

decision to adopt the provisions has been made, to ensure affected 

businesses are aware of what action they will need to take in order to 

comply with the new regime.  

 

Requirement for a Sex Establishment Licence   
 
3.9 Any person wishing to operate a sex establishment as defined by 

Schedule 3 requires a sex establishment licence, unless the 

requirement for a licence has been waived by the appropriate authority.  

 

3.10 An applicant can apply for a waiver either as part of the application for 

a licence or separately. The local authority can grant a waiver if they 

consider that to require a licence would be unreasonable or 

inappropriate. Where a waiver is granted the appropriate authority 

should inform the applicant that a waiver has been granted. The waiver 

may last for such a period that the appropriate authority think fit, but 

can be terminated by the appropriate authority at any time with 28 days 

notice. 

 
Premises that are deemed to be Sexual Entertainment Venues 
 
3.11 Paragraph 27A of Schedule 3 deems premises with licences to operate 

as sexual entertainment venues to be sexual entertainment venues 

whilst their licence remains in force, irrespective of how frequently they 

are or have been providing relevant entertainment. This remains the 

case even if premises operate within the exemption for infrequent 

events. 

 
Page 457



 

 16

3.12 If an operator with a sexual entertainment venue licence is operating 

within the exemption for infrequent events and no longer wants their 

premises to be treated as a sexual entertainment venue (e.g. because 

they are no longer operating as a lap dancing club) they may write to 

the relevant local authority to request that their licence be cancelled.  

Upon receiving such a request from a licence-holder a local authority 

must cancel the licence in question. 

 
Notices 
 

3.13 Applicants for a sex establishment licence must give public notice of 

the application by publishing an advertisement in a local newspaper 

that is circulated in the local authority area no later than 7 days after 

the date the application is made.  

 

3.14 Where the application relates to premises, a notice should also be 

displayed on or near the premises in a place where it can be 

conveniently read by members of the public. The notice should be 

displayed for a period of 21 day beginning with the date the 

applications was made.  

 

3.15 All notices should be in the form prescribed by the appropriate authority 

and identify the premises or, if the application relates to a vehicle, 

vessel or stall, specify where it will be used as a sex establishment.      

 
3.16 There are similar notification requirements for applications made under 

the 2003 Act. Where an applicant is making an application under both 

Schedule 3 and the 2003 Act at the same time they may wish to 

combine these requirements where permitted. 
 
Application Forms 
 
3.17 Unlike the 2003 Act there is no prescribed application form for an 

application made under Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act. However, the 

application must be in writing and contain the details set out in 

paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 along with such other details as the 
Page 458



 

 17

appropriate authority may reasonably require. Local authorities must 

provide for applications to be made electronically and may produce and 

publish recommended application forms for sex establishment licences 

setting out all the details required.  

 
Single Point of Contact 
 

3.18 Following amendments to sub-paragraph 10(14) made by the Provision 

of Services Regulations 2009, where an application for the grant, 

renewal or transfer of a licence is made by means of a relevant 

electronic facility it will be the responsibility of the appropriate authority 

to send a copy of an application to the chief officer of police, not later 

than 7 days after the date the application is received.  

 

3.19 Where an application is made by any other means the responsibility to 

send a copy of the application to the chief officer of police within 7 days 

of the application being made will remain the responsibility of the 

applicant.  

 

3.20 For the purpose of Schedule 3 a relevant electronic facility means the 

electronic assistance facility referred to in regulation 38 of the Provision 

of Services Regulations 2009 or any facility established and maintained 

by the appropriate authority for the purpose of receiving applications 

under this Schedule electronically. 

 
Fees 
 

3.21 Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act states that an application for the grant, 

renewal, variations or transfer of a sex establishment licence shall pay 

a reasonable fee determined by the appropriate authorities, but does 

not expand on what would be considered to be reasonable.                                               

 

3.22 However, local authorities should have regard to the following 

documents when determining their fee: The European Services 

Page 459



 

 18

                                                

Directive: Guidance for Local Authorities3 and LACORS Guidance on 

the impact of the Services Directive on councils setting and 

administering local licence fees within the service sector.4

 

Objections 
 

3.23 When considering an application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a 

licence the appropriate authority should have regard to any 

observations submitted to it by the chief officer of police and any 

objections that they have received from anyone else within 28 of the 

application. Any person can object to an application but the objection 

should be relevant to the grounds set out in paragraph 12 for refusing a 

licence. Objections should not be based on moral grounds/values5 and 

local authorities should not consider objections that are not relevant to 

the grounds set out in paragraph 12. Objectors must give notice of their 

objection in writing, stating the general terms of the objection.  

 

3.24 Where the appropriate authority receives notice of any objection the 

authority shall, before considering the application, give notice in writing 

of the general terms of the objection to the applicant. However, the 

appropriate authority shall not without the consent of the person 

making the objection reveal their name or address to the applicant. 

 
Hearings  
 
3.25 Under paragraph 10(19) of Schedule 3, before refusing an application, 

all applicants should be given the opportunity to appear before and be 

heard by the local authority committee or sub-committee that is 

responsible for determining the application.  

 

3.26 Schedule 3 does not make explicit provision for objectors to be heard, 

but this does not mean that such hearings cannot take place. Rather, 

case law on this matter states that while local authorities are under no 

 
3 http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file50026.pdf  
4 www.lacors.gov.uk
5 R v Newcastle upon Tyne City Council ex parte The Christian Institute [2001] B.L.G.R. 165 

Page 460

http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file50026.pdf
http://www.lacors.gov.uk/


 

 19

                                                

obligation to offer an oral hearing to objectors, they may do so at their 

discretion. Although a local authority is under a duty to consider any 

objections made within 28 days of the application, it has discretion to 

hear later objections provided the applicant is given the opportunity to 

deal with those objections.6

 
Refusal of a Licence 
 
3.27 Paragraph 12 of Schedule 3 sets out the grounds for refusing an 

application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence.  

 

A licence must not be granted:  

(a)    to a person under the age of 18; 

(b)    to a person who is for the time being disqualified due to the 

person having had a previous licence revoked in the area of the 

appropriate authority within the last 12 months; 

(c)    to a person, other than a body corporate, who is not resident in an 

EEA State or was not so resident throughout the period of six 

months immediately preceding the date when the application was 

made; or 

(d)    to a body corporate which is not incorporated in an EEA State; or 

(e)    to a person who has, within a period of 12 months immediately 

preceding the date when the application was made, been refused 

the grant or renewal of a licence for the premises, vehicle, vessel 

or stall in respect of which the application is made, unless the 

refusal has been reversed on appeal. 

 

3.28 A licence may be refused where: 

(a)    the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of having 

been convicted of an offence or for any other reason; 

(b)    if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the 

business to which it relates would be managed by or carried on for 

the benefit of a person, other than the applicant, who would be 

refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a licence if he made 

the application himself; 
 

6 R v Plymouth City Council v Quietlynn [1998] Q.B. 114.  
Page 461



 

 20

                                                

(c)    the number of sex establishments, or of sex establishments of a 

particular kind, in the relevant locality at the time the application is 

determined is equal to or exceeds the number which the authority 

consider is appropriate for that locality; 

(d)    that the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, 

having regard— 

(i)     to the character of the relevant locality; or 

(ii)    to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or 

(iii)   to the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, 

vessel or stall in respect of which the application is made. 

 

3.29 A decision to refuse a licence must be relevant to one or more of the 

above grounds.  

 

3.30 When determining a licence application, the local authority must have 

regard to any rights the applicant may have under Article 10 (right to 

freedom of expression) and Article 1, Protocol 1 (protection of property) 

of the European Convention on Human Rights.7  

 

3.31 The Provision of Services Regulations 20098 amended Schedule 3 to 

the 1982 Act to state that, if having considered an application for the 

grant, renewal or transfer of a licence, the appropriate authority 

decides to refuse it on one or more of the above grounds, it must 

provide the applicant with reasons for the decision in writing. 

 

Relevant Locality  
 
3.32 Paragraph 12(3)(c) and 12(3)(d) of Schedule 3 allow appropriate 

authorities to refuse applications on grounds related to an assessment 

of the “relevant locality”. A licence can be refused if either, at the time 

the application is determined the number of sex establishments, or sex 

establishments of a particular kind, in the relevant locality is equal to or 

exceeds the number that the authority considers appropriate for that 

locality; or that a sex establishment would be inappropriate having 

 
7 Belfast City Council v Miss Behavin’ Ltd (Northern Ireland) (2007) [2007] UKHL 19 
8 Regulation 47 

Page 462



 

 21

                                                

regard to the character of the relevant locality, the use to which any 

premises in the vicinity are put or the layout, character or condition of 

the premises.  Nil may be the appropriate number. 

 

3.33 Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act does not define “relevant locality” further 

than to say that: 

(a)    in relation to premises, it is the locality where they are situated; 

and 

(b)    in relation to a vehicle, vessel or stall, any locality where it is 

desired to use it as a sex establishment. 

 

3.34 Clearly, the decision regarding what constitutes the ‘relevant locality’ is 

a matter for the appropriate authority.  However, such questions must 

be decided on the facts of the individual application.9  

 

3.35 Therefore, it is reasonable and potentially useful to future applicants, 

for a local authority to decide in advance of receiving any applications 

that certain areas are, or are not, appropriate locations for a sex 

establishment or a particular number of sex establishments. 

Nevertheless, all applications must be considered on their individual 

merits. 

 

3.36 When considering a particular application case law has indicated that 

the relevant locality does not have to be a clearly pre-defined area nor 

are local authorities required to be able to define its precise 

boundaries. Therefore, while a local authority is not prevented from 

defining the exact area of the relevant locality, it is equally free to 

conclude that it simply refers to the area which surrounds the premises 

specified in the application and does not require further definition. 

Nevertheless a local authority’s view of what constitutes a locality could 

be open to challenge if they took a completely unreasonable view of 

the area covered, for example, by concluding that two sex 

establishments 200 miles away from one another were in the same 

 
9 See R v Peterborough City Council ex parte Quietlynn 85 L.G.R. 249 for further guidance.  

Page 463



 

 22

                                                

locality. Case law also indicates that a relevant locality cannot be an 

entire local authority area or an entire town or city.10      

 

3.37 Once the appropriate authority has determined the relevant locality, it 

should seek to make an assessment of the ‘character’ of the relevant 

locality and how many, if any, sex establishments, or sex 

establishments of a particular kind, it considers appropriate for that 

relevant locality. 

 

3.38 Section 27 amends paragraph 12(3)(c) of Schedule 3 to allow local 

authorities to determine an appropriate number of sex establishments 

of a particular kind. In practice, this means that the appropriate 

authority may, for example, decide that a particular locality is suitable 

for a sex shop but is not suitable for a sexual entertainment venue or 

vice versa.  

 
Licence Conditions 
 
3.39 Once the appropriate authority has decided to grant a licence they are 

able to impose terms, conditions and restrictions on that licence, either 

in the form of conditions specific to the individual licence under 

paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 or standard conditions applicable to all sex 

establishments, or particular types of sex establishments, prescribed 

by regulations made by the appropriate authority under paragraph 13 

of Schedule 3.  

 

3.40 Paragraph 13 provides examples of the matters that standard 

conditions may address which include but are not restricted to: 

• The hours of opening and closing 

• Displays and advertisements on or in sex establishments 

• The visibility of the interior of a sex establishment to passers-by 

• Any change of use from one kind of sex establishment to another 

 

 
10 R v Peterborough City Council ex parte Quietlynn 85 L.G.R. 249  

Page 464



 

 23

3.41 Where the appropriate authority decides to produce standard 

conditions under paragraph 13 they will apply to every licence granted, 

renewed or transferred by the authority unless they have been 

expressly excluded or varied.   

 
3.42 Most sexual entertainment venues will require a 2003 Act licence as 

well as a sex establishment licence. Where this is the case, local 

authorities should avoid duplicating licence conditions and should 

ensure that conditions imposed on the each licence are relevant to the 

activities authorised by that licence. For example, conditions relating to 

the sale of alcohol should only appear on a premises licences or clubs 

premises certificate and should not be imposed on sexual 

entertainment venue licence. Likewise, conditions relating the 

provisions of relevant entertainment should appear on the sexual 

entertainment venue licence and not a premises licence or club 

premises certificate. Local authorities should also avoid imposing 

conditions on either licence that are contradictory.  
 
Duration of Licences 
 
3.43 Licences for sex establishments can be granted for up to one year.  

 
Appeals 
 
3.44 In the event that the appropriate authority refuses an application for the 

grant, renewal or transfer of a sex establishment licence the applicant 

may appeal the decision in a magistrates’ court, unless the application 

was refused under 12(3)(c) or (d), in which  case the applicant can only 

challenge the refusal by way of judicial review.     

 
Licensing Policies 
 
3.45 While local authorities are not required to publish a licensing policy 

relating to sex establishments they can do so if they wish as long as it 

Page 465



 

 24

                                                

does not prevent any individual application from being considered on 

its merits at the time the application is made.11  

 

3.46 A licensing policy for sex establishments might include statements 

about where local authorities are likely to consider to be appropriate or 

inappropriate locations for such venues. This could be set out in 

general terms by reference to a particular type of premises, such as a 

school or place of worship, or more specifically, by reference to a 

defined locality. 

 

3.47 Local authorities could also use a licensing policy to indicate how many 

sex establishments, or sex establishments of a particular kind, they 

consider to be appropriate for a particular locality.  

 

3.48 Local authorities can also produce different policies or a separate set of 

criteria for different types of sex establishments. This might be 

appropriate to reflect distinctions between the operating requirements 

of different sex establishments or the fact that the location that a local 

authority considers appropriate for a sex shop may be different to that 

of a sexual entertainment venue.    

 
Offences 
 

3.49 The offences under Schedule 3 are set out in paragraphs 20 to 23 of 

that Schedule and include:  

• knowingly causing or permitting the use of any premises as a sex 

establishment without a licence;  

• being the holder of a licence, knowingly employing a person in a 

sex establishment who is disqualified from holding a licence;  

• being the holder of a licence, knowingly contravenes, or without 

reasonable excuse knowingly permits the contravention of, a term, 

condition or restriction specified in a licence;   

• being the servant or agent of the holder of a licence, without 

reasonable excuse knowingly contravenes, or without reasonable 

 
11 R v Peterborough City Council ex parte Quietlynn Ltd (1986) 85 LGR 249    

Page 466



 

 25

excuse knowingly permits the contravention of, a term, condition or 

restriction specified in a licence; 

• being the holder of a licence, without reasonable excuse knowingly 

permits a person under the age of 18 to enter the establishment  

• being the holder of a licence, employs a person known to them to 

be under 18 years of age in the business of the establishment. 

 

3.50 A person guilty of any of the above offences is liable on summary 

conviction to a fine not exceeding £20,000.  

 

3.51 It is also an offence for the holder of a licence, without reasonable 

excuse to fail to exhibit a copy of the licence and any standard 

conditions applicable to the licence in a suitable place as specified in 

the licence. A person guilty to this offence shall be liable on summary 

conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.  

 

Provisions Relating to Existing Premises 
 
3.52 Where a local authority resolves that Schedule 3 apply in their area 

having not previously made such a resolution, paragraphs 28 and 29 

will have effect for the purpose of sex shop, sex cinemas and hostess 

bars, but will not have effect for the purpose of sexual entertainment 

venues. The transitional provisions relating to sexual entertainment 

venues are explained in part 4 of this guidance. 

 
The Services Directive 
 
3.53 Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act constitutes an authorisation scheme under 

Article 9 of the EU Services Directive 2006/123/EC (“the Directive”) 

which was implemented in the UK by the Provision of Services 

Regulations 2009 (“2009 Regulations”), which came into force on 28th 

December 2009. Local authorities must ensure they comply with the 

Regulations when applying the licensing provisions in Schedule 3.  

 

3.54 The Department of Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) has produced 

guidance for both businesses and local authorities to assist in 
Page 467



 

 26

understanding the impact of the Directive and 2009 Regulations and 

what service providers and relevant authorities must do in order to 

comply. Both guidance documents can be found on the BIS website: 

http://www.berr.gov.uk/whatwedo/europeandtrade/europe/services-

directive/page9583.html    

 

3.55 In particular, the 2009 Regulations may affect the way in which local 

authorities set application fees, process applications and grant 

licences.   

Page 468

http://www.berr.gov.uk/whatwedo/europeandtrade/europe/services-directive/page9583.html
http://www.berr.gov.uk/whatwedo/europeandtrade/europe/services-directive/page9583.html


 

 27

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 
 
4.1 This section provides guidance on the transitional provisions as set out 

in the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (Commencement No.1, and 

Transitional and Saving Provisions)(England) Order 2010 (“the 

Transitional Order”) and the Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(Consequential Provisions)(England) Order 2010 (“the Consequential 

Order”) and the equivalent orders made by Welsh Ministers for Wales.   

 
Transitional Period  
 

4.2 The ‘transitional period’ will last for 12-months beginning with the date 

that the local authority resolves that Schedule 3 as amended by the 

2009 Act will come into force in their area (‘the 1st appointed day’). Six 

months following the 1st appointed day will be known as the ‘2nd 

appointed day’ and the day on which the transitional period ends will be 

known as the ‘3rd appointed day’.  

 

4.3 The appointed days will vary across local authority areas depending on 

when individual local authorities resolve that the provisions will come 

into force in their area.   

 
Existing Operators 
 

4.4 To allow time to comply with the new regime, existing operators, who, 

immediately before the 1st appointed day, have a 2003 Act licence and 

lawfully use premises as a sexual entertainment venue under that 

licence or are undertaking preparatory work to use the venue in that 

way will be allowed to continue to provide relevant entertainment until 

the 3rd appointed day or the determination of any application they have 

submitted before that time (including any appeal against the refusal to 

grant a licence), whichever is later. 

 

 

 

 
Page 469



 

 28

4.5 “Preparatory work” refers to work carried out by an operator, such as a 

refurbishment or refit, in order that they can use the premises as a 

sexual entertainment venue in the future. The operator will have been 

granted a 2003 Act licence before the 1st appointed day but will not 

have used the premises as a sexual entertainment venue by that date.  

It is likely that such operators will be known to a local authority. 

However, where a dispute arises between a local authority and an 

licence-holder over whether the licence-holder qualifies as an existing 

operator by virtue of this provision the local authority will need to seek 

evidence from the licence-holder to demonstrate that they clearly 

intended to operate a sexual entertainment venue in the future and 

work had been done to achieve this end.  

 

4.6 For the purposes of the Transitional Order a “2003 Act Licence” means 

a premises licence or club premises certificate under which it is lawful 

to provide relevant entertainment. 

 

New Applicants 
 
4.7 New applicants are people who wish to use premises as a sexual 

entertainment venue after the 1st appointed day but do not already 

have a premises licence or club premises certificate to operate as such 

under the 2003 Act or do have such a licence but have not taken any 

steps towards operating as such. After the 1st appointed day new 

applicants will not be able to operate as a sexual entertainment venue 

until they have been granted a sexual entertainment venue licence.  

 
Determining Applications Received On or Before the 2nd Appointed Day 
 
4.8 Applicants will be able to submit their application for a sexual 

entertainment venue from the 1st appointed day onwards. 

 

 

 

 

Page 470



 

 29

4.9 As the appropriate authority is able to refuse applications having regard 

to the number of sex establishment they consider appropriate for a 

particular locality, all applications made on or after the 1st appointed 

day but on or before the 2nd appointed day shall be considered 

together. This will ensure that applicants are given sufficient time to 

submit their application and all applications received on or before the 

2nd appointed day are considered on their individual merit and not on a 

first come first serve basis.   

 

4.10 No applications shall be determined before the 2nd appointed day.  

After the 2nd appointed day the appropriate authority shall decide what 

if any licences should be granted. If a new applicant is granted a 

licence it will take effect immediately. If an existing operator is granted 

a licence, it will not take effect until the 3rd appointed day, up to which 

point they will be allowed to continue to operate under their existing 

premises licence or club premises certificate. 

 

Determining Applications Received After the 2nd Appointed Day 
 

4.11 Applications made after the 2nd appointed day shall be considered 

when they are made but only once all applications made on or before 

that date have been determined. However, reference to determination 

here does not include references to the determination of any appeal 

against the refusal of a licence.     

 

4.12 As with applications received on or before the 2nd appointed day, 

licences granted to new applicants shall take effect immediately and 

licences granted to existing operators shall take effect from the 3rd 

appointed day or, if later, the date the application is determined. 

 

Outstanding Applications  
 

4.13 Local authorities should attempt where possible to determine 

outstanding applications made under the 2003 Act, which include an 

application for the provision of relevant entertainment, before the date 

Page 471



 

 30

that Schedule 3 as amended by the 2009 Act comes into force in their 

area.  

 

4.14 Where it has not been possible to determine application before the 1st 

appointed day, local authorities should advise applicants that they will 

need to submit an application for a sex establishment licence as set out 

in Schedule 3 if they wish to provide relevant entertainment. From the 

1st appointed day onwards outstanding applicants shall be dealt with 

as though they are new applicants.  

 
Existing Licence Conditions 
  

4.15 In many cases licences granted under the 2003 Act to existing 

operators will contain conditions that relate expressly and exclusively to 

the provision of relevant entertainment. Such a condition might prohibit 

contact between a performer and customer during a lap dance. In 

these cases, in order to avoid duplication, where conditions on 

premises licences or club premises certificates relate only to the 

provision of relevant entertainment, they shall be read as if they were 

deleted from the 3rd appointed day onwards. 

 

4.16 In cases where conditions on a premises licence or clubs premises 

certificate are inconsistent with, and less onerous than, the conditions 

in the licence granted under the 1982 Act they shall likewise be read as 

though they have been deleted.  

 

4.17 Where a local authority decides to grant a sex establishment licence to 

an existing operator, who is subject to conditions on their existing 

premises licence or club premises certificate that relate expressly to 

the provision of relevant entertainment, they may wish to replicate the 

existing conditions on the new sex establishment licence if they believe 

that the existing conditions are sufficient. However, they could equally 

decide to impose new conditions consistent with Schedule 3 if they 

believe that new or additional conditions are necessary.  

 

Page 472



 

 31

                                                

4.18 Although the Transitional Order does not require redundant conditions 

to be physically removed from a premises licence or club premises 

certificate, operators and local authorities may agree that this is 

desirable in order to clarify the operator’s legal obligations. Such 

changes can be made via the minor variations procedure under section 

41A of the 2003 Act. 

 

ECHR Considerations 
 
4.19 The Transitional Order allows local authorities to refuse applications, 

whether they are from existing operators or new applicants, on one or 

more grounds set out in paragraph 12 of Schedule 3.  When making 

such decisions, local authorities must take into account any rights the 

existing operators may have under Article 1, Protocol 1 of the 

European Convention on Human Rights (which entitles every person to 

the peaceful enjoyment of their possessions) and Article 10 (freedom of 

expression).   

 

4.20  In light of the leading case of Belfast City Council v Miss Behavin’ Ltd 

(Northern Ireland)12 it would be prudent for local authorities to assume 

that freedom of expression includes the right to use particular premises 

as sexual entertainment venues and that a person who is denied the 

right to use his premises as a sexual entertainment venue where he 

already has a licence to do so under the 2003 Act (or in future under 

the 1982 Act) has been deprived of possessions.  (Some Lords did not 

decide this point or disagreed that such rights were engaged and 

therefore it would still be open to local authorities to argue that such 

rights were not engaged in a particular case).  However, in any event, 

the House of Lords were agreed that such rights would only be 

engaged at a low level.  This led Lord Hoffman to say that if the local 

authority exercises its powers rationally and in accordance with the 

purposes of the statutory provisions, it would require very unusual facts 

for it to amount to a disproportionate restriction on Convention rights.  

 

 
 

12 [2007] UKHL 19 
Page 473



 

 32

4.21  Nevertheless, local authorities would be well advised to consider 

whether any interference with the applicant’s rights under Article 10 or 

Article 1, Protocol 1 of the European Convention on Human Rights is 

necessary and proportionate for the prevention of disorder or crime, for 

the protection of health or morals or for the protection of the rights and 

freedoms of others or, in the case of Article 1, Protocol 1, can be 

justified in the general interest.   

 

Changes to Licensing Policies  
 
4.22  Many local authorities who have already adopted Schedule 3 will have 

published a licensing policy for sex establishments. Such policies may 

provide a useful guide to potential applicants about whether a particular 

application is likely to be successful or not.  

 

4.23  Upon resolving to adopt the sexual entertainment venue provisions 

introduced by the 2009 Act, local authorities should ensure that their 

licensing policies for sex establishments are up to date and reflect the 

changes introduced by Section 27. This could mean updating existing 

policies or producing a policy specific to regulation of sexual 

entertainment venues.  

 
London  
 
Sex Encounter Establishments 
 

4.24  London local authorities which have adopted Schedule 3 to the 1982 

Act as amended by the Greater London Council (General Powers) Act 

1986 are able to regulate sex encounter establishments. However, 

under sub-paragraph 3A(i) premises that hold a premises licence or 

club premises certificate for the provision of regulated entertainment or 

late night refreshment are not regarded as sex encounter 

establishments. This means that, in practice, there are very few, if any, 

premises that are licensed as sex encounter establishments. 

 

Page 474



 

 33

4.25  Therefore, the transitional provisions set out that where a local 

authority, which has previously adopted provisions to regulate sex 

encounter establishments, passes a resolution to adopt Schedule 3, as 

amended by section 27, the existing sex encounter establishment 

category will be replaced by the new sexual entertainment venue 

category.  

 

4.26  In these circumstances, an existing sex encounter establishment 

licence will be treated as though it had been granted under the new 

sexual entertainment venue regime with any terms, conditions and 

restrictions carried over.  

 

Hostess Bars 
 
4.27  The hostess bar category of sex establishment, as introduced by 

section 33 of the London Local Authorities Act 2007, is largely 

unaffected by the 2009 Act provisions.  

 

4.28  In cases where a London local authority has already resolved that the 

hostess bar category has effect in their area, they will be able to retain 

this category after the amendments made by the 2009 Act have been 

adopted and the sex encounter establishment category has been 

repealed, subject to the amendments made to Schedule 3 by the 2009 

Act.   Where London local authorities have not adopted the sexual 

entertainment venue provisions, it will still be open for them to resolve 

to adopt the hostess bar category after the 2009 Act provisions have 

been adopted without having to adopt the sex encounter establishment 

category.  

  
Soliciting for Custom 
 
4.29  Under Section 22 of the London Local Authorities Act 2004, as 

amended by Section 72 of the London Local Authorities Act 2007, it is 

an offence in London to solicit for custom for a sex establishment. 

However, paragraph 2A provides a defence if the premises concerned 

are licensed under Part 3 of the 2003 Act. 
Page 475



 

 34

 

4.30  When a London local authority resolves to adopt the provisions 

introduced by Section 27, it will be a defence if the premises are 

licensed as a sexual entertainment venue under Schedule 3 of the 

1982 Act or are operating lawfully under a 2003 Act licence during the 

transitional period at the time of the alleged offence.   

 

Page 476



 

 35

ANNEX A: GUIDE TO TRANSITIONAL PERIOD AND EXISTING 
OPERATORS  
 

Yes

Yes

No  
 

SEV licence not 
required  

 

Has the local 
authority adopted 
powers to regulate 
SEVs? (Contact 
local authority if 

uncertain) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No

No

Yes 

Yes

Yes No

No

Yes No

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appointed Days 
 
1st Appointed Day 
The day on which the SEV regime 
comes into force in a local 
authority area and the beginning of 
the transitional period 
 
2nd Appointed Day 
The day 6 months after the 1st 
appointed day 
 
3rd Appointed Day 
The day 6 months after the 2nd 
appointed day and the end of the 
transitional period 
 
NB: If you are uncertain as to what 
dates the appointed days will fall 
please contact your local authority.  

SEV licence not 
required or see 
guide for new 

applicants if you 
want to operate an 

SEV 

Are you an 
existing operator? 
(See guidance or 

contact local 
authority if 
uncertain) 

 

 
Allowed to operate 
as a SEV until the 
3rd appointed day 

under existing 
authorisation  

 
Do you want to 
operate a SEV 
after the 3rd 

appointed day? 
 

Have you 
submitted a SEV 
application on or 

before the 2nd 
appointed day? 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
All Application 
received on or 

before 2nd 
appointed day 

considered 
together  

Application 
considered once 

applications 
received on or 

before 2nd 
appointed day 

have been 
determined 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Granted? Granted?  
 
 

 
SEV licence takes 

effect on 3rd 
appointed date or 

when granted, 
whichever is later 

 

Can continue to 
operate as an SEV 

until the 3rd 
appointed day or 
the application 
(including any 

appeal) is 
determined, 

whichever is later 

 
SEV licence takes 

effect on 3rd 
appointed date or 

when granted, 
whichever is later 

 
 

Can continue to 
operate as a SEV 

until the 3rd 
appointed date or 

the application 
(including any 

appeal)  is 
determined, 

whichever is later 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 477



 

 36

ANNEX B: GUIDE TO TRANSITIONAL PERIOD AND NEW 
APPLICANTS 
 
 
 

Yes

Yes

No  
 

SEV licence not 
required 

 

Has the local 
authority adopted 
powers to regulate 
SEVs? (Contact 
local authority if 

uncertain) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appointed Days 
 
1st Appointed Day 
The day on which the SEV regime 
comes into force in a local 
authority area and the beginning of 
the transitional period 
 
2nd Appointed Day 
The day 6 months after the 1st 
appointed day 
 
3rd Appointed Day 
The day 6 months after the 2nd 
appointed day and the end of the 
transitional period 
 
NB: If you are uncertain as to what 
dates the appointed days will fall 
please contact your local authority.  

Yes

No

 
 

See guide for 
existing operators 
 

Are you an 
existing operator? 
(See guidance or 

contact local 
authority if 
uncertain) 

 

No  
 

SEV licence not 
required 

 

 
 

Do you want to 
operate an SEV? 

 
Have you 

submitted a SEV 
application on or 

before the 2nd 
appointed day? 

Yes No

 
All Application 
received on or 

before 2nd 
appointed day 

considered 
together  

 

Application 
considered once 

applications 
received on or 

before 2nd 
appointed day 

have been 
determined 

Granted 

Yes No

Granted 

Yes No

 
SEV licence takes 

effect when 
granted 

 

 
Appeal decision or 

reapply for a 
licence 

 

 
SEV licence takes 

effect when 
granted 

 
 

 
Appeal decision or 

reapply for a 
licence 

 

Page 478



Page 479



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G 
 

 

 

 

 

Total Number of Representations 
= 94  
PO1 1 
PO3 1 
PO4 28 
PO5 26 
PO12 2 
Unknown address 36 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

PO1 PO3 PO4 PO5 PO12 Unknown
address

Series1 1 1 28 26 2 36

N
o.

 o
f R

ep
re

se
nt

at
io

ns
 

Geographical spread of representations received 
re Elegance  Granada Road  Southsea 

Page 481



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 483



Page 484



Page 485



P
age 486



P
age 487



P
age 488



P
age 489



P
age 490



P
age 491



P
age 492



P
age 493



P
age 494



P
age 495



P
age 496



P
age 497



P
age 498



P
age 499



Page 500



P
age 501



P
age 502


	Agenda
	3 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 - Licensing of Sex Establishments - Sexual Entertainment Venue - Application for the grant of a licence – Dunglen Ltd - Wiggle 1-3 Surrey Street Portsmouth PO1 1JT
	REPORT TO: LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE – 19 FEBRUARY 2018
	Appendix A - Sex Establishment Policy - Final Version - October 2013 - Approved Conditions
	2.0 Aim of the Policy
	3.0 Introduction
	4.0 Background Information

	Appendix B - Application and Associated documents - Wiggle_Redacted (2)
	Application for SEV - April 2012
	Codes of Conduct
	Staff Welfare policy and Customer code of conduct
	plan and photos of premises
	Wiggle Staff Handbook

	Appendix C - Premises Licence - Wiggle_Redacted cute PDF
	Appendix D - Objections to SEV application_Redacted - Wiggle
	Appendix E - Sexual Entertainment Venues - Guidance from Home Office
	Appendix F - Area Plan - Wiggle
	Appendix G - Geographical Analysis of Representations - Wiggle
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle - Part 1
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 1
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 3
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 4
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 6
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 5
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 7
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 8
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 9
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 10

	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle - Part 2
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 11
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 12
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 14
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 15
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 13
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 16
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 17
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 18
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 18
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 18
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 19
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 20

	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle - Part 3
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 21
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 22
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 24
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 26
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 25
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 27
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 28
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 29

	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle - Part 4
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 31
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 33
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 32
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 34
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 33
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 35
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Wiggle 2


	4 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 - Licensing of Sex Establishments - Sexual Entertainment Venue - Application for the grant of a licence – Wellhot Ltd - Elegance 1 Granada Road Southsea PO4 0RD
	REPORT TO: LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE – 19 FEBRUARY 2018
	Appendix A - Copy of the current sex establishment licence policy
	2.0 Aim of the Policy
	3.0 Introduction
	4.0 Background Information

	Appendix B - Copy of application with associated documents_RedactedcutePDF
	Appendix C - Copy of the current premises licence - LA03_Redacted cute PDF
	Appendix D - Redacted Copies of Objections received Final_RedactedcutePDF
	Appendix E - Sexual Entertainment Venues - Guidance from Home Office
	Appendix F - Area Plan - Elegance
	Appendix G - Geographical Analysis of Representations - Elegance
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance - Part 1
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 1
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 2
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 3
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 5
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 4
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 6
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 7
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 9
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 8
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 10

	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance - Part 2
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 11
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 12
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 13
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 15
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 14
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 16
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 19
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 17
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 18
	Appendix H - Photographs of Premises - Elegance 20





